Copyright by Shaden Taha 2022

The Dissertation Committee for Shaden Taha certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

Assessing Concurrent Use of Opioids and Benzodiazepines Using Urine Drug Test Results

Committee:

Kno, 8

Dr. Yong-Fang Kuo, Supervisor Jacques G. Baillargeon

Dr. Jacques Baillargeon

MukailaRaji

Dr. Mukaila Raji

sar Dr. Eddie Salazar

Dr. Danyel Tacker

Assessing Concurrent Use of Opioids and Benzodiazepines Using Urine Drug Test Results

by

Shaden Taha, MS, MLS (ASCPi)^{CM}

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas Medical Branch in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas Medical Branch

October 10, 2022

Dedication

To my husband, Jaber, who has given me endless love and support over the last 14 years. I began this degree with a 3-month-old baby on my arm and a 2-year old at my feet. Jaber never hesitated to handle extra diapers, doctor's appointments, late-night feedings, and day-time chaos, to help me make it here. A kinder heart does not exist.

To my children, Noah (5) and Selene (3), whose forgiving love has helped me push through difficult times. They have asked whether I am a "fun mom yet" more times than I've questioned my ability to continue but motivated me to keep going. My hope is that even the smallest voids I may have left in their memories will be replaced by inspiration to chase their own dreams one day.

To my parents, who taught me the strength and resilience of the Palestinian struggle, as firstgeneration immigrants from Surda, Palestine. Like many others, they began with nothing and worked hard to build their lives, so my sisters and I could have a strong foundation for ours. Their continued support means everything.

To my younger sisters, Samar, Hadeel and Jenan, who were there through all the highs and lows of the last few years. The impromptu (forced but appreciated) get-togethers left me no choice but to take a break, which certainly helped me keep my sanity. I am grateful for their support, as are Noah and Selene, for going above and beyond with "auntie duties" as well.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the following people who have impacted my ability to complete this dissertation and PhD program:

Dr. Yong-Fang Kuo, who has been patient and accommodating with my ambitious timeline. Her research expertise is incredible, and has helped my goals evolve from solely teaching, to working towards becoming research faculty in the future. She is someone that I truly admire and thank.

Dr. David Lopez, for giving me many opportunities to expand my research experience using survey data and for supporting me in my own research endeavors. He has been a great mentor and role model throughout my time in the program.

Jordan Westra, a biostatistician and fellow student experienced in CDM data, who not only helped me with complex statistical software coding, but also with understanding of the data structure and key components required to set up analyses.

Amber Anthony, Dr. Karl Anderson, and Jennifer Ruiz-Betancourt who were kind and helpful throughout my time in the program.

Finally, I thank all my dissertation committee members, Dr. Danyel Tacker, Dr. Eddie Salazar, Dr. Mukaila Raji and Dr. Jacques Baillargeon, for the time and effort dedicated to helping me complete my dissertation and associated manuscripts.

Assessing Concurrent Use of Opioids and Benzodiazepines Using Urine Drug Test Results

Publication No._____

Shaden Taha

The University of Texas Medical Branch, May 2022

Supervisor: Dr. Yong-Fang Kuo

The purpose of this dissertation was to assess concurrent use of benzodiazepines and opioids, using laboratory results from urine toxicology records. The opioid crisis is an ongoing public health issue that has spanned over two decades. Drug overdose death is now the leading cause of accidental deaths among American adults. Patients who take benzodiazepines and opioids concurrently are at even greater risk of overdose than those taking an opioid alone. Prominent agencies including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Food and Drug Administration and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services strongly recommend against co-prescribing opioids and benzodiazepines when possible, and the use of urine drug testing to mitigate patient risks through monitoring and early intervention. Although there have been studies on co-prescribing rates using prescription data, there is little evidence on the rates of patient drug use using UDT data. This dissertation used large, population-based administrative data to address the following research gaps using patient urine drug test (UDT) results: 1) examine trends in concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use among adult patients and assess whether there was a shift from prescribed to illicit or non-prescribed drug use; 2) determine patient characteristics associated with aberrant UDT results-concurrent use, illicit drug use or non-prescribed use; 3) assess provider response to concurrent use-positive UDT. This research gives an understanding of recent trends and associations with concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use by patients and may inform more targeted public health practice.

Table of Contents	
Title page	
Abstract	6
Table of Contents	7
List of Tables	
List of Figures	
List of Abbreviations	
Chapter 1 Concurrent Use and Assessment of Benzodiazepines and Opioids	
The Opioid Crisis	
Concurrent Use: Opioids and Benzodiazepines	
Opioid-Prescribing Guidelines and Policies	
Trends in Concurrent Use	
Opioid and Benzodiazepine Substitutes	
Urine Drug Testing	
Presumptive testing	
Confirmatory testing	
UDT Policies and Guidelines	
Trends in Urine Drug Testing	
Effectiveness of UDT	
Factors associated with receiving UDT	
Rates and Predictors of Aberrant UDT	
Aberrant UDT Interpretation and Interventions	
Prescriber Response to UDT Results	
Gaps in literature	
Specific Aims	

General Methods	
Data Source	
Definition of Concurrent Use in UDT	
Definition of Aberrant UDT	
Covariates	
Patient Demographics	
Clinical Characteristics	
Drug Dosage and Duration	
Chapter 2: Trends in Co-prescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, Non-prescribed	Opioids and
Benzodiazepines, and Schedule-I Drugs, 2013 to 2019	
Introduction	
Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
Conclusion	
References	
Table 2.1. Joinpoints in Trends and Slopes of Quarterly Concurrent Use, Se	chedule I
Drug Use, and Any Non-prescribed Use, 2013-2019	
Figure 2.1. Panel of Graphs: Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Use, 2	2 013-2019 51
Figure 2.2 Panel of Graphs: Schedule I Drug Use, 2013-2019	
Figure 2.3. Panel of Graphs: Non-prescribed Use of Opioid and/or Benzodia	azepines,
2013-2019	
Chapter 3: Patient Characteristics Associated with Aberrant Urine Drug Test	ts: Co-
prescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, Non-prescribed Opioids and Benzo	diazepines,
and Schedule-I Drugs	
Introduction	

Methods	55
Data and Cohort	55
Outcomes	56
Patient Characteristics	56
Statistical analysis	57
Results	57
Discussion	60
Conclusion	63
References	64
Table 3.1. Selection of Adults within Each Drug Use Cohort in 2018.	69
Table 3.2. Patient Characteristics by Drug Concurrent Use, Schedule-I use, and	
Prescription Misuse	71
Table 3.3. Multivariable Associations of Patient and Drug Characteristics and UDT	-
Positivity in Concurrent Use, Schedule-I Drug Use and Prescription Opioid or	
Benzodiazepine Misuse	75
Figure 3.1. Three-way Venn diagram showing Overlap of Drug Use Outcomes	79
Chapter 4: Prescriber Response to Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Urine Dru	g
Test Results	80
Introduction	80
Methods	81
Results	83
Discussion	86
Conclusion	92
References	93
Table 4.1. Selection of Adults with UDT Positive for Concurrent Use, 2018	99
Table 4.2. Baseline Pre-UDT Patient Characteristics Among the Total Cohort	100

Figure 4.1. Panel of graphs estimating the time to A) the first office visit, B) new non-	
drug treatment, C) Opioid Discontinuation, D) Benzodiazepine Discontinuation, E) no	W
Gabapentin/Pregabalin, or F) new SSRI/SNRI.	102
Figure 4.2. Venn Diagram showing Overlap of Non-Drug Treatment, Opioid Changes	5
and Benzodiazepine Changes	104
Table 4.3. Multivariable Associations of Patient, Drug or Clinical Characteristics and	
Provider Response Outcomes	105
Chapter 5 Conclusions	108
Aim 1: Trends in Concurrent Use, Illicit use and Prescription Misuse	108
Aim 2: Predictors of Concurrent Use, Illicit use and Prescription Misuse	109
Aim 3: Provider Response to Concurrent Use Positivity in UDT	110
Clinical and policy implications	112
Significance	113
Limitations	114
Future research	117
Conclusion	119
References	120
Appendix	135
Appendix Table 1. List of drugs included in opioid, benzodiazepine or schedule I drug	5
UDT	135
Appendix Table 2. CPT and HCPCS codes used for all drug tests related to Schedule	Ι
drugs, opioids and benzodiazepines.	136
Appendix Table 3. Excel Table of LOINC codes for Opioid, Benzodiazepine and	
Schedule I UDT (double-click)	138
Appendix Table 4. CPT/HCPCS and LOINC Urine Drug Test Match rates	139
Appendix Table 5. Cohort Flowchart for Selection of UDTs for Joinpoint Regression Anal	ysis
	140

Appendix Table 6. Associations between concurrent use, illicit use, and on-prescribed use
Appendix Table 7. CPT or ICD-10 codes used to define outcomes
Appendix Table 8. Provider Specialties Associated with Office visits, post-UDT
Appendix Table 9. MME and DME changes between pre- and post-UDT period 146
Curriculum Vitae

List of Tables

Chapter 2

Table 2.1: Joinpoints in Trends and Slopes of Quarterly Concurrent Use, Schedule I Drug Use,and Any Non-prescribed Use, 2013-2019

Chapter 3

Table 3.1. Selection of Adults within Each Drug Use Cohort in 2018.

Table 3.2. Patient Characteristics Patients, by Drug Concurrent Use, Schedule-I use, and

 Prescription Misuse

Table 3.3. Multivariable Associations of Patient and Drug Characteristics and UDT-Positivity in

 Concurrent Use, Schedule-I Drug Use and Prescription Opioid or Benzodiazepine Misuse

Chapter 4

 Table 4.1. Patient Characteristics by Outcome cohort

Table 4.2. Multivariable Hazard Ratios for provider visits, initiating non-drug treatment, new

 Gabapentin/Pregabalin, or new SSRI/SNRI.

Table 4.3. Multivariable Odds Ratios for Changes in Opioid or Benzodiazepine Prescriptions

 (discontinuation and MME change models).

<u>Appendix</u>

Appendix Table 1. List of drugs included in opioid, benzodiazepine or schedule I drug UDT

Appendix Table 2. CPT and HCPCS codes used for all drug tests related to Schedule I drugs, opioids and benzodiazepines.

Appendix Table 3. LOINC codes for Opioid, Benzodiazepine and Schedule I UDT

Appendix Table 4. CPT/HCPCS and LOINC Urine Drug Test Match rates

Appendix Table 5. Cohort Flowchart for Selection of UDTs for Joinpoint Regression Analysis

Appendix Table 6. Associations between Concurrent use, Illicit use, and Non-prescribed use

Appendix Table 7. CPT or ICD-10 codes used to define outcomes

Appendix Table 8. Provider Specialties Associated with Office visits, post-UDT

Appendix Table 9. MME and DME changes between pre- and post-UDT period

List of Figures

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1. Panel of Graphs: Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Use, 2013-2019

Figure 2.2. Panel of graphs: Schedule I Drug Use, 2013-2019

Figure 2.3. Panel of graphs: Non-prescribed Use of Opioid or Benzodiazepines, 2013-2019

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1 Three-way Venn diagram showing Overlap of Drug Use Outcomes

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1. Panel of graphs estimating the time to a) the first office visit, b) new non-drug treatment, c) new Gabapentin/Pregabalin, or d) new SSRI/SNRI, after concurrent use-positive UDT results are observed.

Figure 4.2 Venn Diagram showing Overlap of Non-Drug Treatment, Opioid Changes and Benzodiazepine Changes

List of Abbreviations

CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CMS: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services **CPT:** Current Procedural Terminology FDA: Food and Drug Administration GABA: gamma aminobutyric acid GC/MS: gas chromatography/ mass spectrometry HPLC: high performance liquid chromatography IA: immunoassay ICD: International Classification of Disease LC/MS: liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry LOINC: Logical Observation Identifiers, Names, and Codes MME: morphine milligram equivalents NSAID: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug NSDUH: National Survey on Drug Use and Health OUD: opioid use disorder RFA: radiofrequency ablation SNRI: serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors SSRI: selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors SUD: substance use disorder UDT: urine drug testing VIF: variance inflation factor

Chapter 1 Concurrent Use and Assessment of Benzodiazepines and Opioids

The Opioid Crisis

The opioid crisis is an ongoing public health issue that has spanned over two decades, and cost an estimated \$1.5 trillion from 2001-2020.¹ The surge in opioid-prescribing began during the 1990's when targeted campaigns pushed providers to treat pain relief as a "human right"² and pain as the "fifth vital sign",³ and subsequently contributed to incident opioid misuse, overdose mortality, and heroin use.^{3,4} Other events that led to increased opioid-prescribing include the belief that addiction risks were low with chronic opioid use,⁵ and aggressive marketing by pharmaceutical companies.⁶

Opioids are a class of drugs used to treat moderate to severe pain, and may be categorized as natural, synthetic, or semi-synthetic. These include prescription drugs such as Vicodin (hydrocodone), pharmaceutical fentanyl, and illicit drugs, heroin and illegally manufactured fentanyl. Opioids function by activating chemical changes in the brain to block pain perception, often giving patients a happy or high feeling due to increased dopamine release.⁷ When opioids are used frequently or long-term, this mechanism becomes dysregulated, which desensitizes users and may lead to tolerance, dependence and substance abuse.⁸

Patients on opioids often experience a loss of effectiveness of their baseline dose, after a few weeks, especially when using long-term opioids for chronic pain (greater than 90 days).⁹ It is important that opioids are not prescribed unless its benefits greatly outweigh the risks. However, if providers determine an opioid is necessary, the dosage, days supplied should be determined carefully, to reduce negative patient outcomes, including addiction and overdose.¹⁰⁻¹²

Drug-related death has increased six-fold since 1999;¹³ In 2019, overdose mortality peaked at 70,630 deaths in the United States—over 70% of which were opioid-related.¹⁴ In addition to mortality, opioid use disorder (OUD) and substance use disorder (SUD) are outcomes of the opioid epidemic that continue to plague public health worldwide. In 2019, an estimated 10.1 million Americans aged 12 and above were afflicted with OUD; 96% of these individuals were misusing prescription pain relievers.¹⁵

Prescription opioid abuse often leads to illicit drug use. According to the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), 80% of current heroin users report that their substance abuse first began with opioid prescriptions.^{16,17} This has also been made evident by the changing waves of opioid overdose deaths observed since the start of the opioid epidemic.¹⁸ In the first wave, between 1999-2010, the majority of opioid deaths were attributed to prescription opioids. The second wave began in 2010 and was marked by an increase in heroin overdose deaths. This led into the third wave, which began in 2013 with a sharp increase in synthetic opioid-related deaths (such as fentanyl), through 2019.

Other trend studies have also shown an increase in mortality due to non-prescribed opioid use and illicit drug use in recent years;^{19,20} By 2016, opioid-related deaths were 2.6 times more likely to be due to heroin or synthetic opioid abuse, than in 2012, indicating a significant rise over time. Further, while mortality from non-prescribed use has increased, fewer than 10% received treatment that may help with addiction.²⁰ As prescription opioid use became more widespread at the start of the opioid crisis, the consequent regulations and limitations to opioid-prescribing²¹ may have had the unintended consequence of shifting patients from the prescription to nonprescribed or illicit drug use. It is therefore important to understand trends in patient use of such drugs so that clinical guidelines and public health initiatives may be developed to better target atrisk populations, such as providing access to overdose antagonist drugs, or rehabilitation facilities.

Use of Benzodiazepines

Benzodiazepines are prescription sedatives, categorized as short-, intermediate-, and long-acting, and are commonly used for treating anxiety and panic disorders, insomnia, and depression.²² These include drugs such as Valium (diazepam), and Xanax (alprazolam), which work by increasing the action of a chemical messenger, gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), to slow the central nervous system, and give patients a feeling of calm or tranquility. At higher doses, patients may feel the same sense of euphoria as those on opioids.

Taken alone, long-term benzodiazepine use is associated with cognitive impairment, and increased risk of falls, hip fractures, potentially fatal withdrawal symptoms, poor sleep quality, and mortality.²³⁻²⁵ Though the use of benzodiazepines alone is not as dangerous as when

combined with opioids, this class of drugs has a high potential for abuse similar to opioids and other addictive drugs, due to the increased release of dopamine.²⁶ It is especially important to avoid long-term benzodiazepine use when necessary, as patients that become dependent on benzodiazepines have worse withdrawal and rebound symptoms than those withdrawing from opioids.¹²

In recent years, there has also been a growing use of "designer benzodiazepines", which are inexpensive, accessible online, and not approved for medical use anywhere in the world.²⁷ Because designer drugs are highly potent, any error in measurement of such small quantities, may cause unintended overdoses. Trends in benzodiazepine prescribing were shown to increase in a large sample from outpatient settings between 2003-2015.²⁸ However, another study saw a significant decreased in benzodiazepine prescribing from 2013-2018, which was limited to older, Medicare enrollees. ²⁸

Concurrent Use: Opioids and Benzodiazepines

Opioids are associated with the majority of prescription-related mortality; of these deaths, studies have shown that up to 61% of patients who fatally overdosed had a co-prescription for an opioid and benzodiazepine.²⁹⁻³¹ Patients concurrently using opioids and benzodiazepines are also four to ten times more likely to overdose, compared to those prescribed an opioid alone.^{12,29,32} Co-prescriptions are also associated with increased adverse events such as falls or injuries, and increased substance abuse.³³

Neither opioids nor benzodiazepines are considered a first line of treatment, and their combined use is especially advised against.^{22,34,35} There are circumstances where concurrent use may be deemed necessary, such as among patients taking a benzodiazepine for depression, who may later experience severe acute pain or develop a chronic illness that requires an opioid.¹² Similarly, in cases where chronic pain opioid users develop severe anxiety or depression that requires a benzodiazepine, concurrent use is considered.

Because both opioids and benzodiazepines act on the central nervous system similarly, when combined, the effect on sedating the respiratory system is exacerbated.³⁶ Overdose on these drugs causes the breathing rate to significantly slow down, which decreases oxygen supply to

vital organs, that eventually cease to function. Depending on the severity of the overdose, the lack of sufficient oxygen leads to coma and death in as little as a few minutes, to a few hours if emergency care is not provided in time.

Opioid-Prescribing Guidelines and Policies

As early as 2002, three states—Kansas, Michigan and Montana—had developed opioidprescribing guidelines for treating pain;²¹ however, these were not yet backed by quality research and were left to the discretion of physicians. Over the next 18 years, numerous other states and medical societies published similar guidelines,³⁷⁻³⁹ however, it was not until March 2016, that the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), released its opioid-prescribing guideline for chronic non-cancer pain.¹² This guideline included twelve evidence-based recommendations to assist clinicians with assessment and monitoring strategies related to opioid use, to reduce patient risks for adverse events such as SUD, overdose and death. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), has also strongly advised against opioid and benzodiazepine coprescriptions, citing the Medicare Learning Network's recommendations on reducing coprescriptions, ⁴⁰ These guidelines and most others advise providers to consider drug alternatives, and use risk stratification tools including urine drug testing (UDT), to screen new patients and monitor those already taking prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines.

In August 2016, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) also issued a requirement that all opioid and benzodiazepine drug labels must include a black box warning (the strongest warning that may be issued) detailing the risks of concurrent use.⁴¹ In September 2020, they updated the requirement for benzodiazepines to include "the serious risks of abuse, addiction, physical dependence, and withdrawal reactions".⁴²

Trends in Concurrent Use

An estimated 59.4 million Americans are using benzodiazepines, opioids or a combination of these—30% of which are older adults, aged 65 and above.³⁵ From the early 2000's through 2015, the co-prescribing of opioids and benzodiazepines reportedly increased,^{43,44} where 50% of co-prescriptions were received on the same day.⁴⁵ In a large study of US pharmacy dispensing data, during 2002-2014, there was a 41% increase in co-prescribing, which translated to approximately 2.5 million patients.^{46,47} Between 2010-2015, there are different reports on whether the rates of

co-prescriptions increased,^{43,44,48} or decreased;^{28,35,49} varying study settings, data sources and cohorts may contribute to the conflicting results.

In recent years however, patterns in co-prescribing have repeatedly been shown to decrease. A study of prescription data from 2015-2017 showed a decline in co-prescriptions after the CDC guideline and FDA blackbox requirement in 2016 compared to before these were put in place,⁵⁰. There were greater declines in co-prescription rates among women compared to men.⁵⁰ Another study of prescription claims from 2016-2020 showed similar decreases, with greater declines in younger adults (<65 years) compared to those older than 65 years.^{35,48,49} Although the number of co-prescriptions has steadily decreased since 2015, or as early as 2010-2013,^{28,49} there were still over 1.2 million older adults (\geq 65 years), and 2.2 million (under 65) who received co-prescriptions in 2020.³⁵

Opioid drug alternatives include gabapentin and pregabalin, which are non-narcotic drugs that are effective in treating pain due to fibromyalgia, a musculoskeletal muscle condition, and nerve pain.⁵¹ Over-the-counter drug options include Tylenol (acetaminophen), Advil (ibuprofen), and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Anti-depressants such as Cymbalta, and Savella may also be used for treating mild or moderate chronic pain, nerve pain and headaches. For shooting pain in localized areas, a variety of topical creams, foams, gels and other drug forms with local anesthetics such as lidocaine, may be used. Other topical applications include muscle relaxers, NSAIDs or capsaicin. Joint or muscle pain may also be treated using steroid injections or temporary nerve block injections.

There are also non-drug alternatives for pain management, which may be used alone or in combination with medication. These include self-care methods such as exercise, yoga, meditation, or hot/cold compresses. More targeted therapy, including occupational therapy for increasing coordination, balance, and range of motion through the practice of daily activities, and physical therapy for enhancing the body's functional movement, also helps decrease pain which increasing physical function. Rehabilitation therapy is also associated with shorter opioid prescription durations,⁵² indicating that multimodal treatment to address pain is important. Other non-drug treatments include acupuncture, chiropractic care, and brain stimulation treatments.

Though patients' pain severity varies and may not always be treated effectively without an opioid, the combination with other therapies may help to keep opioid doses low, and short-term.

An alternative drug class to benzodiazepines is selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) such as Prozac (fluoxetine) and Zoloft (sertraline), which also treat depression, anxiety, and insomnia.⁵³ SSRIs are safer than benzodiazepines, however these drugs often require weeks before patients notice a difference and must be taken consistently for the medication to work.⁵⁴ Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) work similarly to SSRIs to improve patient mood, but also take time before patients notice changes.⁵⁵ Tricyclic antidepressants are another drug alternative, however due to the side effects elicited by drastic chemical changes in the brain, these are seldom used, given SSRIs and SNRIs availability.^{56,57} Buspirone is also an anti-anxiety medication that may be used, but similar to anti-depressants, requires consistent use over time before symptoms improve.⁵⁸ Vistrial (hydroxyzine) is a prescription antihistamine that has been approved for anti-anxiety use and may be used "as needed" for less severe cases, though its efficacy compared to benzodiazepines is undetermined.⁵⁹

Non-drug options for improving symptoms of anxiety and depression include lifestyle changes such as prioritizing sleep, meditation, improving nutrition, quitting alcohol use, and starting exercise. Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) is an effective non-drug treatment for insomnia, and is preferred by the American College of Physicians as the first line of defense, before considering benzodiazepines or z-drugs.⁶⁰ Z-drugs (zolpidem, zaleplon, zopiclone, eszopiclone) are psychoactive drugs that are chemically similar to benzodiazepines, and approved for treating insomnia; though these are an alternative treatment option, z-drugs also increase the risk of falls, fractures, and mortality, especially in older adults.⁶¹

Urine Drug Testing

Urine drug testing is a helpful tool for monitoring patients on long-term opioids, benzodiazepines, stimulant drugs, and other prescription drugs,^{12,62} which offers a more informative clinical picture than relying solely on patient self-reports.⁶³ Though UDT does not provide measures of the concentration or amount of a drug that was consumed, it helps

objectively present what drugs a patient recently had in their system.⁶⁴ This assumes that the urine tested has not been adulterated, belongs to the patient, is interpreted correctly, and that the drug was taken in sufficient quantities detectable by UDT. The detection window, or length of time that a given drug and its metabolite remain in the body is dependent on patient weight, metabolic characteristics, frequency of drug use, drug dosage, and the drug half-life (the time it takes to metabolize and remove half the consumed dose from the system).

Although there are other biological specimens (test matrices) that may be used for drug testing, such as hair, saliva, sweat and blood, urine is the most frequently used matrix, especially in ambulatory and independent laboratory settings, and is the most rigorously researched.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁸ Drug metabolites are found in higher concentrations in the urine, compared to other specimens.^{69,70} UDT is also preferred because of its ease of collection, availability in sufficient amounts, wide accessibility of point-of-care tests, and the time window for drug detection.

Because drug metabolites usually remain in the system longer than the parent drug, urine is the better choice, as it is able to retain both metabolites and parent drugs,⁷¹ compared to blood and oral specimens, which have shorter time windows and are better for detecting parent drugs. Blood testing for drugs is an indicator of what is currently in the system,⁶⁴ which is often more helpful in emergency care settings, for example when providers need to immediately determine what drug a patient may have overdosed on. However, in the general outpatient clinics, the use of blood for drug testing is less likely, because it is invasive, costly, requires personnel trained in phlebotomy, and has a shorter detection window. Hair testing is non-invasive and has the longest detection window which may be useful for detecting chronic abuse. However, it cannot detect recent or sporadic drug use. Hair testing is also expensive, may show false-positive results from environmental exposure, and cannot be analyzed if hair is not long enough. Drug use would also have to be quite heavy to be detected in hair, which means earlier signs of SUD development may be missed. Drug testing of other specimens, such as sweat and saliva is also available but less common, has a slower turnaround time, and is not commercially available for as many drugs as there are for UDT.

Presumptive testing

There are two main types of urine drug test methods: urine drug screening (presumptive) and definitive (confirmatory) testing. Presumptive testing is conducted by immunoassays (IA), which

generally employ antibodies to detect the presence of drug metabolites or drug classes in urine, based on a prespecified cutoff level. There are three types: enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), fluorescence polarization immunoassay, and the enzyme-multiplied immunoassay technique. All positive results obtained from a drug screen are considered presumptive-positive, until followed up by definitive testing. Initial screening should always be followed by definitive testing, whether results are positive or negative, as best practices suggest, to provide the most accurate results.⁶⁴ However, this is not always possible due to a lack of resources, high costs, insurance limits and difficulty of interpreting complex results.

The advantages of UDT screens are the relative simplicity, low cost, quick results, availability of point-of-care testing and the capacity to test in large batches. The disadvantages are that IAs are not capable of differentiating between specific metabolites or drugs within a class (such as within benzodiazepines). UDT screens also show variable cross-reactivity with some medications, which could lead to false-positive results, and potentially harm patient care if it leads to the decision to discontinue a drug. However, this should not occur solely based on the results of a UDT screen. Patients' complete prescription history, including herbal and over-the-counter drugs or supplements should be considered, and providers must either be trained in UDT interpretation or consult experienced lab personnel to address potential false-positive results.

UDT screens for opioids include IAs for codeine, hydrocodone, methadone, morphine, oxycodone, fentanyl, hydromorphone, meperidine, tapentadol, oxymorphone, buprenorphine, tramadol, and heroin (via morphine detection), among others. Some screens come as panels, such as the "Federal Five", or National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA)-5 panel, which is commonly used to test employees for amphetamines, cocaine, marijuana, opiates, and phencyclidine (PCP). There are other, larger panels, such as the 12-drug panel, which expands on the NIDA-5 to include other common opioids/illicit drugs of abuse.

UDT screens for benzodiazepines often detect nordiazepam, oxazepam, and temazepam (metabolites of diazepam).⁷² Lorazepam and clonazepam are generally not detectable by IA because of low-cross reactivity with antibodies, therefore it is common that patients taking either of these drugs have a negative screen; in such cases it would be beneficial to follow a negative screen with confirmatory testing. On the other hand, patients with a positive benzodiazepine

UDT screen (with only a lorazepam or clonazepam prescription), may be an indication that they are taking other benzodiazepines than what may be prescribed.

Confirmatory testing

Confirmatory testing is done using specialized test methods, including gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS), liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry/mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Traditionally, IA screening is followed by GC/MS, as the gold standard for drug testing. Gas chromatography works by separating the compounds within a urine sample, based on their molecular interactions with the test medium. Once separated, mass spectrometry is used to identify compounds by analyzing their mass-to-charge ratios, which act as a "molecular fingerprint".⁷²

New, emerging laboratories that specialize in pain management have begun to run definitive testing alone, specifically LC-MS/MS, and avoid the use of IA screening altogether. LC-MS/MS includes the use of a second mass spectrometry step, which means a second compound-separation step and potentially greater accuracy in detecting a drug's distinctive fingerprint. Though GC/MS is the gold standard, LC-MS/MS has become increasingly popular as it requires less urine volume to run testing and has a lower susceptibility to false results.⁷³ Pre-analytical preparation of urine when using LC-MS/MS also requires less extensive work than GC/MS prep by avoiding hydrolysis, derivatization and sample cleanup.⁷⁴

The disadvantages to definitive testing, by any method, is the slower turnaround time, much higher costs, and complexity of result interpretation. Unfortunately for these reasons, definitive testing may sometimes be reserved for when UDT screens produce unexpected results, rather than routine use.

UDT Policies and Guidelines

At the state-level, opioid-prescribing guidelines included the use of UDT as a drug monitoring and risk assessment tool, as early as 2002 in a few states, while the majority of other states did not issue any guidance to prescribers pertaining to UDT until 2012-2017, and these ranged from advisory recommendations to law-enforced regulations.²¹ Most of these addressed chronic, non-cancer pain, while a few were specific to acute pain, or emergency room care.

The CDC's opioid prescribing guideline also recommends UDT, more specifically baseline testing and annual testing for long-term opioid users, long-term benzodiazepine users, and those taking both drugs. Baseline testing indicates the use of UDT before prescribing any new opioid and is recommended for risk assessment, whereas annual testing is meant as a compliance check, or to re-assess patients that may have been on an opioid, benzodiazepine, or both, for an extended period. Though most of the previously described guidelines' UDT recommendations are specific to noncancer pain, the use of UDT is not limited to chronic, non-cancer pain; the American Society for Clinical Oncology (ASCO), has also advised that UDT should be used for drug monitoring among cancer patients.⁷⁵

In spite of the guidance on UDT among opioid and benzodiazepine users, providers may be cautious about the use of testing due to reimbursement limits, and steep penalties by the government, if overused or misused.⁷⁶ For example, when a 5-panel UDT is sufficient, the use of a 12- or 14-drug panel may be considered excessive, if a patient has not shown any signs of abuse or prior history to indicate the need for larger test panels.

Trends in Urine Drug Testing

The rate of UDT varies widely across studies, from 2% to 50%;⁷⁷⁻⁸⁰ this variation may be explained by different study designs, outcome definitions, sample size limitations, or the use of smaller regional samples. In our large, population-based study among long-term opioid users,⁸¹ we found that despite overall increasing trends from 2012-2018, only 52% of patients that were already on an opioid were tested annually. Those who received a new long-term opioid prescription, were tested at an even lower rate, approximately 11%, by the end of 2018—two years after the release of the CDC guideline. These rates may also have been overestimated due to lower specificity of the CPT codes used to define UDT, than originally expected. Still, UDT rates doubled among prevalent long-term opioid users, and tripled among incident users from 2012–2018. Among cancer patients, a small study found that only 6% received UDT, though this was limited to one year (2011).⁸²

Effectiveness of UDT

According to the CDC's opioid-prescribing guideline, there is no consensus among clinicians on whether the use of UDT in pain management is necessary. This disagreement may be due to the potential for result misinterpretation, UDT cost and reimbursement limits, and the "low-quality

evidence" supporting UDT's effectiveness in improving patient outcomes of opioid users (SUD, overdose, death).¹²

Though there are limitations to urine drug testing, UDT has been helpful for monitoring patient compliance to prescribed drug agreements, and assessing new patients for signs of drug abuse.^{12,69,72,83-86} UDT does offer a more objective clinical picture on recent patient drug use that may not otherwise be self-reported, including illicit and non-prescribed drug use.^{63,87} In addition, UDT assists clinicians in identifying those who are not taking their prescription opioids or benzodiazepines, which may indicate a patient no longer needs the drug, or potentially point to diversion, i.e. the selling or giving away of prescription drugs to others. There is also evidence that more frequent UDT, random testing, or the use of comprehensive UDT has an impact on reducing drug misuse and increasing treatment compliance.^{64,86,88-90} One study found that frequent UDT combined with random UDT use was associated with a reduction in overall illicit drug use.⁸³ This may suggest that UDT is an important tool to help reduce cases of SUD and overdose, if providers are able to identify problematic results and address these with patients in earlier phases of pain management.

Factors associated with receiving UDT

Predictors of urine drug testing include younger age, back pain and general chronic pain indications, residence in the southern US Census region, and common drug abuse diagnoses— alcohol abuse, depression, and mental health disorders.⁸¹ Cancer patients were shown to have a very low likelihood of being tested, which may be due to most opioid-prescribing guidelines targeting non-cancer pain.

A small, regional study of cancer patients found that predictors of UDT also included younger age, as well as earlier cancer stage, higher pain intensity, and lower ratings of fatigue.⁸² In a large study of US Veterans, patients who were younger, male, had an urban residence, substance abuse diagnoses, or lower back pain indication had a higher likelihood of receiving UDT.⁹¹ This study also found that Black patients were more likely to be tested, compared to White patients. Other important predictors of UDT included higher pain intensity and opioid dose, post-traumatic stress disorder, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and having a primary care physician (vs. nurse practitioner).

Rates and Predictors of Aberrant UDT

Among patients who receive UDT, there have been varying rates of "aberrant results", which is defined differently across studies, but generally indicates unexpected UDT results. A small, retrospective chart review in 2015 (n=474) defined "inconsistent results" as UDT missing prescribed drugs, or finding a list of unexpected drugs (marijuana, heroin/cocaine, non-prescribed opioids and/or benzodiazepines); 45% of the results were inconsistent, where approximately 27% were from missing prescribed drugs, and 21% were positive for marijuana.⁹²

Another small study in 2014 (n=150) found that 42.0% of UDT results showed evidence of an "abnormal urine screen", which was defined as missing a prescribed drug, or finding an illicit or non-prescribed drug.⁹³ A large retrospective study of UDT from 2006-2009 (n=938,586) found unexpected results in 75% of patients; however this included a finding of "lower than expected drug levels" in the system, which is not generally used in the definition of "aberrant UDT".⁹⁴ Among those with aberrant results, 38% were missing their prescription drug, 27% had higher than expected drug concentrations (which may indicate patients mixing small amounts of a prescription drug into the urine to make it appear positive), and 11% were positive for illicit drugs. A 2007 study using only the GC/MS method of definitive testing (n=470) found 45% of results had an abnormal urine drug screen. Of these, 20% were positive for illicit drugs, 14% had a non-prescribed drug and 10% were missing a prescription.⁹⁵

Predictors for any aberrant UDT results included male gender, patients with SUD, current smokers, younger age (less than 44 years), lower average prescribed opioid dose, and short-acting opioid use (compared to long-acting opioid use).^{78,91}

Aberrant UDT Interpretation and Interventions

The finding of aberrant UDT results, such as missing prescriptions, illicit drug-positive, nonprescribed drug use, adulterated urine or extremely high drug concentrations, may warrant further or repeat testing, clinical re-assessment, or a change in treatment by the provider.

In the case of aberrant positive or negative IA screening, it is helpful to either repeat the screen, or more importantly use definitive testing to confirm results. Any findings should also be discussed with patients, so that providers may put into context what happened—especially when a prescribed drug is missing, or non-prescribed drug is detected. Providers must also be trained

to correctly interpret UDT results, or otherwise communicate with experienced lab personnel on interpreting UDT findings.

If there is evidence in definitive testing that confirms the presence of illicit substances or nonprescribed drug use, interventions may include the referral to SUD treatment or rehabilitation facilities, as well as drug-tapering or MAT (medically assisted treatment) options to help patients come off the drug of abuse.

Prescribers actively monitoring patients' progress may find that prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines are not taken regularly and may help patients safely taper and discontinue the drug(s). During earlier stages of patients' pain management, prescribers may also change the drug dosage, offer opioid or benzodiazepine substitutes, or offer other non-drug therapy if it is likely that a patient is not benefitting from, or not using the initially prescribed medication.

The CDC recommends beginning opioid tapering plans with a 10% reduction in dosage weekly for opioids, to minimize withdrawal symptoms.¹² However, for patients who have been using opioids or benzodiazepines long-term, more gradual tapering may be required. On the other hand, patients who have experienced overdose on their prescribed opioid dosage (not due to misuse) may need a more rapid taper to avoid overdosing again.

For patients taking benzodiazepines and opioids concurrently, when discontinuation is indicated, it is recommended that the opioid is tapered first, due to the greater anxiety and severity of withdrawal symptoms associated with benzodiazepines, compared to opioids. Benzodiazepine tapering should also be gradual, reducing the dose by 25% every 1-2 weeks, whether combined with an opioid or not, to avoid rebound anxiety, seizures, hallucinations and in rare cases, death; Psychotherapy, such as CBT, is also helpful for patients with anxiety.^{12,96} The CDC recommends CBT for patients who have already been tapered from benzodiazepines, or those currently on an opioid, and still experiencing anxiety.

Other special considerations include slower tapering for pregnant women to avoid withdrawal in the fetus, and discontinuation of an opioid (without tapering) when UDT repeatedly show negative results, which may strongly suggest diversion.

Prescriber Response to UDT Results

Clinicians face the dilemma of simultaneously being cautious when prescribing opioids and benzodiazepines, while effectively treating patients. They are also confronted with finding balance between over- and underuse of UDT, and how to address aberrant test results in a safe, effective manner. Before implementing any change in treatment, the interpretation of aberrant UDT results should take into account factors such as the method of testing, potential false positives, drug detection window, missed doses, and interference from other medications a patient may be taking.

In a single-practice study of patient charts (n=474), prescription renewal rates were significantly lower among patients with UDT negative for a prescription, but positive for heroin or cocaine (OR 0.12, 95% CI: 0.03-0.49), compared to those with expected UDT findings.⁹² Renewal rates were also decreased in those where the only inconsistency was a missing prescription (OR 0.58 95% CI: 0.39-0.85); Interestingly, those with a missing prescription and positive for marijuana, had a relatively higher renewal rate (OR 0.82 95% CI: 0.55-1.22), though not statistically significant. The leniency towards marijuana-positive results may be due to the growing number of states legalizing or decriminalizing marijuana use in recent years;⁹⁷ However, other research shows that marijuana use was the leading cause for opioid discontinuation, where 56% were discontinued for cannabis-positive results, 26% for cocaine, 11.8% for non-prescribed opioids and 5.3% for non-prescribed benzodiazepines.⁹⁸

In another small, single-center study (n=123), any aberrant UDT led to discontinuation in 20% of the total sample, while 55% continued to receive prescription opioids, regardless of whether inconsistent findings included illicit use, or had repeated aberrant UDT,⁹⁹ which contradicts Hosain et al's study⁹² showing 0% of patients with positive illicit drug use received prescription renewals. However, a limitation of both studies is the small sample, and center-specific results, which may not even be generalizable to each region. There were also conflicting results with middle aged males being the more frequent aberrant-positive subgroup, as opposed to younger females: study design plays an important role in these differences. In 52% of aberrant UDT cases, clinicians planned to alter prescribing by discontinuing or substituting opioids, changing the dosage, or requiring smaller refills, but only implemented these changes in 24%.¹⁰⁰

Gaps in literature

There have been numerous studies on opioid and benzodiazepine co-prescribing,^{28,101-105} in which analyses focused on prescribing patterns of providers; there is less evidence on the rates of concurrent use and illicit drug use by patients in recent years. An important limitation of prescription claims data when studying patient outcomes or characteristics, is not knowing whether patients consumed the medication. With drug diversion a possibility, patients may receive prescription drugs through relatives or other individuals receiving prescriptions, or through others outside of healthcare settings. By studying UDT results, there is greater accuracy in measuring prescription use, but also their non-prescribed and illicit drug use, which is otherwise left to be measured during patient exams by self-report.

Without knowledge of what drugs patients are consuming, there may be missed opportunities of detecting and treating substance abuse cases that otherwise result in fatal and nonfatal overdose. These studies will address the gaps of recent time trends, characteristics and prescriber response related to concurrent use positivity and aberrant UDT. Given the increase in non-prescribed opioid and illicit drug overdose mortality since 2013,^{14,19,20} it is important to understand these trends and associated patient characteristics, for better targeting public health efforts that emphasize treating addiction in patients rather than restricting prescribers. A list of opioid, benzodiazepine, and schedule I drugs and their associated LOINCs that will be helpful for future research projects will also be an important product of these studies, as LOINC becomes more standardized and implemented in labs across the country and may serve as a foundation for future studies.

Specific Aims

This research will give insight into patient drug use, including non-prescribed and illicit use by analyzing urine drug test results. This proposal aims to address specific knowledge gaps by analyzing Optum's CDM data to:

Aim 1: Examine trends of UDT-positivity in concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use from 2013 to 2019 among adult enrollees; Assess whether there was a shift from prescription drug use to non-prescribed or illicit drug use in UDT results.

Aim 2: Determine patient characteristics associated with aberrant UDT results in 2018, including those positive for concurrent use, schedule I drugs, or non-prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines.

Aim 3: Assess changes in opioid or benzodiazepine prescriptions, including discontinuation, dose changes, alternative prescriptions, or referrals to other therapy or rehabilitation, in response to concurrent UDT results in 2018.

General Methods

Insurance claims data from Optum's Clinformatics Datamart (CDM)¹⁰⁶ were used to create datasets from January 1, 2013 to Dec. 31, 2019 for Aim 1, and January 1, 2017 to Dec. 31, 2018 for Aim 2, and January 1, 2017 to Dec. 31, 2019 for Aim 3, to reflect more recent years. CDM offers longitudinal medical insurance data that include member information such as age, gender and insurance eligibility dates; medical claims, including procedures (via CPT codes), diagnoses (ICD codes); pharmacy claims, such as the drugs dispensed, and the quantity, supply, cost and dosage (via NDC codes); lab test result data via LOINC codes, and provider data, such as credentials and affiliations.

In this document, concurrent use refers to the combined use of at least one opioid and at least one benzodiazepine. In the context of urine drug test results, concurrent use refers to the finding of an opioid(s) and benzodiazepine(s) in UDT on the same test date, regardless of whether a patient has the associated prescription for both. The additional indicator of whether these drugs are prescribed or not, will be discussed in terms of aberrant UDT.

"Aberrant UDT" refers to unexpected findings, which include urine drug tests positive for schedule I drugs, or the finding of non-prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines. Schedule I drugs include heroin, cocaine, LSD, bath salts (cathinones), psilocybin, mescaline, MDMA, gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB), marijuana (THC/cannabinoids), ecstasy, methaqualone, and khat.

Opioids include fentanyl, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, levorphanol, codeine, methadone, suboxone, propoxyphene, buprenorphine, morphine, oxycodone, and meperidine. For an opioid to count as non-prescribed, a UDT must be found positive for opioid use outside of the "compliance window". This window begins the first day an opioid was prescribed and lasts for the duration of the days supplied by the prescription. Because most opioids remain in the system for 2-7 days, an additional 7 days were added to the end date for the compliance window to avoid overestimation of opioid misuse.

The benzodiazepines include flurazepam, oxazepam, clorazepate, chlordiazepoxide, alprazolam, lorazepam, clobazam, and diazepam. The compliance window for benzodiazepine use was similarly calculated, however because some are long-acting, an additional 30 days was added to the end date.

Covariates

Other variables included for stratification purposes, or in multivariable analysis models are those on patient demographics, clinical characteristics, and drug characteristics, such as dosage and duration.

Patient Demographics

Though patient demographics are limited in CDM data, there are important variables were available: patient sex (male/female), birth year, from which age was calculated and states, which were grouped into United States Census regions. Geographic region included the four categories, Northeast, South, Midwest and West. Age groups were categorized as as 18-35, 36-45, 46-59, and 60 years and above.

Clinical Characteristics

Variables describing patients' clinical characteristics include the Elixhauser comorbidity score, which calculates the number of comorbidities using ICD codes.¹⁰⁷ Elixhauser scores were

calculated using the 12 months prior to the index UDT date. Similarly, pain indications were measured using ICD codes as a proxy for pain diagnosis, and categorized as back pain, joint, cancer, nerve, musculoskeletal or other chronic pain. Pain indication denotes the reason a prescription opioid was given, not necessarily a patient's diagnosis. Specific diagnoses of alcohol abuse, depression, psychoses and drug abuse were also included, as these conditions are associated with concurrent use or aberrant UDT.^{78,108}

Drug Dosage and Duration

Opioid dosage, measured in morphine milligram equivalents (MME), may have an impact on aberrant UDT. Higher average opioid MME has been associated with greater mortality in older adults, whereas lower doses reduce the risk of overdose.¹² Dosage was calculated using conversion factors specific to each opioid, and measured as total MME/day.¹⁰⁹ Long term opioid use was defined as 90 days of consecutive opioid use.

The following chapter was submitted for publication to Preventive Medicine Reports on August 16, 2022 and is currently under review.

Chapter 2: Trends in Co-prescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, Non-prescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, and Schedule-I Drugs, 2013 to 2019

Introduction

Opioid use is associated with risks of overdose and death; these risks are substantially increased in patients concurrently taking benzodiazepines and opioids, due to the exacerbated effect of respiratory suppression.¹ Concurrent users are at least four times more likely to overdose or experience drug-related emergencies, compared to those taking an opioid alone.^{2,3}

To quell these effects, the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) recommends the avoidance of coprescribing opioids and benzodiazepines, and the use of urine drug testing (UDT) to initially assess and continuously monitor patients taking either or both drugs.¹ The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) also requires a "blackbox" warning to be included on all opioids and benzodiazepines, cautioning the risks of concurrent use.⁴

Trends in co-prescribing of opioids and benzodiazepines increased from early 2000 until 2012, after which two large-scale studies show a decreasing trend through 2018.^{5,6} Because most studies on concurrent use have relied on prescription claims or dispensing data, it is less clear whether patient use reflects the same findings. Therefore, time trends in concurrent use positivity were examined using laboratory UDT results from a large insurance claims database, from 2013–2019.

National overdose death involving any opioids increased approximately 72% from 2016–2019,⁷ most of which have been attributed to non-prescribed opioids and illicit drugs.^{8,9} Because it is common for patients to shift from prescription opioids to non-prescribed and illicit drug use,¹⁰ trends in schedule I drug positivity (illicit drugs) and non-prescribed use of opioids or benzodiazepines were also assessed. We hypothesized that concurrent use shown in UDT results would decrease from 2013-2019. Schedule-I drug use and non-prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines would be expected to increase as a result, to compensate for prescriptions that might have been restricted or discontinued.

Methods

Data

Optum's Clinformatics Datamart (CDM) de-identified insurance claims data were used to pull medical claims and laboratory records by current procedural terminology (CPT), Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS), and logical observation identifiers, names, and codes (LOINC), for UDT associated with opioids, benzodiazepines or schedule I drugs (Appendix Table 1), from January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2019. This study was determined exempt by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston. To assess yearly match rates between UDT and results, CPT/HCPCS codes were used to represent total UDT (Appendix Table 2), while lab results were counted using drug specific LOINCs (Appendix Table 3). Details on match rates may be found in Appendix Table 4. Because match rates were unexpectedly low, and to avoid discarding 73.8% of UDT results that were unmatched or missing a standard CPT code, data from LOINC-pulled files were used for analysis, rather than matched data. Within each drug category, only LOINC records with interpretable alphabetic or numerical results were included, such as "pos", or "<50", respectively. Overall, the LOINCs with interpretable results in each drug category were 67%, 73%, and 70% for schedule 1, opioid, and benzodiazepine, respectively (Appendix Table 5).

Outcomes

Three non-overlapping outcomes of UDT-positivity were defined: concurrent use, schedule-I use, and non-prescribed opioid and/or benzodiazepine use (misuse). Appendix Table 5 shows how the study cohort for each outcome was generated.

Concurrent use was defined as the percent of individuals with both opioid- and benzodiazepinepositive UDT on the same day, within each quarter. In a sensitivity analysis, concurrent use was also defined as concurrent-positive UDT within 3 days. Similarly, schedule-I use rates were defined as the percent of individuals with positive UDT for any schedule-I use within each quarter. "Any" prescription misuse was defined as any UDT-positive rates for an opioid, benzodiazepine, or both, outside a defined compliance window each quarter, among patient records with \geq 180 days continuous enrollment prior to the UDT. The opioid compliance window included the prescription fill date, plus days of supply, plus 7 days to account for the time opioids remain detectable in the system. The compliance period was calculated similarly for benzodiazepines, with an additional 30 days due to possible long-acting benzodiazepines. In a sensitivity analysis, prescription misuse was counted only if all opioid and/or benzodiazepine use in a quarter was misuse. The misuse rate at each quarter was the percent of individuals with any misuse among those with positive opioid or benzodiazepine UDT in a quarter. The cohort flowchart for each outcome may be found in Appendix Table 5.

Time

Time quarters were grouped as January-March (Q1), April-June (Q2), July-September (Q3), and October-December (Q4) in each year from 2013-2019.

Covariates

Age, sex and United States Census regions were used to stratify time trends. Region was categorized by the US Census Bureau, into the Northeast, South, Midwest and West regions. Age was categorized as <50, 50-59, 60-69, and 70 years and above.

Analysis

Quarterly rates of UDT positivity were plotted for concurrent use, schedule-I use, misuse by age, sex, and region. Joinpoint Regression models, with a maximum of 5 possible joinpoints, were conducted to evaluate any significant changes in time trends. A sequential application of the permutation test using 4500 possible randomly permuted data sets and a Bayesian information criterion were used to determine the optimal number of joinpoints. The slopes were estimated to represent change at a constant percentage every quarter linearly on a log scale. Joinpoint Regression Program 4.9.0.0 (National Cancer Institute), and SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute v. 9.4, Cary, NC) were used for all analyses.

Results

Concurrent use

Figure 2.1 shows trends in concurrent use in the total sample (n=746,672 UDT) and stratified by age, sex and region. Among the total sample, concurrent use rates decreased from 19.3% in Q1 2013, to 9.8% by Q4 2019. Similar patterns were mostly observed by age, sex and region, where all groups' concurrent use decreased with time. Notably, rates were higher in females than in males, lowest in age <50, and highest in the 50-59 and 60-69 age groups. By region, concurrent
use was highest in the South in 2013 (20.3%) and lowest in the Northeast (15.8%). However, by 2019, rates in the Northeast (10.9%) slightly surpassed the South (10.5%).

Table 2.1 presents log-scale slopes and detected joinpoints from joinpoint regression analysis of the studied outcomes. Concurrent-positive UDT showed a 2.3% quarterly decrease from Q1 2013 to Q1 2016, non-significant increase during 2016, 2.8% quarterly decrease from Q4 2016 to Q1 2019, and 9.5% quarterly decrease during 2019. In stratified analyses, joinpoints and slopes were slightly different in females compared to the entire study cohort. However, in males, only one significant joinpoint was found, showing a 1.35% quarterly decrease from Q1 2013 to Q3 2018, followed by a steeper quarterly decrease of 7.47% through Q4 2019.

Concurrent use decreased quarterly by 2.5% from Q1 2013 to Q3 2018, then by 8.2% through 2019 in the <50 age group. Similar trends were observed in the 50-59 group. Among age 60-69, two significant joinpoints indicated a 2.3% quarterly decrease from Q1 2013 to Q1 2016, non-significant increase from Q1 2016 to Q1 2017, and a 3.8% quarterly decrease from Q1 2017 to Q4 2019. The smallest decrease was found in age >70, with a 4.8% quarterly decrease from Q4 2017 through Q4 2019.

By region, concurrent use in the Northeast decreased 1.24% quarterly through the entire period. In the West, there was little change in concurrent use rates, decreasing 0.6% quarterly from Q3 2017 through Q4 2019. In the South, concurrent use decreased quarterly at greater rates with time (slope: -2.62% in Q1 2013-Q1 2016; slope: -2.39% from Q4 2016 to Q1 2019; slope: -9.5%, after Q1 2019); however, in the Midwest, there was a small decrease from Q1 2013 to Q2 2018 (slope: -0.7%), and a larger decrease from Q2 to Q4 2019 (slope: -16.7%).

Schedule I drug use

A total n=756,258 UDT were included in the schedule I cohort. Schedule-I use generally increased from 8.9% in Q1 2013 to 13.8% in Q4 2019, with a noticeable dip between Q3 and Q4 of 2013, from 9.4% to 5.7% (Figure 2.2). Higher schedule-I use was observed in males (12.4%, Q1 2013 to 17.9%, Q4 2019) than females (6.3%, Q1 2013 to 11.1%, Q4 2019). By region, lowest use was observed in the South (7%, Q1 2013 to 11.0%, Q4 2019), followed by the Midwest. The Northeast region had the highest rates, peaking at 19.4%, Q4 2019. By age, the rate of schedule-I use was highest among those <50 (18.3%, Q4 2019). As age group increased,

the magnitude of schedule-I drug use decreased; those \geq 70 had the lowest use (5.7%, Q4 2019). Overall, schedule I drug use increased with time in all groups.

Joinpoint analysis of the total cohort detected two significant joinpoints, where there was an 8.3% quarterly decrease from Q1 2013 to Q1 2014, 8.2% increase from Q1 2014-Q2 2015, and a 1.58% increase from Q2 2015 to Q4 2019 (Table 2.1). Females had a higher quarterly decrease (12.7%) in illicit use from Q1 2013 to Q4 2013, which shifted to an increasing quarterly rate of 7.8% from Q 4 2013 to Q2 2015, followed by a slower quarterly increase of 2.1%, Q2 2015 to Q4 2019. Males showed a significant 1.3% quarterly increase from Q2 2015 to Q4 2019.

Age groups <50, 50-59, and 60-69 each had two significant joinpoints; from Q1 2013 to Q1 2014, schedule-I use decreased 8.8% and 8.4% quarterly in age <50 and 50-59, respectively, followed by a greater increase in age 50-59 group (slope:10.7%, Q1 2014 to Q3 2015), than age<50 (slope: 6.7%, in 2014-2015), and the same 1.9% quarterly increase in both through Q4 2019. Age 60-69 showed similar results, although only increased by 3.2% quarterly in 2015-2019. Those \geq 70 increased a steady 4.2% (p<0.001) quarterly over the entire period.

By region, the Northeast, West and Midwest showed one significant joinpoint and similar trends. In 2014-2019, schedule-I use increased 1.8% and 2.1% quarterly in the Northeast and West, respectively. Similarly, there was a 2.5% quarterly increase in the Midwest, from Q2 2014 to Q4 2019. The South showed a large quarterly decrease of 12.8% from Q1 2013 to Q1 2014, 8.2% quarterly increase in 2014-2015, and slower increase of 2.7% quarterly from Q4 2017 to Q4 2019.

Non-prescribed use

Prescription misuse was assessed from n=452,420 UDT. Overall, misuse decreased from 75.6%, Q1 2013 to 55.1%, Q4 2018, after which the rate increased again to 59.3% in Q4 2019 (Figure 2.3). Similar patterns were observed by sex, although in Q1 2013 misuse was slightly higher in females (76.1%) than males (74.9%) and in Q4 2019, misuse was higher in males (60.9%) than females (58.3%). When stratified by age, misuse rates in 2013 were comparable (73.7-77.5%), decreased over time, and showed similar increases after Q4 2018 as in the total sample. By Q4 2019, ages 50-59, 60-69, and \geq 70 had misuse rates of 56.7-58.3%, while age <50 had a higher rate of 68.5%. In the West, Midwest and South, misuse generally decreased over the entire

period, except for an increase from Q4 2018 – Q4 2019. In the Northeast, misuse appeared to fluctuate in early quarters then increase until Q3 2015, before decreasing again through Q4 2019. Differences by region were small in early quarters (74.3-79.9%) and varied more by Q4 2019 (52.2-68.3%).

In the total sample, three significant joinpoints were detected; misuse decreased 0.35% quarterly from Q1 2013 to Q1 2016, decreased 1.5% quarterly in 2016-2017, decreased 3.5% quarterly from Q4 2017 to Q4 2018, and increased 1.9% quarterly from Q4 2018 to Q4 2019 (Table 2.1). The same joinpoints and similar slopes were observed in misuse rates of females. Among males, only two joinpoints were found, with a similar pattern of slopes: small quarterly decrease, followed by a larger rate of decrease, and shift to increasing misuse after Q4 2018.

In age <50, there was a 1.7% quarterly decrease in 2016-2018 and 2.5% increase from Q4 2018 to Q4 2019 in non-prescribed use, the highest slope among the age groups. Age 50-59 misuse decreased 0.7% quarterly Q1 2013 to Q2 2017, decreased 3.3% quarterly Q2 2017 to Q4 2018, and increased 2.3% quarterly Q4 2018 to Q4 2019. Age 60-69 had similar results to the 50-59 group. In age \geq 70, significant slopes were found from Q4 2015 to Q4 2017 and from Q4 2017 to Q4 2018, with quarterly decreases of 1.5% and 3.7%, respectively.

In the Northeast region, between Q3 2015 to Q1 2019, misuse decreased 1.76% quarterly. In the West, misuse use decreased 1.1% quarterly from Q1 2013 to Q1 2018, decreased 6.1% quarterly during 2018, and increased 1.7% quarterly from Q4 2018 to Q4 2019. In the Midwest, misuse slightly decreased, by 0.4% quarterly Q1 2013 to Q3 2017, decreased 3.6% quarterly from Q3 2017 to Q3 2018, and increased 2.3% quarterly thereafter. Misuse in the South was similar to that of the Midwest, which decreased 2.3% quarterly from Q2 2016 to Q4 2018, and 2% through Q4 2019.

Sensitivity analyses

When defining concurrent use to include opioid and benzodiazepine UDT dates up to three days apart, similar concurrent use rates were observed. Overall concurrent use trends were similar to those observed in Figure 2.1, decreasing from 19.3% in Q1 2013 to 9.8% in Q4 2019. Joinpoint analysis also showed very similar results.

The overall pattern of non-prescribed use decreased over the entire period, from 76.8% in Q1 2013, to 59.9% in Q4 2019, which was similar whether defining as any misuse or all misused in a quarter. Joinpoint analysis also showed similar results.

Discussion

In this retrospective study of national laboratory data from commercial insurance claims 2013 to 2019, we observed decreasing time trends in concurrent opioid-benzodiazepine use and in non-prescribed prescription drug use accompanied by increasing use of schedule-I drugs, which substantially increased after 2018. Understanding trends in the concurrent drug use has generally been limited to prescription claims studies, associated with providers' behavior rather than patients. This study analyzed national laboratory results to gauge patient use and found that UDT trends are consistent with prior studies on co-prescribing, misuse and illicit drug use.^{5,6,11}

The overall decreasing trend in concurrent drug use aligned with expectations from previous literature,^{6,12,13} which shows decreasing opioid and benzodiazepine co-prescriptions. Overall, concurrent use already decreased in 2013-2016, but decreased at a somewhat greater rate after the announcement and release of the 2016 CDC opioid-prescribing guideline, and decreased at a greater rate in 2019 after increased prevention measures were put in place by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS).^{1,14} Among some groups, the change in concurrent use rates did not occur immediately after 2016, as seen in males, ages <50, 50-59, ≥70, the West, and in the Midwest, which might indicate a delayed or lessened response to guidelines. Similarly, the linear decrease observed in the Northeast may reflect a lack of any response to the CDC guideline, although this region and the Midwest had smaller sample sizes, and patients of these regions receive UDT at lower rates than the South and West.¹⁵ It is less clear why there was also a larger decline after 2018, however similar patterns were observed in national overdose deaths.¹⁶ Higher concurrent use in females was expected, as females are more likely to be prescribed both concurrently,² than males. People under 50 years had the lowest rates, while those 50-69 had the highest, consistent with a previous national study.¹⁷ Benzodiazepine use was also highest among 50-64 year-olds and may explain in part, the increased trends in this group.¹⁸ The South had the highest concurrent use rates, which may be due to the increased prevalence of severe mental illness,¹⁹ UDT rates, and the large market share of CDM data in the South, and potentially indicate a lack of alternative treatments to co-prescribing in this region;^{2,15,17}

40

Schedule-I drug use increased across all ages, regions, and by sex, from Q2 2015 through Q4 2019. A sharp decline in schedule-I use was observed between the last two quarters of 2013, among females, those aged 18-59, and in the Northeast and South. One proposed explanation may be the effect of the Drug Enforcement Agency's rescheduling of hydrocodone in 2014. Although this change occurred late in 2014, the FDA recommended the reschedule months prior, in December 2013. The drop in schedule-I use of the current study coincides with the greater rate of change in opioid-prescribing observed at a similar timepoint in a previous study.²⁰ Schedule-I use increased at a greater rate from 2014-2015 among females, those aged 18-69, and in the South, then increased at a slower rate. The dramatic increase from 2014-2015 may be due to less accessibility to hydrocodone after 2014.

In this study, schedule-I use rates of 8.8-13.9% were generally consistent with recent CDC reports, which showed illicit drug use rates ranged from 8.1%-23.9%, in adults aged 18 and above, by 2018.²¹ Males had higher rates of schedule-I drug use than females, which was expected.²² The Northeast had the highest schedule-I use of all regions, while the South had the lowest;²³ these regional differences have been observed previously, suggesting primarily illicit drugs use in the Northeast, and prescription opiate abuse in the South, shown by corresponding overdose deaths in these regions. Schedule-I use was lower in age \geq 70 and increased as age decreased, which aligned with literature showing greater illicit use in younger individuals than older.²⁴ Given that older individuals are up to 80% less likely to receive UDT than those under 50, it may explain why no change in illicit use was observed, and trends increased linearly in ages \geq 70.¹⁵

We found 75.6% any misuse in Q1 2013 and 59.3% in Q4 2019. Previous studies have shown benzodiazepine misuse rates of 6.1-82.5%, and opioid misuse rates of 9.9-58%, though sample sizes and definitions of prescription misuse varied.²⁵⁻²⁸ The somewhat higher rates of misuse found in this study may be due to the broader definition of non-prescribed use, which included those without a prescription, and those with prescriptions that may have been used in a manner not recommended by the provider. Additionally, misuse rates may be inflated due to selection bias of the misuse cohort; if providers sense a patient is at risk for misuse, there may be a differential in UDT requests, capturing more positive results among those more likely to

41

misuse.^{29,30} UDT is also more common among patients that have indications for opioids or benzodiazepine use, such as those with various chronic pain indications and psychoses.¹⁵

The gradual decrease in misuse from 2013-2017 and the steeper decrease from 2017-2018 generally parallels the decreasing trend in co-prescribing opioids and benzodiazepines, and may indicate the shift to opioid and benzodiazepine alternatives, gabapentinoid and SSRI/SNRIs respectively, that provide a safer drug option, especially among the older population.⁶ However, the decrease was somewhat unexpected, given the recent increased mortality associated with prescription misuse.⁸ Beginning Q4 2018, non-prescribed use began to increase, which is consistent with the recent uptick in overdose deaths involving benzodiazepines and opioids between 2019-2020.³¹

Considering the observed trends in the context of 1) findings on increased mortality from illicit use and prescription misuse, 2) few of such patients receiving drug abuse treatment, and 3) the ineffectiveness of solely restricting opioid-prescribing, highlights the need for increased access to rehabilitation facilities for treatment. These findings also support the need for targeted public health initiatives, especially in males, younger individuals, and in Northeastern regions. The focus of public health efforts may require reorientation towards patient recovery rather than provider restriction.

Limitations

There are several limitations. First, insurance claims data limit generalizability to insured individuals, and therefore misses an important population affected by the opioid crisis— uninsured individuals living in poverty, which may underestimate drug use trends. Second, reliable race/ethnicity information is not available in CDM data and therefore could not be studied, though racial disparities in opioid compliance monitoring have been observed.³⁰ Third, only independent laboratories were used, missing any tests that were done in a hospital setting. However, 116 labs were included; approximately 49% of results came from one large lab, 25% from another large lab, and 12% from a third lab. Fourth, some results were excluded for having uninterpretable values, which may have biased the sample, though it is uncertain how this could impact trends. However, the percent of annual UDT with interpretable results increased over time, indicating improvement of UDT results. Finally, match rates between procedure codes and results were unexpectedly low (Appendix Table 4). However, few UDT results included in the

study were missing a CPT (<1%); instead, a nonstandard CPT code was often used, specific to benzodiazepines, opioids, and specific schedule-I drugs, though it's unknown whether these codes link to standard CPT codes in a system outside of CDM data.

Conclusion

Concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use decreased 2013-2019, and at a greater rate after the 2016 CDC guideline and FDA warnings against concurrent use, and in 2019 after CMS implemented increased safety measures against concurrent use. There was an increase in schedule-I use from 2013-2019 and a decline in prescription misuse, which began to increase after 2018. The continued increase in schedule-I drug use, while concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use decreased, indicates a potential shift from prescribed to illicit use and emphasizes the need to support addiction recovery programs, and focus public health interventions on patient recovery and prevention.

Funding

This work was supported by the National Institute on Drug Abuse [grant number R01-DA039192]. The funder had no role in the design, data collection, analysis or interpretation of the results.

References

- Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain--United States, 2016. Jama. Apr 19 2016;315(15):1624-45. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Sun EC, Dixit A, Humphreys K, Darnall BD, Baker LC, Mackey S. Association between concurrent use of prescription opioids and benzodiazepines and overdose: retrospective analysis. BMJ. Mar 14 2017;356:j760. doi:10.1136/bmj.j760
- Park TW, Saitz R, Ganoczy D, Ilgen MA, Bohnert AS. Benzodiazepine prescribing patterns and deaths from drug overdose among US veterans receiving opioid analgesics: case-cohort study. BMJ. Jun 10 2015;350:h2698. doi:10.1136/bmj.h2698
- 4. FDA requires strong warnings for opioid analgesics, prescription opioid cough products, and benzodiazepine labeling related to serious risks and death from combined use. [press release].
 US Food and Drug Administration. Published 2016. Accessed February 8, 2022.
- 5. Prescription Opioid Trends in the United States: Measuring and understanding progress in the opioid crisis. IQVIA Institute. https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/reports/prescriptionopioid-trends-in-the-united-states. Published 2020. Accessed January 5, 2022.
- 6. Esechie A, Kuo Y-F, Goodwin JS, Westra J, Raji MA. Trends in prescribing pattern of opioid and benzodiazepine substitutes among Medicare part D beneficiaries from 2013 to 2018: a retrospective study. BMJ Open. 2021;11(11):e053487. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053487
- 7. Underlying Cause of Death 1999-2019 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released in 2020. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2019, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program.: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics 2020. Accessed March 3, 2022.
- Kuo YF, Baillargeon J, Raji MA. Overdose deaths from nonprescribed prescription opioids, heroin, and other synthetic opioids in Medicare beneficiaries. J Subst Abuse Treat. 05 2021;124:108282. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108282

44

- Scholl L, Seth P, Kariisa M, Wilson N, Baldwin G. Drug and Opioid-Involved Overdose Deaths -United States, 2013-2017. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2018;67(5152):1419-1427. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm675152e1
- Muhuri P, Gfroerer J, Davies M. Associations of nonmedical pain reliever use and initiation of heroin use in the United States 2013. http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/DR006/DR006/nonmedical-pain-reliever-use-2013.htm. Accessed April 20, 2022.
- National Vital Statistics System. Three Waves in the Rise of Opioid Overdose Deaths [image].
 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Published 2021. Accessed November 20, 2021.
- Hwang CS, Kang EM, Kornegay CJ, Staffa JA, Jones CM, McAninch JK. Trends in the Concomitant Prescribing of Opioids and Benzodiazepines, 2002-2014. Am J Prev Med. 08 2016;51(2):151-160. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.014
- Koffel E, DeRonne B, Hawkins EJ. Co-prescribing of Opioids with Benzodiazepines and Other Hypnotics for Chronic Pain and Insomnia: Trends and Health Outcomes. Pain Med. 10 01 2020;21(10):2055-2059. doi:10.1093/pm/pnaa054
- 14. Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2019 Medicare Advantage Capitation Rates and Medicare Advantage and Part D Payment Policies and Final Call Letter. 2018. Accessed May 20, 2022. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Health Plans/MedicareAdvtgSpecRateStats/Downloads/Announcement2019.pdf. Accessed May 5, 2022.
- 15. Taha SA, Westra JR, Raji MA, Kuo YF. Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-term Opioid Users, 2012-2018. Am J Prev Med. Dec 4 2020; doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.10.011
- National Institute on Drug Abuse. Benzodiazepines and Opioids. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drugtopics/opioids/benzodiazepines-opioids. Published February 3, 2021. Accessed February 15, 2022.
- Vadiei N, Bhattacharjee S. Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Utilization Patterns and Predictors Among Community-Dwelling Adults in the United States. Psychiatr Serv. 10 01 2020;71(10):1011-1019. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900446

- Maust DT, Lin LA, Blow FC. Benzodiazepine Use and Misuse Among Adults in the United States. Psychiatr Serv. 02 01 2019;70(2):97-106. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201800321
- Lipari RN, Van Horn SL, Hughes A, Williams M. State and Substate Estimates of Serious Mental Illness from the 2012–2014 National Surveys on Drug Use and Health. The CBHSQ Report. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2013:1-19.
- 20. Raji MA, Kuo Y-F, Adhikari D, Baillargeon J, Goodwin JS. Decline in opioid prescribing after federal rescheduling of hydrocodone products. Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety. 2018;27(5):513-519. doi:10.1002/pds.4376
- National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2019: Table 20. Hyattsville, MD. 2021. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/contents2019.htm. Accessed February 1, 2022.
- 22. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Results from the 2016 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Tables. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2017. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ NSDUH-DetTabs-2016/NSDUH-DetTabs-2016.pdf.
- 23. Illicit Drug Use, Illicit Drug Use Disorders, and Drug Overdose Deaths in Metropolitan and Nonmetropolitan Areas — United States (MMWR) (CDC, October 2017) https://nida.nih.gov/drug-topics/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis. Accessed January 5, 2022
- 24. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2020. Accessed January 5, 2022.
- 25. Blanco C, Han B, Jones CM, Johnson K, Compton WM. Prevalence and Correlates of Benzodiazepine Use, Misuse, and Use Disorders Among Adults in the United States. J Clin Psychiatry. 10 16 2018;79(6) doi:10.4088/JCP.18m12174
- 26. Koyyalagunta D, Bruera E, Engle MP, et al. Compliance with Opioid Therapy: Distinguishing Clinical Characteristics and Demographics Among Patients with Cancer Pain. Pain Med. 07 01 2018;19(7):1469-1477. doi:10.1093/pm/pnx178

- 27. Hosain F, Lee J, Ata A, Bhullar RK, Chang AK. Physician Renewal of Chronically Prescribed Controlled Substances Based on Urine Drug Test Results. J Prim Care Community Health. 2019 Jan-Dec 2019; doi:10.1177/2150132719883632
- 28. Manthey L, Van Veen T, Giltay EJ, et al. Correlates of (inappropriate) benzodiazepine use: the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). Br J Clin Pharmacol. Feb 2011;71(2):263-72. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2010.03818.x
- 29. DiBenedetto DJ, Wawrzyniak KM, Schatman ME, Shapiro H, Kulich RJ. Increased Frequency of Urine Drug Testing in Chronic Opioid Therapy: Rationale for Strategies for Enhancing Patient Adherence and Safety. J Pain Res. 2019;12:2239-2246. doi:10.2147/JPR.S213536
- 30. Hausmann LRM, Gao S, Lee ES, Kwoh KC. Racial disparities in the monitoring of patients on chronic opioid therapy. Pain. Jan 2013;154(1):46-52. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2012.07.034
- Overdose Death Rates. National Institute on Drug Abuse. https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/trendsstatistics/overdose-death-rates. Published 2022. Accessed April 5, 2022.

Table 2.1. Joinpoints in Trends and Slopes of Quarterly Concurrent Use, Schedule I Drug Use, and Any Non-prescribed Use,2013-2019

Concurrent Use ^a			Schedule I Drug Use			Non-Prescribed Use ^b			
Study period	Slope ^c	P value	Study period	Slope ^c	P value	Study period	Slope ^c	P value	
Total			Total			Total			
Q1 2013 -Q1 2016	-2.3	<.001	Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-8.29	0.061	Q1 2013-Q1 2016	-0.35	0.006	
Q1 2016-Q4 2016	5.0	0.216	Q1 2014-Q2 2015	8.17	0.064	Q1 2016-Q4 2017	-1.57	< 0.001	
Q4 2016-Q1 2019	-2.8	<.001	Q2 2015-Q4 2019	1.58	< 0.001	Q4 2017-Q4 2018	-3.54	< 0.001	
Q1 2019-Q4 2019	-9.5	<.001				Q4 2018-Q4 2019	1.95	0.002	
Female			Female			Female			
Q1 2013-Q1 2016	-2.18	< 0.001	Q1 2013-Q4 2013	-12.72	0.01	Q1 2013-Q1 2016	-0.33	0.014	
Q1 2016-Q4 2016	6.06	0.128	Q4 2013-Q2 2015	7.86	0.003	Q1 2016-Q4 2017	-1.48	< 0.001	
Q4 2016-Q2 2019	-3.05	< 0.001	Q2 2015-Q4 2019	2.11	< 0.001	Q4 2017-Q4 2018	-4.04	< 0.001	
Q2 2019-Q4 2019	-12.36	0.004				Q4 2018-Q4 2019	1.78	0.005	
Male			Male			Male			
Q1 2013-Q3 2018	-1.35	<.001	Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-8.32	0.064	Q1 2013-Q2 2016	-0.39	0.001	
Q3 2018-Q4 2019	-7.47	<.001	Q1 2014-Q2 2015	7.83	0.084	Q2 2016-Q4 2018	-2.16	< 0.001	
			Q2 2015-Q4 2019	1.32	< 0.001	Q4 2018-Q4 2019	1.74	0.007	
Age <50			Age <50			Age <50			
Q1 2013-Q3 2018	-2.54	<.001	Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-8.88	0.044	Q1 2013-Q1 2016	0.11	0.48	
Q3 2018-Q4 2019	-8.17	<.001	Q1 2014-Q4 2015	6.72	0.006	Q1 2016-Q4 2018	-1.73	< 0.001	
			Q4 2015-Q4 2019	1.99	< 0.001	Q4 2018-Q4 2019	2.58	0.002	
Age 50-59			Age 50-59			Age 50-59			
Q1 2013-Q3 2018	-1.42	<.001	Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-8.49	0.058	Q1 2013-Q2 2017	-0.70	< 0.001	
Q3 2018-Q4 2019	-7.85	<.001	Q1 2014-Q3 2015	10.73	0.002	Q2 2017-Q4 2018	-3.37	< 0.001	
			Q3 2015-Q4 2019	1.92	< 0.001	Q4 2018-Q4 2019	2.32	0.014	
Age 60-69			Age 60-69			Age 60-69			

Q1 2013-Q1 2016	-2.35	< 0.001	Q1 2013-Q4 2013	-9.36	0.325	Q1 2013-Q3 2017	-0.71	< 0.001
Q1 2016-Q1 2017	3.75	0.278	Q4 2013-Q1 2015	14.2	0.036	Q3 2017-Q4 2018	-3.96	< 0.001
Q1 2017-Q4 2019	-3.83	<.001	Q1 2015-Q4 2019	3.19	< 0.001	Q4 2018-Q4 2019	2.03	0.001
Age 70 and above			Age 70 and above			Age 70 and above		
Q1 2013-Q4 2017	-0.40	0.268	Q1 2013-Q4 2019	4.15	< 0.001	Q1 2013-Q4 2015	-0.02	0.931
Q4 2017-Q4 2019	-4.80	< 0.001				Q4 2015-Q4 2017	-1.51	< 0.001
						Q4 2017-Q4 2018	-3.72	0.002
						Q4 2018-Q4 2019	0.84	0.252
Northeast region			Northeast region			Northeast region		
Q1 2013-Q4 2019	-1.24	< 0.001	Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-8.98	0.075	Q1 2013-Q4 2014	-0.43	0.389
			Q1 2014-Q4 2019	1.82	< 0.001	Q4 2014-Q3 2015	2.88	0.369
						Q3 2015-Q1 2019	-1.76	< 0.001
						Q1 2019-Q4 2019	0.95	0.567
West region			West region			West region		
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017	-0.32	0.237	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-7.01	0.169	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018	-1.06	< 0.001
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019	-0.32 -0.614	0.237 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019	-7.01 2.16	0.169 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018	-1.06 -6.09	<0.001 0.011
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019	-0.32 -0.614	0.237 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019	-7.01 2.16	0.169 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019	-1.06 -6.09 1.68	<0.001 0.011 0.035
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region	-0.32 -0.614	0.237 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region	-7.01 2.16	0.169 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region	-1.06 -6.09 1.68	<0.001 0.011 0.035
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72	0.237 <0.001 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014	-7.01 2.16 -7.82	0.169 <0.001 0.161	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 <0.001 0.301	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019 Q2 2019-Q4 2019	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06 -16.79	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 0.301 0.020	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q4 2019	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55 2.34	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006 <0.001
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019 Q2 2019-Q4 2019 South region	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06 -16.79	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 0.301 0.020	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019 South region	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q4 2019 South region	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55 2.34	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006 <0.001
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019 Q2 2019-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2016	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06 -16.79 -2.62	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 0.301 0.020 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2014	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59 -12.82	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001 0.008	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q2 2016	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55 2.34 -0.25	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006 <0.001 0.070
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019 Q2 2019-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2016 Q1 2016-Q4 2016	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06 -16.79 -2.62 5.71	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 0.301 0.020 <0.001 0.242	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2015	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59 -12.82 8.18	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001 0.008 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2018-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q2 2016 Q2 2016-Q4 2018	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55 2.34 -0.25 -2.31	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006 <0.001 0.070 <0.001
West region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q2 2019 Q2 2019-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2016 Q1 2016-Q4 2019	-0.32 -0.614 -0.72 -6.06 -16.79 -2.62 5.71 -2.39	0.237 <0.001 <0.001 0.301 0.020 <0.001 0.242 <0.001	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Apr2014 Q2 2014-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2013-Q1 2014 Q1 2014-Q4 2015 Q4 2015-Q4 2017	-7.01 2.16 -7.82 2.59 -12.82 8.18 -0.94	0.169 <0.001 0.161 <0.001 0.008 <0.001 0.268	West region Q1 2013-Q1 2018 Q1 2013-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019 Midwest region Q1 2013-Q3 2017 Q3 2017-Q3 2018 Q3 2018-Q4 2019 South region Q1 2013-Q2 2016 Q2 2016-Q4 2018 Q4 2018-Q4 2019	-1.06 -6.09 1.68 -0.4 -3.55 2.34 -0.25 -2.31 1.92	<0.001 0.011 0.035 <0.001 0.006 <0.001 0.070 <0.001 0.014

Abbreviations: Q1: first quarter; Q2: second quarter; Q3: third quarter; Q4: fourth quarter

^a Sensitivity analysis where concurrent use was counted in opioid and benzodiazepine UDT up to three days apart showed three joinpoints at the same quarters found when defining concurrent use as UDT on the same day. The slopes were also very similar, with a 2.3% decrease quarterly from Q1 2013 to Q1 2016 (p<0.001), 5.1% increase quarterly from Q1 2016 to Q4 2016 (p=0.209), 2.8% quarterly decrease from Q4 2016 to Q1 2019 (p<0.001) and 9.1% quarterly decrease from Q1 2019 to Q4 2019 (p<0.001).

^b Sensitivity analysis of non-prescribed use showed 3 joinpoints, with slopes that decreased quarterly by 0.4% from Q1 2013 to Q1 2016 (p=0.001), decreased 1.5% from Q1 2016 to Q4 2017 (p< 0.001), decreased 3.5% quarterly from Q4 2017 to Q4 2018 (p< 0.001), and increased 1.8% quarterly from Q4 2018 to Q4 2019 (p=0.001).

^c Slope represents percent change of the quarterly rate of in UDT-positivity for each category of drug use linearly on a log scale.



Figure 2.1. Panel of Graphs: Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Use, 2013-2019



Figure 2.2 Panel of Graphs: Schedule I Drug Use, 2013-2019



Figure 2.3. Panel of Graphs: Non-prescribed Use of Opioid and/or Benzodiazepines, 2013-2019

The following chapter was submitted for publication to the American Journal of Preventive Medicine October 15, 2022, passed initial review and is currently under external peer-review.

Chapter 3: Patient Characteristics Associated with Aberrant Urine Drug Tests: Coprescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, Non-prescribed Opioids and Benzodiazepines, and Schedule-I Drugs

Introduction

Urine drug testing (UDT)—a mandated recommendation for risk assessments and compliance monitoring of patients on long-term opioids, benzodiazepines and other controlled drugs, is grossly underutilized.¹⁻³ The CDC, FDA and others warn providers to avoid opioid and benzodiazepine co-prescribing, a practice that increases the risk of substance abuse disorder, overdose and death.^{1,4} To prevent these negative outcomes, UDT is important for early recognition of high-risk users of opioids, benzodiazepines or their combination. Thus, it is important to study facilitators and barriers to guideline-recommended UDT in patients receiving scheduled/controlled prescription drugs, to inform clinical guideline development and government policy, on slowing the drug overdose epidemic in the US.

Predictors of receiving UDT include younger age, back pain or general chronic pain indications, urban and Southern residence, and common drug abuse diagnoses—alcohol abuse, depression, and mental health disorders.^{3,5} In a small study of cancer patients, predictors of UDT also included younger age, earlier cancer stage, higher pain intensity, lower ratings of fatigue, and Black race.⁶ Studies more specifically assessing predictors of aberrant UDT results have focused on outcomes of non-prescribed drug use and illicit drug use, finding associations between illicit or non-prescribed use and male sex, substance abuse disorder diagnosis, current smoking status, younger age, lower average prescribed opioid dose, and short-acting opioid use.^{5,7-10} These studies were limited in generalizability, had small sample sizes, or did not include concurrent use in urine drug test results.

Characteristics of individuals receiving co-prescriptions were studied and found that significant predictors included female sex, older age, depression diagnosis, lower income, smoking, and disability; ¹¹⁻¹³ however, less is known about predictors of concurrent use in the context of aberrant UDT results, which may portray patient use more accurately than prescriptions, as

patients may receive non-prescribed drugs from other sources. The main objective of this study was therefore to determine predictors of concurrent use, schedule-I drug use and non-prescribed use of opioids or benzodiazepines, to identify and provide clinicians with patient characteristics associated with aberrant UDT, using laboratory results from one of the nation's largest commercial insurance databases.

Methods

Data and Cohort

Optum's CDM data from October 2, 2016 through December 31, 2018 were used to identify study cohorts, patient characteristics, and outcomes. Data included enrollment records, National Drug Codes (NDC) from pharmacy claims, International Classification of Disease codes (ICD-10) from medical claims, and laboratory records with logical observation identifiers, names, and codes (LOINC). Detailed cohort selection is included in Table 3.1. Patients were selected if they had LOINC records for UDTs with interpretable results for an opioid, benzodiazepine or schedule-I UDT, as determined by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), from January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018 (Appendix Table 1).

Schedule-I drug use was determined by UDT-specific LOINCs for heroin, cocaine, LSD, bath salts (cathinone/cathine), mescaline, MDMA, gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB), marijuana (THC/cannabinoids), ecstasy, methaqualone, or khat. Opioid drug use included UDT-specific LOINCs for fentanyl, hydrocodone, hydromorphone, codeine, methadone, suboxone, propoxyphene, buprenorphine, morphine, oxycodone, and meperidine. Benzodiazepine LOINCs included flurazepam, oxazepam, clorazepate, chlordiazepoxide, alprazolam, lorazepam, clobazam, midazolam, temazepam, triazolam, diazepam, and estazolam. LOINCs representing a "benzodiazepine panel" and an "opioid panel" were also included.

Within each drug use category of consolidated UDT, patients with continuous enrollment from January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017 were selected, to establish patients' clinical and drug characteristics before their index UDT. Among eligible patients, those with missing demographic information were excluded.

Outcomes

Three outcomes of aberrant UDT results found in 2018 were studied. The primary outcome was concurrent use, defined as those with a positive opioid UDT and positive benzodiazepine UDT on the same day. The second outcome was schedule-I drug use, defined as any positive UDT for schedule-I drugs. The third outcome was any non-prescribed opioid and/or benzodiazepine use. Non-prescribed use indicates that UDT for either or both drugs was found positive on a date outside of the compliance window for either or both drugs. The compliance window for opioids was the fill date plus the days supplied, plus an additional seven days for which an opioid may remain in the system and be detected by UDT. Similarly, the compliance window for longer-acting benzodiazepines.

Patient Characteristics

The main independent predictors of interest included 1) patient demographics: sex, age (<50, 50-59, 60-69, \geq 70), and US Census region (Northeast, West, Midwest, South); 2) clinical characteristics: Elixhauser comorbidity score (0,1-2, 3-4, \geq 5), diagnoses of depression, substance abuse, psychoses, and alcohol abuse, prior UDT found positive for schedule-I drug use (yes, no, not tested), concurrent use (yes, no, not tested), or misuse of opioids and/or benzodiazepines (yes, no, not tested), number of UDT in the prior year (0,1, 2-3, \geq 4); and 3), and combined opioid dosage and duration, where low dose refers to <50 MME/day and high dose was \geq 50 MME/day, and short-term was <90 days use, while long-term indicated \geq 90 days for a total of five groups (no opioid, low dose/short-term, low dose/long-term, high dose/short-term, high dose/long-term).

UDT frequency, prior drug use variables, Elixhauser score, and drug characteristics were determined using 2017 data. UDT frequency included the total count of any UDT CPT/HCPCS codes shown in Appendix Table 4, consolidated by date. Prior schedule-I drug use, concurrent use, or misuse of opioids and/or benzodiazepines was measured as any positive UDT for each category. Elixhauser score was calculated using previously described methods, after removing individual diagnoses of depression, psychoses, alcohol abuse and drug abuse.¹⁴ MME per day was calculated by multiplying opioid quantity, dosage strength and conversion factors as described by the CDC,^{15,16} then divided by total days supplied; overlapping opioid prescriptions

were accounted for by summing daily MME from multiple prescriptions, where applicable. Long term opioid use was determined by counting consecutive days of opioid use within 2017. Some prescriptions may have been filled late 2016 and carried over into 2017, while some may have been filled in late 2017 and ended in 2018. To count the days of opioid use in 2017 only, prescription data from the last quarter of 2016 was included, and the prescription duration was truncated to exclude days in 2016 and 2018, to calculate opioid duration use and daily MME.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated, and associations among patients that had UDT results for all three drug use categories were assessed using the chi-squared test. Multivariable logistic regression models were used to estimate the odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for the effect of demographic, clinical and drug characteristics on the likelihood of each drug use outcome, while controlling for all other covariates. Multicollinearity was assessed to ensure stable model estimates and was defined as variables having tolerance<0.1 or a variance inflation factor (VIF)>10. Statistical significance was determined as p<0.05, and all tests were two sided. Data management and statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute v. 9.4, Cary, NC).

Results

Patient characteristics

Table 3.2 shows patient characteristics, by drug-positivity within each category of drug use. Among the concurrent use cohort (n=78,661), those with UDT positive for concurrent use (15.6%) were older, predominantly female (63.83%), and residing in the South (57.73%). Their clinical characteristics included a majority without UDT in the previous year (52.40%), diagnosed with depression (34.70%), or substance abuse disorder (22.46%), while only 3.45% and 2.16% had alcohol abuse or psychosis diagnoses, respectively. Drug characteristics of concurrent-positive individuals included a majority with low dose/short term opioid use (35.42%), followed by high dose/long term use (21.84%). Prior concurrent use was observed in 24.52% of patients, while 2.89% had prior schedule-I use and 28.21% had prescription misuse in the previous year.

In the schedule-I use cohort (n=78,950), among patients positive for schedule-I drugs (12.1%), most patients were under 50 years old (36.32%), male (53.25%), and residing in the South

(44.76%). Clinical characteristics included 21.31% with depression diagnoses, 20.65% with substance abuse, and few with diagnoses of alcohol abuse (5.50%) or psychosis (2.78%). The majority had no other Elixhauser comorbidities (59.51%). Drug characteristics of schedule-I use patients showed 35.87% had low dose/short-term opioid use, 33.14% did not have any opioid, and most did not receive UDT in the prior year (72.23%). Previous schedule-I use was observed in 13.6% of patients, while only 4.07% had prior concurrent use and 13.36% had prior misuse.

In the non-prescribed use cohort (n=57,989), among individuals with misuse (57.0 %) the majority were patients \geq 70 years (34.69%), female (58.41%), and residing in the South (53.37%). Patients' clinical characteristics consisted of 23.67% with depression, 18.42% with substance abuse, 3.2% with alcohol abuse, 1.46% with psychosis diagnoses, and 46.79% without other Elixhauser comorbidities. Most patients did not have any UDT in the previous year (60.92%), had low dose/short term opioid use (42.38%) or no opioid use (24.73%) in the prior year. Few patients had previous schedule-I use (2.16%), some had concurrent use (7.70%) and a greater amount showed prescription misuse (27.81%)

There were 47,714 patients with UDT results for all three outcomes, including patients with positive UDT for multiple drug categories (Figure 3.1). Chi square results for associations between drug use categories among this cohort may be found in Appendix Table 6. Patients with concurrent use were more likely to have non-prescribed use (70.40% vs 53.08%, p<0.0001) and slightly more likely to have schedule-I drug-use than those without concurrent use (14.98% vs 10.72%, p<0.0001). However, the association between non-prescribed use and schedule-I use was weaker (12.11% vs 11.11%, p=0.0008). Multivariable associations between all independent predictors and drug use outcomes may be found in Table 3.3.

Concurrent Use

Patients of all age groups above 50 were 1.48-1.70 times more likely to have positive UDTs for concurrent use than those <50 years, while males were less likely than females (OR: 0.83 95% CI: 0.79-0.87). Other predictors of concurrent use included patient residence, where those in the West were 21.7% less likely to be concurrent users than those in the Northeast (OR 0.78 95% CI: 0.71-0.86). Compared to no opioid use, all opioid dose and duration categories were associated with concurrent use, with the strongest association found among high dose/long-term users (OR 4.82 95% CI 4.44-5.23).

Clinical predictors of concurrent use included any Elixhauser scores which increased the likelihood 11-17%, and diagnoses of depression (OR: 1.57 95% CI: 1.48-1.67) and to a lesser extent, substance abuse disorders (OR: 1.20 95% CI: 1.12-1.27). However, patients diagnosed with alcohol abuse were 14% less likely to have concurrent use (OR: 0.86 95% CI: 0.76-0.98). The number of UDT received in the prior year was also associated with concurrent use, and this association strengthened as the frequency of UDT increased (\geq 4 UDT, OR: 1.78 95% CI: 1.63-1.96). Patients with UDT positive for concurrent use in the previous year were 10.7 times more likely to continue to have concurrent use in 2018, compared to those not tested.

Schedule-I Use

Patient demographics associated with schedule-I drug use included age, where patients were increasingly less likely to use schedule-I drugs as age groups increased (age 50-59 OR: 0.87 95% CI: 0.82-0.93, age>70, OR: 0.29 95% CI: 0.27-0.31) compared to age (<50). Other predictors included male sex (OR 1.77 95% CI: 1.69-1.86), residence in the South (OR 0.62 95% CI: 0.57-0.67) and Midwest region (OR 0.70 95% CI: 0.64-0.78), compared to the Northeast. Patients with Elixhauser scores of 1-2 or 3-4 were 10% and 13% less likely to have schedule-I use, while those with \geq 5 had the lowest odds of illicit use (OR 0.76 95% CI 0.69-0.84). Those with a diagnosis of alcohol abuse, psychoses or depression were 19.2-29.1% more likely to use schedule-I drugs, and those with substance use disorder were 47.0% more likely, compared to those not diagnosed. Patients with high dose/long-term opioids were 36.7% more likely to have schedule-I use drugs compared to those who did not have any opioid use. The number of UDTs received in the prior year was also a significant predictor, in which those who received 1-3 UDT were approximately 25% less likely to use schedule-I drugs, while those testing \geq 4 times did not significantly reduce the odds of use. Prior schedule-I drug swas the strongest predictor of current illicit use (OR 18.46 95% CI: 16.32-20.88).

Non-prescribed Use

Age and sex were not significant predictors of prescription opioid or benzodiazepine misuse. Patients residing in the West were least likely to misuse compared to the Northeast (OR 0.77 95% CI: 0.71-0.84). Patients with a higher number of comorbidities had slightly lower odds of non-prescribed use (Elixhauser score 3-4, OR 0.87 95% CI: 0.82-0.93). Substance abuse diagnosis (OR 1.17 95% CI 1.11-1.23) was associated with misuse, as well as depression and alcohol abuse diagnoses, though to a lesser extent (ex. Depression OR:1.07 95% CI: 1.02-1.12). All opioid use decreased the likelihood of misuse, compared to no opioid use, where the strongest association was found in those with high dose/long-term opioid use (OR 0.14 95% CI: 0.13-0.15). Individuals who were tested and found positive for any misuse in the prior year, were 88% more likely to show misuse.

Discussion

In this retrospective study of laboratory results from CDM insurance data, independent predictors of concurrent use, schedule-I drug use, and non-prescribed opioid or benzodiazepine use were assessed. In a subset of patients who received tests for all three drug categories, those who concurrently used opioids and benzodiazepines were more likely to have misused either or both of these drugs. Concurrent users were also more likely to use schedule-I drugs compared to those negative for concurrent use, reinforcing the abuse potential of combined opioid and benzodiazepine use,¹ and potentially representing the large portion of misusers receiving diverted drugs from relatives or other sources, or noncompliance with prescriptions.¹⁷

Age \geq 50 was associated with a higher likelihood of concurrent use and lower likelihood of schedule-I drug use, but was not associated with prescription misuse, compared to those <50 years old. This aligns with previous literature showing older individuals are more likely to need opioids and/or benzodiazepines, often related to higher prevalence of comorbidities,¹⁸ and less likely to abuse illicit substances, than younger individuals.¹⁹ The finding that age is not associated with misuse is less clear, but may be because younger individuals are more likely to abuse opioids, while older individuals are more likely to abuse benzodiazepines, therefore nullifying the association with any misuse.

Sex was significantly associated with concurrent use and schedule-I use, where males were less likely to use opioids and benzodiazepines concurrently, but more likely to use schedule-I drugs than females; this was also consistent with previous literature showing females more frequently prescribed opioids or benzodiazepines, likely related to their greater likelihood of seeking medical care than males.^{12,20,21} Males have higher a risk for substance use disorder, therefore the finding on increased schedule-I drug use in males was expected.^{7,22} As with age, the lack of association between sex and misuse was somewhat unexpected, however, previous studies have shown females are more likely to misuse prescriptions if the intention is to self-medicate with

opioids or benzodiazepines, while males are more likely to misuse prescriptions if the intention is to "get high".^{23,24} In this study, patient intent could not be determined, as self-reported measures are not available and may explain in part, the nonsignificant association.

Residence in the West region was associated with a decreased likelihood of concurrent use and prescription misuse, as previously reported,²⁵ showing lowest benzodiazepine use and misuse in the West. Residence in the South was associated with decreased schedule-I drug use and prescription misuse, compared to the Northeast region, which may be due to the highest rates of schedule-I drug use being observed in the Northeast.²⁶ The Midwest was also associated with lower schedule-I drug use; however, this region had smaller sample sizes in some categories, which may have misrepresented true rates due to insufficient data.²⁵

Increased Elixhauser comorbidity score (\geq 1, compared to 0) was associated with an 11-17% increased likelihood of concurrent use but decreased the likelihood of schedule-I drug use. The association of having any comorbidity with concurrent use is expected, as patients should not receive opioids or benzodiazepines unless medically necessary; likewise, concurrent use is greater among those with poorer health.¹³ However, it is unclear why a higher comorbidity score is associated with lower risk of schedule-I use. It may that such patients have establish care with a provider and are less likely to seek other drug sources.

Specific diagnoses of depression and substance abuse were associated with increased likelihood of concurrent use and schedule-I use, and to a lesser extent with non-prescribed use; these findings were expected given that patients with depression are more likely to receive opioids,²⁷ have co-prescriptions of opioids and benzodiazepines,¹⁸ and to abuse schedule-I drugs.²⁸ Alcohol abuse was also associated with an increased likelihood of schedule-I drug use and prescription misuse, as it is known that alcohol and non-prescribed or schedule-I drugs are often mixed.²⁹ On the other hand, having an alcohol abuse diagnosis decreased the likelihood of concurrent use, which may be due to the known detrimental effects of mixing alcohol with opioids or sedative/hypnotics, such as benzodiazepines; providers should be aware of pharmacological interactions of drugs with other substances and may therefore avoid writing co-prescriptions for patients diagnosed with an alcohol abuse disorder.^{30,31} Psychosis diagnosis was only associated with schedule-I drug use, which increased the likelihood of substance use in other previous reports.^{32,33}

Opioid dosage and duration are important predictors which greatly increased the likelihood of concurrent use. Previous studies have shown that patients using opioids long-term are more likely to be diagnosed with depression, substance abuse, and psychoses;^{34,35} the worsening of these conditions may eventually lead a patient to require combined therapy with a benzodiazepine. Conversely, patients with any opioid dose or duration, especially high dose/long-term, have decreased likelihood of prescription misuse. Though it may appear that higher dosage or long-term use may help manage pain, long-term and high-dose opioid use is not meant to be used indefinitely, loses effectiveness over time, and increases the likelihood of illicit use.¹

Because concurrent use is advised against by multiple governing and healthcare agencies, close monitoring, and more frequent testing of patients that do co-use these drugs is emphasized as much as biweekly.^{1,2} The finding that greater frequency of UDT is associated with concurrent use may therefore represent that higher-risk individuals, with poorer health that warrant more frequent UDT, and thus a greater likelihood of capturing any concurrent use. Patients with 2-3, or \geq 4 UDT in the previous year were more likely to have concurrent use, while those with 1 or 2-3 UDT were less likely to have schedule-I use, and only those with 2-3 UDT were less likely to show prescription misuse. In schedule-I drug use and prescription misuse models, the reverse association observed may be that UDT deters patients from any drug abuse. However, UDT \geq 4 showed no association; it may be that too frequent of UDT allows patients to prepare for and "pass" UDT, especially if non-random and unmonitored,² though it is unknown whether these UDT were random, monitored, or scheduled well in advance.

Finally, in all drug use models, prior drug use-positivity was a strong predictor, especially among concurrent users, who were 10.7 times more likely to continue concurrent use, and schedule-I drug users, who were 18.4 times more likely to continue use, compared to those not tested for corresponding drug use. Likewise, in all models, those tested and found negative for previous drug use were less likely to continue use, especially among concurrent users (40% less likely) and misusers (74% less likely), compared to those not tested. These findings highlight the importance of UDT monitoring of concurrent users, as well as tapering or discontinuing opioids and benzodiazepines as recommended by the CDC, and offering substance use disorder treatment as needed.

Limitations

An important limitation was the exclusion of demographics that are known to affect drug use outcomes, such as race/ethnicity, and smoking.¹⁸ The use of insurance claims also limits generalizability to insured adults, excluding uninsured individuals, who may be disproportionately affected by the opioid crisis and have significantly decreased access mental health care and to substance use disorder treatments UDT results may be biased due to missing or uninterpretable results as a limitation of using insurance claims data, though it is uncertain the impact this would have on results. Selection bias is also likely, given that physicians may test individuals at differential rates where focus is placed on patients who are more likely to abuse drugs, or have greater comorbidities associated with concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use such as depression and psychoses.³ However, the strengths of the study include the large sample size from all regions of the US, inclusion of important diagnoses, and the use of laboratory results to measure direct patient drug use that is often missed in self-report measures.

Conclusion

This study found important predictors of concurrent opioid/benzodiazepine use, prescription misuse and schedule-I drug use. Concurrent use predictors included female sex, older age, drug-abuse related diagnoses, and a greater number of UDT. Overall findings support the need for increasing CDC-recommended strategies of prescribing drug alternatives, avoiding co-prescriptions when possible, and increasing UDT monitoring of vulnerable patients. Targeted health initiatives—such as patient education on disposal of unused prescriptions to avoid diversion and misuse, or increased access to substance use disorder treatment facilities—may help reduce polysubstance use and potentially mitigate the growing public health crisis of drug overdose deaths in the US.

References

- 1. Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain--United States, 2016. *Jama*. Apr 19 2016;315(15):1624-45. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Owen GT, Burton AW, Schade CM, Passik S. Urine drug testing: current recommendations and best practices. *Pain physician*. 2012/07// 2012;15(3 Suppl):ES119-33.

3. Taha SA, Westra JR, Raji MA, Kuo YF. Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-term Opioid Users, 2012-2018. Am J Prev Med. Dec 4 2020; doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.10.011

- 4. FDA requires strong warnings for opioid analgesics, prescription opioid cough products, and benzodiazepine labeling related to serious risks and death from combined use. [press release]. US Food and Drug Administration; 2016.
- Morasco BJ, Peters D, Krebs EE, Kovas AE, Hart K, Dobscha SK. Predictors of urine drug testing for patients with chronic pain: Results from a national cohort of U.S. veterans. *Subst Abus*. 2016;37(1):82-7. doi:10.1080/08897077.2015.1110742
- 6. Arthur JA, Edwards T, Lu Z, et al. Frequency, predictors, and outcomes of urine drug testing among patients with advanced cancer on chronic opioid therapy at an outpatient supportive care clinic. *Cancer*. Dec 01 2016;122(23):3732-3739. doi:10.1002/cncr.30240
- Turner JA, Saunders K, Shortreed SM, et al. Chronic opioid therapy urine drug testing in primary care: prevalence and predictors of aberrant results. *J Gen Intern Med*. Dec 2014;29(12):1663-71. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3010-y
- Kaye AD, Jones MR, Kaye AM, et al. Prescription Opioid Abuse in Chronic Pain: An Updated Review of Opioid Abuse Predictors and Strategies to Curb Opioid Abuse: Part 1. Pain Physician. 02 2017;20(2S):S93-S109.

- Gudin J, Mehta N, McClure FL, Niles JK, Kaufman HW. Shorter drug testing intervals are associated with improved drug misuse rates. *J Opioid Manag*. 2020 Sep/Oct 2020 2020;16(5):357-373. doi:10.5055/jom.2020.0591
- Hosain F, Lee J, Ata A, Bhullar RK, Chang AK. Physician Renewal of Chronically Prescribed Controlled Substances Based on Urine Drug Test Results. *J Prim Care Community Health*. 2019 Jan-Dec 2019;10:2150132719883632. doi:10.1177/2150132719883632
- 11. Guy GP, Jr., Zhang K, Halpin J, Sargent W. An Examination of Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Prescribing in 9 States, 2015. *Am J Prev Med.* Nov 2019;57(5):629-636. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2019.06.007
- 12. Sun EC, Dixit A, Humphreys K, Darnall BD, Baker LC, Mackey S. Association between concurrent use of prescription opioids and benzodiazepines and overdose: retrospective analysis. *BMJ*. Mar 14 2017;356:j760. doi:10.1136/bmj.j760
- 13. Xu KY, Hartz SM, Borodovsky JT, Bierut LJ, Grucza RA. Association Between Benzodiazepine Use With or Without Opioid Use and All-Cause Mortality in the United States, 1999-2015. JAMA Network Open. 2020;3(12):e2028557-e2028557. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.28557
- 14. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. *Med Care*. Jan 1998;36(1):8-27. doi:10.1097/00005650-199801000-00004
- 15. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Data resources: analyzing prescription data and morphine milligram equivalents (MMEs). https://www.cdc.gov/drugoverdose/resources/ data.html

- 16. US Department of Health and Human Services. Opioid oral morphine milligram equivalent (MME) conversion factors. https://www.hhs.gov/guidance/sites/default/files/hhsguidance-documents/Opioid%20Morphine%20EQ%20Conversion%20Factors %20%28vFeb%202018%29.pdf
- 17. Salmond S, Allread V. A Population Health Approach to America's Opioid Epidemic.Orthop Nurs. 2019 Mar/Apr 2019;38(2):95-108. doi:10.1097/NOR.00000000000521
- Vadiei N, Bhattacharjee S. Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Utilization Patterns and Predictors Among Community-Dwelling Adults in the United States. *Psychiatr Serv.* 10 01 2020;71(10):1011-1019. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900446
- 19. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2020.
- 20. Olfson M, King M, Schoenbaum M. Benzodiazepine use in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*. Feb 2015;72(2):136-42. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1763
- 21. Salk RH, Hyde JS, Abramson LY. Gender differences in depression in representative national samples: Meta-analyses of diagnoses and symptoms. *Psychol Bull*. Aug 2017;143(8):783-822. doi:10.1037/bul0000102
- 22. Pesce A, West C, Gonzales E, et al. Illicit drug use correlates with negative urine drug test results for prescribed hydrocodone, oxycodone, and morphine. *Pain Physician*. 2012 Sep-Oct 2012;15(5):E687-92.

- 23. McHugh RK, Devito EE, Dodd D, et al. Gender differences in a clinical trial for prescription opioid dependence. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. Jul 2013;45(1):38-43. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2012.12.007
- 24. Boyd CJ, Austic E, Epstein-Ngo Q, Veliz PT, McCabe SE. A prospective study of adolescents' nonmedical use of anxiolytic and sleep medication. *Psychol Addict Behav*. Mar 2015;29(1):184-91. doi:10.1037/adb0000026
- 25. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Results from the 2016 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Tables. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2017. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/ NSDUH- DetTabs-2016/NSDUH-DetTabs-2016.pdf.
- 26. Image cite: Illicit Drug Use, Illicit Drug Use Disorders, and Drug Overdose Deaths in Metropolitan and Nonmetropolitan Areas — United States (MMWR) (CDC, October 2017) https://nida.nih.gov/drug-topics/opioids/opioid-overdose-crisis
- 27. Quinn PD, Hur K, Chang Z, et al. Incident and long-term opioid therapy among patients with psychiatric conditions and medications: a national study of commercial health care claims. *Pain*. 01 2017;158(1):140-148. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000000730
- 28. Quello SB, Brady KT, Sonne SC. Mood disorders and substance use disorder: a complex comorbidity. *Sci Pract Perspect*. Dec 2005;3(1):13-21. doi:10.1151/spp053113
- 29. Crummy EA, O'Neal TJ, Baskin BM, Ferguson SM. One Is Not Enough: Understanding and Modeling Polysubstance Use. *Front Neurosci.* 2020;14:569. doi:10.3389/fnins.2020.00569

- 30. Ilomäki J, Paljärvi T, Korhonen MJ, et al. Prevalence of concomitant use of alcohol and sedative-hypnotic drugs in middle and older aged persons: a systematic review. Ann Pharmacother. Feb 2013;47(2):257-68. doi:10.1345/aph.1R449
- 31. Moore AA, Whiteman EJ, Ward KT. Risks of combined alcohol/medication use in older adults. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother. Mar 2007;5(1):64-74. doi:10.1016/j.amjopharm.2007.03.006
- 32. Ross S, Peselow E. Co-occurring psychotic and addictive disorders: neurobiology and diagnosis. *Clin Neuropharmacol*. 2012 Sep-Oct 2012;35(5):235-43. doi:10.1097/WNF.0b013e318261e193
- 33. Kelly TM, Daley DC. Integrated treatment of substance use and psychiatric disorders. *Soc Work Public Health*. 2013;28(3-4):388-406. doi:10.1080/19371918.2013.774673
- 34. Sullivan MD. Depression Effects on Long-term Prescription Opioid Use, Abuse, andAddiction. *Clin J Pain*. 09 2018;34(9):878-884. doi:10.1097/AJP.0000000000000603
- 35. Scherrer JF, Salas J, Miller-Matero LR, et al. Long-term prescription opioid users' risk for new-onset depression increases with frequency of use. *Pain*. Nov 30 2021;doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000002547

Selection Criteria	n
Schedule-I Drug Use	
Schedule 1 UDT Records	1,259,896
UDT records with results	926,996
UDT consolidated ^a	194,529
Selected annual UDT	123,892
1-year continuous enrollment in 2017	80,404
Complete covariate information	78,950
Positive UDT	6,296
Concurrent Use	
Opioid UDT total LOINC	3,581,014
UDT records with results	2,865,811
UDT consolidated ^a	223,489
Benzo UDT total LOINC	1,485,706
UDT records with results	1,156,376
UDT consolidated ^a	199,097
Concurrent UDT consolidated ^a	195,959
Select annual UDT	122,819
1-year continuous enrollment in 2017	80,033
Complete covariate information	78,661
Positive UDT	12,333
Non-prescribed Use	
Positive opioid UDT	133,090
180-day eligibility prior to opioid UDT	113,219
Positive benzo UDT	38,563
180-day eligibility prior to benzo UDT	32,760
Select annual UDT	73,884
1-year continuous enrollment in 2017	58,153

 Table 3.1. Selection of Adults within Each Drug Use Cohort in 2018.

Complete covariate information	57,989
Any misuse	32,929

^a Because a single LOINC code may represent one drug test or multiple drugs in a panel, LOINC records were consolidated by person, and date; whether a patient received a panel for multiple drugs within a category (schedule-I, benzo, opioid), or a single test for any of these, it was counted once.

		Concurr	rent Use		Schedule-I Use				Non-prescribed Use			
Characteristics	No (n=66,328)		n=66,328) Yes (n=12,333) n, % n, %		No (n=69,340) Yes (n=9,610)		No (n=24,920)		Yes (n=33,069)			
					n, %		n, %		n, %		n, %	
Age	p<.0001			p<.0001				p<.0001				
<50	18,808	28.36%	1,814	14.71%	17,666	25.48%	3,490	36.32%	3,527	14.15%	5,412	16.37%
50-59	11,454	17.27%	3,022	24.50%	12,259	17.68%	2,210	23.00%	5,744	23.05%	6,610	19.99%
60-69	16,175	24.39%	4,028	32.66%	17,469	25.19%	2,680	27.89%	7,903	31.71%	9,577	28.96%
≥70	19,891	29.99%	3,469	28.13%	21,946	31.65%	1,230	12.80%	7,746	31.08%	11,470	34.69%
Sex	p<.0001				p<.0001				0.7938			
Female	39,708	59.87%	7,872	63.83%	43,053	62.09%	4,493	46.75%	14,583	58.52%	19,316	58.41%
Male	26,620	40.13%	4,461	36.17%	26,287	37.91%	5,117	53.25%	10,337	41.48%	13,753	41.59%
Region	p<.0001				p<.0001				p<.0001			
Northeast	5,525	8.33%	827	6.71%	5,501	7.93%	1,126	11.72%	1,310	5.26%	2,602	7.87%
Midwest	17,963	27.08%	3,001	24.33%	17,874	25.78%	3,090	32.15%	7,681	30.82%	8,510	25.73%
West	7,016	10.58%	1,385	11.23%	7,360	10.61%	1,093	11.37%	2,678	10.75%	4,308	13.03%

 Table 3.2. Patient Characteristics by Drug Concurrent Use, Schedule-I use, and Prescription Misuse

South	35,824	54.01%	7,120	57.73%	38,605	55.67%	4,301	44.76%	13,251	53.17%	17,649	53.37%	
Elixhauser Score	p<.0001				p<.0001				p<.0001				
0	38,949	58.72%	4,502	36.50%	38,316	55.26%	5,719	59.51%	9,227	37.03%	15,472	46.79%	
1-2	9,962	15.02%	2,686	21.78%	10,968	15.82%	1,618	16.84%	5,536	22.22%	6,284	19.00%	
3-4	8,757	13.20%	2,524	20.47%	9,899	14.28%	1,241	12.91%	5,155	20.69%	5,609	16.96%	
5+	8,660	13.06%	2,621	21.25%	10,157	14.65%	1,032	10.74%	5,002	20.07%	5,704	17.25%	
Depression		p<.0	0001			p<.(0001		p<.0001				
No	54,954	82.85%	8,053	65.30%	55,889	80.60%	7,562	78.69%	18,311	73.48%	25,240	76.33%	
Yes	11,374	17.15%	4,280	34.70%	13,451	19.40%	2,048	21.31%	6,609	26.52%	7,829	23.67%	
Substance Abuse	p<.0001				p<.0001				p=0.1050				
No	57,635	86.89%	9,563	77.54%	59,884	86.36%	7,626	79.35%	20,198	81.05%	26,978	81.58%	
Yes	8,693	13.11%	2,770	22.46%	9,456	13.64%	1,984	20.65%	4,722	18.95%	6,091	18.42%	
Alcohol abuse	p=0.0053					p<.(0001		p=0021				
No	64,349	97.02%	11,907	96.55%	67,400	97.20%	9,081	94.50%	24,231	97.24%	32,009	96.79%	
Yes	1,979	2.98%	426	3.45%	1,940	2.80%	529	5.50%	689	2.76%	1,060	3.21%	
Psychoses		p<.0	0001			p<.0	0001		p=0.6967				
---------------------------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	--------	-------	--------	----------	--------	--------	--------	--
No	65,328	98.49%	12,066	97.84%	68,310	98.51%	9,343	97.22%	24,565	98.58%	32,585	98.54%	
Yes	1,000	1.51%	267	2.16%	1,030	1.49%	267	2.78%	355	1.42%	484	1.46%	
Opioid Dosage		p<0.	0001			p<0.	0001			p<0.	0001		
and Duration ^a													
No opioid	22,415	33.79%	1,431	11.60%	21,221	30.60%	3,185	33.14%	1,445	5.80%	8,179	24.73%	
Low dose,													
short-term	26,746	40.32%	4,368	35.42%	27,742	40.01%	3,447	35.87%	9,517	38.19%	14,015	42.38%	
Low dose,													
long-term	8,386	12.64%	2,451	19.87%	9,638	13.90%	1,146	11.93%	5,065	20.33%	5,801	17.54%	
High dose,													
short-term	3,136	4.73%	1,389	11.26%	3,804	5.49%	627	6.52%	2,910	11.68%	1,813	5.48%	
High dose,													
long-term	5,645	8.51%	2,694	21.84%	6,935	10.00%	1,205	12.54%	5,983	24.01%	3,261	9.86%	
Number of UDT		p<.0	0001			p<.0	0001			p<.0	0001		
0	46,639	70.32%	6,463	52.40%	46,729	67.39%	6,941	72.23%	13,410	53.81%	20,147	60.92%	
1	9,398	14.17%	2,210	17.92%	10,355	14.93%	1,146	11.93%	4,390	17.62%	5,734	17.34%	

2-3	7,145	10.77%	2,431	19.71%	8,543	12.32%	876	9.12%	5,026	20.17%	4,891	14.79%			
≥4	3,146	4.74%	1,229	9.97%	3,713	5.35%	647	6.73%	2,094	8.40%	2,297	6.95%			
Prior illicit use		p<.0	0001			p<.(0001			p<.0001					
No	18,823	28.38%	4,499	36.48%	21,998	31.72%	1,401	14.58%	9,329	37.44%	10,002	30.25%			
Yes	1,308	1.97%	356	2.89%	411	0.59%	1,312	13.65%	575	2.31%	715	2.16%			
Not tested	46,197	69.65%	7,478	60.63%	46,931	67.68%	6,897	71.77%	15,016	60.26%	22,352	67.59%			
Prior concurrent use		p<.0	0001			p<.(0001		p<.0001						
No	19,183	28.92%	2,191	17.77%	19,096	27.54%	2,233	23.24%	8,607	34.54%	8,431	25.50%			
Yes	902	1.36%	3,023	24.51%	3,164	4.56%	391	4.07%	1,474	5.91%	2,545	7.70%			
Not tested	46,243	69.72%	7,119	57.72%	47,080	67.90%	6,986	72.70%	14,839	59.55%	22,093	66.81%			
Prior non- prescribed use		p<.0)001			p<.(0001		p<.0001						
No	6,366	9.60%	1,591	12.90%	6,995	10.09%	834	8.68%	6,731	27.01%	1,758	5.32%			
Yes	8,880	13.39%	3,479	28.21%	10,757	15.51%	1,284	13.36%	3,587	14.39%	9,198	27.81%			
Not tested	51,082	77.01%	7,263	58.89%	51,588	74.40%	7,492	77.96%	14,602	58.60%	22,113	66.87%			

Characteristics	Co	oncurrent U	se	Sche	dule-I Drug	g Use	Non-prescribed Use			
	OR	95%	CI	OR	95%	CI	OR	95%	CI	
Age										
<50		REF			REF			REF		
50-59	1.698	1.580	1.824	0.876	0.82	0.935	0.994	0.934	1.057	
60-69	1.707	1.594	1.828	0.754	0.708	0.804	0.999	0.942	1.059	
≥70	1.473	1.374	1.579	0.295	0.274	0.318	1.03	0.971	1.093	
Sex										
Female		REF			REF			REF		
Male	0.836	0.799	0.875	1.778	1.697	1.863	1.014	0.977	1.053	
Region										
Northeast		REF			REF			REF		
Midwest	1.057	0.953	1.174	0.708	0.643	0.78	1.036	0.946	1.135	
West	0.779	0.709	0.856	0.947	0.871	1.029	0.779	0.717	0.847	

Table 3.3. Multivariable Associations of Patient and Drug Characteristics and UDT-Positivity in Concurrent Use, Schedule-IDrug Use and Prescription Opioid or Benzodiazepine Misuse

South	0.951	0.872	1.038	0.620	0.574	0.670	0.905	0.836	0.979
Elixhauser Score									
0		REF			REF			REF	
1-2	1.170	1.085	1.261	0.905	0.832	0.983	0.947	0.892	1.006
3-4	1.122	1.038	1.212	0.878	0.801	0.961	0.879	0.827	0.935
≥5	1.119	1.034	1.211	0.764	0.693	0.843	0.932	0.875	0.993
Depression									
No		REF			REF			REF	
Yes	1.576	1.488	1.670	1.192	1.108	1.281	1.073	1.023	1.126
Substance Abuse									
No		REF			REF			REF	
Yes	1.202	1.130	1.279	1.47	1.366	1.582	1.176	1.117	1.239
Alcohol abuse									
No		REF			REF			REF	
Yes	0.871	0.767	0.989	1.291	1.144	1.457	1.147	1.024	1.283
Psychoses									

No		REF			REF			REF	
Yes	1.015	0.864	1.22	1.278	1.086	1.504	1.015	0.87	1.183
Opioid Dosage and Duration ^a									
No opioid		REF			REF			REF	
Low dose, short-term	2.100	1.962	2.248	1.087	1.025	1.153	0.307	0.288	0.327
Low dose, long-term	3.297	3.046	3.570	1.131	1.040	1.230	0.246	0.229	0.264
High dose, short-term	4.652	4.231	5.115	1.321	1.187	1.470	0.156	0.143	0.170
High dose, long-term	4.826	4.445	5.239	1.367	1.254	1.490	0.142	0.132	0.153
Number of UDT									
0		REF			REF			REF	
1	1.028	0.958	1.105	0.735	0.676	0.799	0.948	0.896	1.003
2-3	1.417	1.319	1.523	0.759	0.692	0.834	0.851	0.802	0.903
≥4	1.788	1.631	1.961	1.036	0.93	1.155	0.947	0.874	1.027
Prior drug use ^a									
No	0.402	0.379	0.428	0.438	0.408	0.471	0.261	0.245	0.278

Yes	10.749	9.859	11.720	18.463	16.325	20.882	1.884	1.791	1.981
Not tested		REF			REF			REF	

Abbreviations: OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; REF: reference group; MME: morphine milligram equivalents; UDT: urine drug test

^a Prior drug use refers to prior concurrent use in 2017 in the concurrent use model, prior schedule-I drug use in the illicit use model, and prior misuse of benzodiazepines and/or opioids in the non-prescribed use model.



Figure 3.1. Three-way Venn diagram showing Overlap of Drug Use Outcomes

Fig. 3.1. Of the total (n=47,714), there were 14,989 (31.41%) patients with UDT negative for any drug use, while the remaining 68.59% were positive for one or more drug use categories. Of the 32,725 patients with positive UDT, the majority were positive for prescription opioid or benzodiazepine misuse only (53.38%), 31.20% were positive for at least two drug use categories (n= 10,209), and 5.52% schedule-I drug use and 8.29% concurrent use, respectively.

Chapter 4: Prescriber Response to Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Urine Drug Test Results

Introduction

Urine drug testing (UDT) is a valuable tool for patient risk assessments and drug monitoring, and has been recommended by the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), as well as professional organizations such as the Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB) and American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP), as a part of comprehensive chronic pain management.¹⁻³ Patients on long-term opioids, benzodiazepines or both, are at greater risk of developing substance use disorder, and experiencing drug-related emergencies such as overdose or death;⁴⁻⁶ UDT at least once annually is recommended to monitor patients, especially those with co-prescriptions for both opioids and benzodiazepines.² A number of limitations to UDT, including the potential for false-positive results, lack of provider training on result interpretation, and the increased likelihood of adulteration when collection is unmonitored, may explain in part why rates of UDT use by providers have been highly variable (2-52%).⁷⁻¹¹

Although rates of opioid and benzodiazepine co-prescription rates have steadily decreased in recent years,^{12,13} there were still over 3.4 million adults who received co-prescriptions in 2020,¹⁴ emphasizing the need for UDT monitoring in co-use patients. Rates of aberrant UDT, in which unexpected results are observed, have varied from 42-75%, with most studies focusing on illicit drug use, non-prescribed use, or urine adulteration.^{11,15-17} A previous study among patients with inconsistent UDTs showed prescription renewal rates were significantly higher when nonprescribed opioids or benzodiazepines were present (63.6%), than when illicit drugs, heroin or cocaine, were present (0.0%).¹⁵ Another study showed prescribers planned to discontinue, change dosage, refer to an addiction treatment facility or make other modifications to opioid prescriptions in 30% of patients after observing aberrant UDT, including unexpected benzodiazepines or opioids.¹⁸ However, both studies were single-centered or regional, and limited in sample size.

Because of increased risks of injuries, overdose and death associated with concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use, the CDC and FDA recommend alternative drugs for benzodiazepines (SSRI/SNRIs) or opioids (gabapentinoids), as well as non-drug treatment (physical or occupational therapy, acupuncture, cognitive brain therapy, radiofrequency ablation), dosage

80

reduction, or over-the-counter medicine.^{2,3,19} The objective of this study was to determine whether prescribers adjust patient treatment in response to observing concurrent use-positive UDTs, among a cohort of adult patients in 2018, using UDT results from a national commercial insurance database.

81

Methods

Data and Cohort

Optum's CDM data were used to identify the study cohort, predictors, outcomes and follow-up periods, between October 2, 2016 through December 31, 2019. Data included pharmacy claims via National Drug Codes (NDC), medical claims via diagnoses with International Classification of Disease codes (ICD-10), CPT codes for procedures and treatments, laboratory records using logical observation identifiers, names, and codes (LOINC), demographics, and insurance eligibility information. Opioid and benzodiazepine UDT included drugs found in Appendix Table 1. LOINC records for any opioid or benzodiazepine UDT in 2018 were first selected (Appendix Table 3).

The cohort selection flowchart may be found in Table 4.1. UDT with interpretable alphabetic or numerical results were then selected and consolidated by date. Among these, records showing an opioid and benzodiazepine UDT on the same day were selected and defined as "concurrent UDT". An index UDT date was chosen per person, as the first occurrence of any positive concurrent UDT in 2018. Patients that did not have continuous insurance enrollment in the year prior to the index UDT date were excluded. Among eligible patients, those with missing information on demographics, age, sex and region were also excluded in the final sample.

Outcomes

Prescriber response to concurrent use was measured as an initiation or change in treatment, after observation of the concurrent use-positive UDT. The following outcomes were included 1) first provider office visit, 2) non-drug treatment initiation, 3) opioid discontinuation 4) benzodiazepine discontinuation, 5) initiation of opioid alternative, gabapentin or pregabalin (referred to in this study as GABA), and 6) initiation of a benzodiazepine alternative (SSRI or SNRI). The follow-up period for the first provider visit and non-drug treatment initiation was one year after the index UDT, while all other outcome measures were limited to 90 days post-UDT. Follow-up times of 365 days were also assessed as sensitivity analyses. We selected 90

days because approximately 99% of patients had their provider visit within 90 days (Figure 4.1 panel A). Additionally, changes in opioid and benzodiazepine dosage were described. For all outcomes, patients were right-censored if they did not have a treatment change or lost insurance coverage within the applicable follow-up period.

A composite outcome showing overlap between non-drug treatment, any opioid change and any benzodiazepine change was described using a Venn diagram (Figure 4.2). Patients who did not have 90 days of continuous eligibility after their index UDT were excluded. Opioid changes were considered as those discontinued from an opioid, had decreased MME, or initiated a GABA drug within 90 days after the index UDT. Similarly, benzodiazepine changes were defined as discontinuation, decreased DME, or initiation of an SSRI/SNRI within 90 days after UDT.

Provider office visits and non-drug treatments were defined using CPT codes (Appendix Table 7) and followed up for the first office visit or treatment date post-UDT. Non-drug treatment included physical or occupational therapy, cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), radiofrequency ablation (RFA), acupuncture, referral to a substance abuse rehabilitation program, and other less common treatments. A new GABA initiation was defined among patients that did not have a GABA prescription in the 90 days before the index UDT but initiated one within the 90 days in the follow-up period. SSRI/SNRI initiation was similarly defined.

Among a cohort of patients that had an opioid any time in the 90 days prior to their index UDT, opioid discontinuation was measure as no longer with an opioid prescription in the 90 days post-UDT. The discontinuation date was defined as the last date an opioid prescription was active, by adding the days of supply to the prescription fill date. Among those who still had opioid prescription in the 90-day follow-up period, opioid prescription change was measured as the daily MME decreased, increased or remained the same between the last prescription before the index UDT and the first prescription opioid after UDT within 90 days. MME was calculated using previously described methods.² Benzodiazepine changes were defined similarly for discontinuation and dosage change. Though there is disagreement on the use of benzodiazepine equivalence calculations, for research purposes, daily diazepam milligram equivalents (DME) were used to calculate dosage changes.^{20,21}

Independent Variables

Demographic variables included age (<50, 50-59, 60-69, ≥70), sex, and US Census region

(Northeast, West, Midwest, South). Clinical characteristics included depression, substance abuse, psychoses, and alcohol abuse diagnoses, Elixhauser comorbidities²² (0,1-2, 3-4, \geq 5) excluding the ones described above, prior concurrent use UDT (positive, negative, not tested) in the year before index UDT, the frequency of UDT in the 365 days prior to UDT (0,1, 2-3, \geq 4), and prior non-drug treatment (yes/no). Drug characteristics included a variable on duration and dosage of the opioid (no opioid, short-term and low-dose, short-term and high-dose, long-term and low-dose, or long-term and high-dose) in the year before, where long term indicates \geq 90 days of use and high dose indicates \geq 50 daily MME. We also identified GABA use (yes/no), SSRI/SNRI use (yes/no), opioid use (yes/no), benzodiazepine use (yes/no) in the 90 days before UDT, and daily DME (no benzodiazepine, <10, 10-20, or \geq 20 DME/day) of the last prescription within 90 days before UDT.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute v. 9.4, Cary, NC), using default settings unless otherwise stated, for generating descriptive statistics. Event-free survival curves were generated using the Kaplan Meier method. Multivariable Cox proportional hazard models were used to determine the time to an office visit, new treatment or drug initiation, or discontinuation among adults that tested positive for concurrent use, while controlling for independent variables previously described. The discrete method was used for handling ties, due to a large number of ties in time for each outcome. Two-tailed statistical tests were considered significant if the p-value was <0.05.

Results

A total of 12,493 patients who had concurrent UDT-positive results and all covariate information, were selected into the study (Table 4.1). Table 4.2 shows baseline patient characteristics of the total cohort. Most patients were over 50 years old (84.84%), female (63.96%), and residing in the South (58.19%). A large portion of patients had depression (43.41%) or SUD diagnoses (29.66%), while few had an alcohol abuse diagnosis (4.27%) or psychosis diagnosis (2.48%), and 1-2 other Elixhauser comorbidities (30.08%) in the year prior to their index UDT. Approximately 33.07% of patients had low dose/short-term opioid use in the year prior to UDT, while 25.09% had high dose and long-term opioid use. The number of UDT received in the year prior were approximately equally distributed (20.57–29.72%). Prior

83

concurrent use-positivity was only observed in 20.10%, while the majority was not tested for concurrent use (55.74%). Nearly all patients did not receive prior non-drug therapy (99.19%) in the year before index UDT. In the 90 days before UDT, most patients also did not have a GABA drug (68.72%), or SSRI/SNRI (58.22%), while the majority did have a benzodiazepine (77.96%) or opioid (87.10%) in this period (Table 4.2). Among patients taking a benzodiazepine in the 90 days prior, most had a daily dosage of \geq 10 DME.

Figure 4.1 displays Kaplan Meier estimated survival times for the outcomes measuring time to a provider office visit (panel A), non-drug treatment (panel B), opioid discontinuation (panel C), benzodiazepine discontinuation (panel D), initiation of a GABA drug (panel E), and initiation of a SSRI or SNRI (panel F). In the office visit cohort, nearly all patients received an office visit within 365 days of their concurrent use-positive UDT (Figure 4.1, Panel A). The mean time to a provider office visit post-UDT was 35.5 (standard error [SE], 0.4) days and median was 26 days (95% CI 25-26). Most patients saw primary care providers (56%); other specialties included pain medicine (11%), neurology (5.2%), and physical medicine and rehabilitation (4.2%) (Appendix Table 8). The rate of non-drug treatment was 13.29% within 90 days, 20.49% by 180 days, and 31.54% by 365 days post-UDT (Figure 4.1, Panel B). Among those that received non-drug treatments, the majority received physical or occupational therapy (46%), followed by referral to an addiction rehabilitation center (26%), while others received RFA (15%), massage therapy (5%), acupuncture (<1%), CBT (2%) or other methods (6%).

Few patients (4.01%) that had an opioid prescription prior to their index UDT (pre-UDT), were discontinued from it within the 90 days following UDT observation (post-UDT). MME was compared in the pre- and post-UDT period (Appendix Table 9). Most patients with continued opioid use had the same daily opioid dosage (53.54%) before and after UDT, 13.29% had increased daily MME, and 16.78% had decreased MME, of which only 2.8% decreased MME by 20% or less. More patients were discontinued from benzodiazepines (7.63%) than opioids (Figure 4.1, Panel D). Most patients did not have a change in daily dosage (57.78%), only 6.50% received an increase in daily DME, while 7.73% had reduced daily DME, after concurrent use-positive UDT was observed (Appendix Table 9).

Initiation of opioid drug alternatives also showed relatively few patients received an alternative drug; 8.11% of patients initiated a GABA within 90 days after UDT (Figure 4.1, Panel E).

Comparatively, 10.0% of patients initiated a SSRI/SNRI within 90 days after UDT (Figure 4.1, Panel F). Among the 1,611 patients that did not receive an opioid prescription in the 90 days before their index UDT, 21.10% received a prescription post-UDT. Similarly, of the 2,754 patients without a benzodiazepine pre-UDT, 24.40% received one after UDT results were observed.

85

Among 11,987 patients with 90-day continuous enrollment post-UDT, 71.06% did not receive any treatment change, while only 28.94% did (Figure 4.2). Most of these were non-drug therapy initiation only (34.12%), followed by opioid changes (28.34%) or benzodiazepine changes (22.72%) only. The remaining 14.82% received treatment changes from multiple categories, of which only 1% (n=37) received all three.

Our sensitivity analyses showed the rate of opioid discontinuation, benzo discontinuation, GABA initiation, and SSRI/SNRI initiation were 4.42%, 8.62%, 9.32%, and 11.40%, respectively, at 1 year of follow-up. These results did not differ a lot from the rates at 90 days.

Multivariable Cox models

Table 4.3 shows multivariable hazard ratios (HR) for associations between each independent variable and all outcomes, while controlling for all other covariates. In the provider visit cohort, the rate of office visits was slightly lower in males than females (HR 0.95 95% CI: 0.91-0.99), and in those that tested positive or negative for concurrent use, compared to those not tested. However, office visits were especially higher among patients with \geq 5 Elixhauser comorbidities (HR 1.73 95% CI 1.62-1.84), a depression diagnosis (HR 1.11 95% CI: 1.07-1.16), having any opioid use (HR 1.21 95% CI: 1.13-1.30, high-dose/long term), and having at least 1 UDT in the previous year (HR 1.52 95% CI: 1.43-1.62, \geq 4 UDT).

In the non-drug treatment cohort, as age group increased, the rate of non-drug therapy decreased (HR 0.72, 95% CI 0.65-0.81, age \geq 70), and was 20% lower in males compared to females. Non-drug treatment rates were also lower in the South (HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.70-0.92), in patients with high dose/long-term opioid use (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.76-0.99), and in those previously testing positive for concurrent use (HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.80-0.95). Increased rates of non-drug therapies were observed in those with Elixhauser comorbidities \geq 5, depression, alcohol abuse, psychoses, and those with a frequency of prior year UDT \geq 2.

Rates of opioid discontinuation decreased with age (HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.51-0.93, \geq 70 years old) and was lower in patients residing in the South, West, having 2-3 UDT, and among those with any opioid use, especially those with high dose/long-term use (HR 0.17, 95% CI 0.12-0.23). On the other hand, patients were more likely to be discontinued from opioids if they were male (HR 1.26, 95% CI 1.03-1.54), or had a substance abuse, or alcohol abuse diagnosis (ex. HR 1.61, 95% CI 1.08-2.39). Similarly, patients were more likely to be discontinued from benzodiazepines if they were male, and less likely if they had any opioid dosage or duration. In the benzodiazepine discontinuation cohort however, age was not an important predictor, and those in the South were twice as likely to be discontinued (HR 2.02, 95% CI 1.21-3.36). Other important predictors included depression and substance abuse diagnoses, and prior positive UDT for concurrent use, which were all associated with lower rates of benzodiazepine discontinuation (HR 0.53, 95% CI 0.39-0.72, prior concurrent-positive).

86

In the GABA initiation cohort, rates of new gabapentin or pregabalin prescriptions were higher among patients with Elixhauser comorbidities \geq 5 (HR 1.44, 95% CI 1.11-1.87), psychoses (HR 1.50, 95% CI 1.01-2.21) and those with any opioid use (HR 2.27, 95% CI 1.56-3.31, high dose/long-term). Important predictors associated with decreased rates of SSRI/SNRI initiation included age 60-69 and \geq 70, male sex, and prior concurrent use-positivity (ex. HR 0.76, 95% CI 0.61-0.93, prior concurrent-positive UDT). In contrast, SSRI/SNRI initiation was greater among patients with depression (HR 2.02, 95% CI 1.73-2.37) and any opioid use regardless of dose and duration (HR 2.08, 95% CI 1.50-2.88).

Discussion

In this study of concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine users in 2018, most patients received a provider office visit within one year after providers observed concurrent use-positive UDT results. However less patients received non-drug treatment alternatives, and few initiated a GABA, or SSRI/SNRI within 90 days of UDT result observations. Opioids or benzodiazepines were also found to be discontinued at low rates. The overall rate of any provider response within 90 days was also low, just under 30%. The high rate of patients seeing their provider after their concurrent use-positive results indicates that providers have an opportunity to discuss options with their patients, while the low rates of treatment changes or initiation show that these are not implemented as frequently, or soon enough after UDT.

Alternative treatment initiation

Approximately 31% of patients initiated alternative therapy within one year post-UDT, which may be aimed at addressing chronic pain or mental disorders, to replace the need for opioids and/or benzodiazepines, respectively. This is a low response rate considering the risks associated with concurrent use, and benefits of using non-opioid or non-drug treatment. A recent, large study of Veterans showed that patients receiving care from facilities with higher non-drug therapy use or non-opioid drug use, were less likely to initiate a long-term opioid in the following year, thus lessening their risk of overdose or death.²³ Because opioids have not been shown to be more effective than non-opioid drugs or therapy options, the CDC recommends that clinicians provide other treatment options first, before initiating an opioid.^{2,24} It is possible that patients tried non-drug treatments that were not covered by their insurance and not captured in CDM data, such as self-care methods of exercise or meditation. A study of 936 veterans found that approximately 20% used relaxation techniques, yoga or tai chi as their non-pharmacological therapy for chronic pain,²⁵ while another study found that up to 50.9% used exercise as their mode of chronic pain treatment.²⁶

87

In multivariable analysis (Table 4.3), males, older patients, high dose/long term opioid users, and those with prior concurrent use were less likely to initiate non-drug treatment. Patients on longterm/high dose opioids and those with prior concurrent use had lower rates of new non-drug treatment likely because prolonged use of opioids and continued concurrent use status delay or prevent initiation of other therapies. Patients may have already become accustomed to opioid use, making it difficult to switch to other treatment options. However, given the known risks of concurrent use, in such cases it may be more beneficial to offer non-drug therapy sooner, and begin decreasing opioid dosage to taper patients off the drug completely, followed by the benzodiazepine if necessary. Rates of non-drug treatment were increased in patients with greater comorbidities, depression, alcohol abuse, psychoses and UDT frequency, which could be due to the greater likelihood these patients see providers and therefore have more opportunity to receive other treatments. Patients in the South also received non-drug treatment at lower rates, potentially highlighting the fact that mental illness rates are highest in the Southern regions and may require continued concurrent use;²⁷ A recent study also showed patients residing in the South were less likely to receive non-pharmacological treatment, however the association was not significant.²⁵ Other recent reports show the West, and more so the South, have the lowest

concentration of physical/occupational therapists per 100,000 people, which may partly explain the association 88etweenn non-pharmacological therapy with these regions.^{28,29}

Opioid and benzodiazepine prescription changes

The relatively low rate of opioid discontinuation is expected, as is the majority of patients remaining on opioids;³⁰ the rate of patients receiving opioid dosage reductions was comparable to a previous study.³¹ Males and patients with substance or alcohol abuse disorders were discontinued at greater rates, which has also been previously shown.³² Older patients and those with higher dosage and duration of opioids were discontinued at lower rates than younger, as expected,²⁶ however the association the South and West region was less understood; it may be partly due to the higher likelihood of continuing opioid use or having concurrent use, in these regions.^{27,32,33} Patients on high-dose or long-term opioids should not be immediately discontinued, rather they should slowly be tapered off an opioid at around 10-25% daily MME per week,² therefore the decreased rate of opioid discontinuation in high dose/long-term individuals, compared to short-term/low-dose individuals was expected. In approximately 13% of patients, opioid MME was increased after concurrent use UDT was observed; it may be that patients did not feel adequately treated due to disease progression, or developed tolerance for their previous dosage, two common reasons for opioid dose escalation.³⁴ One study also found that 25% of opioid dose increases had no documented prescribing rationale.³⁵ On the other hand, approximately 14% of patients had reduced opioid dosage post-UDT (>20% MME reduction), similar to a recent study showing 23.1% had reduced opioid dosage;³¹ the lower rate in this study is likely due to the higher MME reduction cutoff and shorter follow up period. The observation that opioid discontinuation rates were lower than MME reduction rates suggests that provider response generally adheres to recommendations for the high-risk group included in this cohort.

The rate of benzodiazepine discontinuation was slightly higher than opioid discontinuation (7.63%). In multivariable analysis, the benzodiazepine discontinuation model showed some similar and conflicting predictors as in the opioid discontinuation model. Because benzodiazepine withdrawal symptoms are worse than those experiencing opioid withdrawal, the CDC recommends first tapering an opioid until it is discontinued, and then slowly tapering the benzodiazepine; abruptly discontinuing a benzodiazepine, puts patients at risk of rebounding anxiety, hallucinations, and sometimes death.² Important predictors that increased the rate of

88

benzodiazepine discontinuation included male sex, and residence in the West. Unlike the opioid discontinuation cohort, patients with depression or substance abuse disorder were less likely to be discontinued from a benzodiazepine. This may be because it is safer for patients to be tapered from an opioid first, then slowly discontinuing their benzodiazepine as needed. Some patients (6.50%) had an increase in benzodiazepine DME, which is somewhat unexpected given that it is uncommon for daily-use benzodiazepine dosage to be increased, as these usually have an intermediate or slow-release onset.³⁶ These patients may be increasing dosage due to tolerance after long-term use or disease progression, for example if depression symptoms worsen. The 7.32% of patients showing a >20% DME decrease represents those who switched from higher dose benzodiazepines to lower, or perhaps switching between benzodiazepines with different DME, as commonly done before tapering.³⁷

Alternative drug initiation

Gabapentin and pregabalin, and SSRIs/SNRIs have generally been considered safer alternatives for opioids and benzodiazepines, respectively, and are recommended in place of either or both drugs, to avoid concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use. However, there is growing concern whether GABA drugs are truly safer than opioids to use.^{38,39} The 8.11% initiation rate was similar to a recent report's rate of the same year (10.9%),¹¹⁰ and somewhat lower than rates of another study (15%);¹³ the slightly lower rate of this study may be due to its measure of new initiations, rather than counting any current gabapentinoid prescriptions. Significant factors that were associated with increased rates of GABA initiation included having \geq 5 Elixhauser comorbidities, consistent with previous literature.⁴⁰ Other important factors included psychosis diagnosis and any opioid use; the association of GABA drug initiation with psychosis may be due to the sedating effect of GABA on the nervous system, that mimics anti-psychotic treatment, as demonstrated in a small pilot study,⁴¹ however, greater evidence is needed to prove its effectiveness for psychoses. Because GABA drugs are an alternative often used in place of opioids, it is expected that patients on opioids would be more likely to initiate a new GABA drug as observed,¹³ however it is not understood why rates did not differ by opioid dose and duration.

The 10% initiation rate of SSRI/SNRIs of this study was similar to another study's findings in the same year 2018.⁴² Independent variables that increased rates of SSRI/SNRI initiation included depression diagnosis and any opioid use, though there was little variation by opioid

89

dosage and duration. These results are expected and indicate that providers offer patients benzodiazepine alternatives when they are on opioids, however the overall rate of patients receiving such alternatives was only 16%. On the other hand, prior concurrent use positivity, male sex, and age ≥ 60 was associated with lower rates of SSRI/SNRI initiation. It may be that patients with continued concurrent use were captured in this cohort, who may find it challenging to switch to a benzodiazepine alternative due to their dependence on it and difficulty of weaning off a benzodiazepine.² Although the time to initiating an opioid or benzodiazepine alternative in both cohorts was relatively quick among those recipients, rates were low.

Overall rates of non-drug treatment, alternative drug initiation or opioid/benzodiazepine discontinuation within each cohort and as a whole were low, and may have several reasons. One possibility is that providers may take care to avoid severe withdrawal symptoms by avoiding sudden discontinuation of either an opioid or benzodiazepine. Another reason is that providers are being cautious with how they interpret UDT; they could benefit from assistance with result interpretation⁴³ to avoid restricting a prescription, and unnecessarily affecting patients based on erroneous readings. The use of diagnostic management teams (DMTs) may be a helpful resource in correct UDT interpretation, in which a group of medical experts consider the full clinical picture of a patient when selecting and interpreting laboratory tests. Because of potential falsepositives and interference from other medications or supplements, unexpected opioid or benzodiazepine positivity in UDT upon first observation should therefore not immediately warrant discontinuation or prescriptions changes, but should at least be discussed with patients, to adapt treatment plans if needed. However, because prior concurrent use significantly reduced rates of non-drug treatment initiation, benzodiazepine discontinuation and SSRI/SNRI initiation, there is concern that providers are delayed in taking steps towards decreasing or preventing concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use, despite the strong evidence that reinforces its unsustainability and harmful effects.

This study may be improved if reproduced using multiple aberrant UDT observations. Previous studies have also used single^{15,18,44}, or "at least one" aberrant UDT⁴⁵ to assess similar outcomes, though it may be more appropriate to include multiple UDT showing consistent results, to better gauge patient use and associated provider response. Additionally, the use of electronic health record (EHR) data may fill some of the gaps of insurance claims data, including more detailed

90

information on patient demographics, provider notes after consulting with patients, and more complete information on lab testing, such as repeat screening, or confirmatory testing, in response to potentially-aberrant screening results.

Future research could examine the initiation of medication-assisted treatment (MAT) as an outcome, which was not included in this study and may have underestimated prescriber response. MAT drugs, methadone, buprenorphine, or naltrexone may be prescribed to help patients with opioid use disorder recover and may have been an indication of provider response.

Other important studies that would further our understanding of patient outcomes associated with UDT could focus on determining characteristics and specialties of providers that have made changes in response to UDT results. Because providers included in this study may vary greatly in their educational background, training and specialty, their attitude towards the use of UDT and how to respond to aberrant results will also vary. Understanding this variation could allow for the development of training programs and potential guidelines specific to increasing the use of UDT (or using more efficiently) that could help standardize the implementation of UDT related to pain management.

Limitations

Alternative treatments or drugs that are not covered by insurance were not captured, such as over-the-counter medication that providers may have suggested for patients to take in place of opioids and/or benzodiazepines. Similarly, for patients that may have had few or no comorbidities, provider suggestions to begin a "self-care" routine such as self-guided meditation, or exercise regimens would also not be captured, although there is a lack of definitive evidence on the effectiveness of such methods.⁴⁶ Provider response in this study was based on a single observation of concurrent-positive UDT, rather than multiple lab results consistently showing aberrant behavior. Numerous guidelines suggest the use of UDT to assess patients for drug use, however the guidance on how providers approach aberrant UDT is limited to recommendations of using individualized judgement to determine treatment changes, if any. One UDT may not have been enough in this case for some providers to take action, while others may have used the index UDT with prior history to change treatment.

91

It is also important to note that individuals included in this study may be differentially selected, as patients diagnosed with depression or drug abuse are more likely to receive UDT.¹⁰ It is also possible that discontinuation results were overestimated; if patients did not get a new prescription after their index UDT or for example, if an opioid or benzodiazepine prescription were intended to be taken "as needed" and captured in the pre-UDT period, it would also appear as a discontinuation. Important variables such as race/ethnicity and other socioeconomic status variables could not be studied using CDM data. Finally, provider characteristics' impact on outcomes could not be studied, such as provider intent, as previously done through patient chart studies.^{18,47} It is assumed that each outcome is a result of providers observing concurrent use positivity, however it is possible that other motives for observed drug initiation or changes exist.

Conclusion

Among patients with UDT positive for concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use in 2018, almost all patients followed up with a doctor's office visit, however only 28.94% received any treatment changes within 90 days of UDT observation. Because long-term opioid use and prior concurrent use generally decreased occurrences of treatment changes, this may highlight a need to focus future care on preventive measures at earlier stages, before opioid use and/or concurrent use is established.

References

- Manchikanti L, Kaye AM, Knezevic NN, et al. Responsible, Safe, and Effective Prescription of Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain: American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) Guidelines. *Pain Physician*. Feb 2017;20(2s):S3-s92.
- Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain—United States, 2016. Jama. Apr 19 2016;315(15):1624-45. Doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Guidelines for the Chronic Use of Opioid Analgesics. Federation of State Medical Boards. <u>https://www.fsmb.org/siteassets/advocacy/policies/opioid_guidelines_as_adopted_april</u> <u>-2017_final.pdf</u>
- Park TW, Saitz R, Ganoczy D, Ilgen MA, Bohnert AS. Benzodiazepine prescribing patterns and deaths from drug overdose among US veterans receiving opioid analgesics: casecohort study. *BMJ*. Jun 10 2015;350:h2698. Doi:10.1136/bmj.h2698
- Sun EC, Dixit A, Humphreys K, Darnall BD, Baker LC, Mackey S. Association between concurrent use of prescription opioids and benzodiazepines and overdose: retrospective analysis. *BMJ*. Mar 14 2017;356:j760. Doi:10.1136/bmj.j760
- Edlund MJ, Martin BC, Russo JE, DeVries A, Braden JB, Sullivan MD. The Role of Opioid Prescription in Incident Opioid Abuse and Dependence Among Individuals With Chronic Noncancer Pain: The Role of Opioid Prescription. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*. 2014;30(7)
- Bhamb B, Brown D, Hariharan J, Anderson J, Balousek S, Fleming MF. Survey of select practice behaviors by primary care physicians on the use of opioids for chronic pain. *Curr Med Res Opin.* Sep 2006;22(9):1859-65. Doi:10.1185/030079906X132398
- Starrels JL, Becker WC, Weiner MG, Li X, Heo M, Turner BJ. Low use of opioid risk reduction strategies in primary care even for high risk patients with chronic pain. *J Gen Intern Med.* Sep 2011;26(9):958-64. Doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1648-2
- Zgierska AE, Vidaver RM, Smith P, et al. Enhancing system-wide implementation of opioid prescribing guidelines in primary care: protocol for a stepped-wedge quality improvement project. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 06 2018;18(1):415. Doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3227-2

- Taha SA, Westra JR, Raji MA, Kuo YF. Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-term Opioid Users, 2012-2018. Am J Prev Med. Dec 4 2020;doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.10.011
- Turner JA, Saunders K, Shortreed SM, et al. Chronic opioid therapy urine drug testing in primary care: prevalence and predictors of aberrant results. *J Gen Intern Med*. Dec 2014;29(12):1663-71. Doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3010-y
- 12. Ladapo JA, Larochelle MR, Chen A, et al. Physician Prescribing of Opioids to Patients at Increased Risk of Overdose From Benzodiazepine Use in the United States. JAMA Psychiatry. 06 01 2018;75(6):623-630. Doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0544
- 13. Esechie A, Kuo Y-F, Goodwin JS, Westra J, Raji MA. Trends in prescribing pattern of opioid and benzodiazepine substitutes among Medicare part D beneficiaries from 2013 to 2018: a retrospective study. *BMJ Open*. 2021;11(11):e053487. Doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053487
- 14. (LRx) I-UPC. Prescription Opioid Trends in the United States: Measuring and understanding progress in the opioid crisis. IQVIA Institute. <u>https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqviainstitute/reports/prescription-opioid-trends-in-the-united-states</u>
- 15. Hosain F, Lee J, Ata A, Bhullar RK, Chang AK. Physician Renewal of Chronically Prescribed Controlled Substances Based on Urine Drug Test Results. *J Prim Care Community Health*. 2019 Jan-Dec 2019;10:2150132719883632. Doi:10.1177/2150132719883632
- 16. Jamison RN, Martel MO, Edwards RR, Qian J, Sheehan KA, Ross EL. Validation of a brief Opioid Compliance Checklist for patients with chronic pain. *J Pain*. Nov 2014;15(11):1092-1101. Doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2014.07.007
- 17. Couto JE, Romney MC, Leider HL, Sharma S, Goldfarb NI. High rates of inappropriate drug use in the chronic pain population. *Popul Health Manag*. Aug 2009;12(4):185-90. Doi:10.1089/pop.2009.0015
- Morasco BJ, Krebs EE, Adams MH, Hyde S, Zamudio J, Dobscha SK. Clinician Response to Aberrant Urine Drug Test Results of Patients Prescribed Opioid Therapy for Chronic Pain. *Clin J Pain*. 01 2019;35(1):1-6. Doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000652

- 19. FDA requires strong warnings for opioid analgesics, prescription opioid cough products, and benzodiazepine labeling related to serious risks and death from combined use. [press release]. US Food and Drug Administration; 2016.
- 20. Ashton H. Benzodiazepine Dependency and Withdrawal. Accessed March 27, 2022, https://www.benzo.org.uk/FAQ1.1.htm#20
- 21. Borrelli EP, Bratberg J, Hallowell BD, Greaney ML, Kogut SJ. Application of a diazepam milligram equivalency algorithm to assess benzodiazepine dose intensity in Rhode Island in 2018. *J Manag Care Spec Pharm.* Jan 2022;28(1):58-68. Doi:10.18553/jmcp.2022.28.1.58
- 22. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. *Med Care*. Jan 1998;36(1):8-27. Doi:10.1097/00005650-199801000-00004
- 23. Carey EP, Nolan C, Kerns RD, Ho PM, Frank JW. Association Between Facility-Level Utilization of Non-pharmacologic Chronic Pain Treatment and Subsequent Initiation of Long-Term Opioid Therapy. J Gen Intern Med. 05 2018;33(Suppl 1):38-45. Doi:10.1007/s11606-018-4324-y
- 24. Krebs EE, Gravely A, Nugent S, et al. Effect of Opioid vs Nonopioid Medications on Pain-Related Function in Patients With Chronic Back Pain or Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis Pain: The SPACE Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA*. 03 06 2018;319(9):872-882. Doi:10.1001/jama.2018.0899
- 25. Mannes ZL, Stohl M, Fink DS, et al. Non-pharmacological Treatment for Chronic Pain in US Veterans Treated Within the Veterans Health Administration: Implications for Expansion in US Healthcare Systems. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jan 19 2022;doi:10.1007/s11606-021-07370-8
- 26. Edmond SN, Becker WC, Driscoll MA, et al. Use of Non-Pharmacological Pain Treatment Modalities Among Veterans with Chronic Pain: Results from a Cross-Sectional Survey. *J Gen Intern Med.* 05 2018;33(Suppl 1):54-60. Doi:10.1007/s11606-018-4322-0
- 27. Lipari RN, Van Horn SL, Hughes A, Williams M. State and Substate Estimates of Serious Mental Illness from the 2012–2014 National Surveys on Drug Use and Health. *The CBHSQ Report*. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 2013:1-19.

- 28. APTA Physical Therapy Workforce Analysis: A Report From the American Physical Therapy Association. 2020. Accessed October 2022. <u>https://www.apta.org/contentassets/5997bfa5c8504df789fe4f1c01a717eb/apta-</u> workforce-analysis-2020.pdf
- 29. Lo DY, Pine DM, Janiga NJ. 2020 Outlook: Physical Therapy Clinics and Centers. Healthcare Appraisers Inc; 2020. P. 11.
- 30. Martin BC, Fan MY, Edlund MJ, Devries A, Braden JB, Sullivan MD. Long-term chronic opioid therapy discontinuation rates from the TROUP study. *J Gen Intern Med*. Dec 2011;26(12):1450-7. Doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1771-0
- 31. Fenton JJ, Agnoli AL, Xing G, et al. Trends and Rapidity of Dose Tapering Among Patients Prescribed Long-term Opioid Therapy, 2008-2017. JAMA Netw Open. 11 01 2019;2(11):e1916271. Doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.16271
- 32. Minegishi T, Garrido MM, Stein M, Oliva EM, Frakt AB. Opioid Discontinuation Among Patients Receiving High-Dose Long-Term Opioid Therapy in the Veterans Health Administration. J Gen Intern Med. 12 2020;35(Suppl 3):903-909. Doi:10.1007/s11606-020-06252-9
- 33. Vadiei N, Bhattacharjee S. Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Utilization Patterns and Predictors Among Community-Dwelling Adults in the United States. *Psychiatr Serv*. 10 01 2020;71(10):1011-1019. Doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900446
- 34. Buntin-Mushock C, Phillip L, Moriyama K, Palmer PP. Age-dependent opioid escalation in chronic pain patients. *Anesth Analg.* Jun 2005;100(6):1740-1745. Doi:10.1213/01.ANE.0000152191.29311.9B
- 35. Bautista CA, Iosif AM, Wilsey BL, Melnikow JA, Crichlow A, Henry SG. Factors Associated with Opioid Dose Increases: A Chart Review of Patients' First Year on Long-Term Opioids. *Pain Med.* 05 01 2017;18(5):908-916. Doi:10.1093/pm/pnw185
- 36. Baldwin DS. Clinical management of withdrawal from benzodiazepine anxiolytic and hypnotic medications. *Addiction*. May 2022;117(5):1472-1482. Doi:10.1111/add.15695
- 37. Brett J, Murnion B. Management of benzodiazepine misuse and dependence. *Aust Prescr.* Oct 2015;38(5):152-5. Doi:10.18773/austprescr.2015.055

- 38. Kuehn BM. Growing Role of Gabapentin in Opioid-Related Overdoses Highlights Misuse Potential and Off-label Prescribing Practices. JAMA. Sep 07 2022;doi:10.1001/jama.2022.13659
- 39. Kuo YF, Liaw V, Yu X, Raji MA. Opioid and Benzodiazepine Substitutes: Impact on Drug Overdose Mortality in Medicare Population. Am J Med. 07 2022;135(7):e194-e206. Doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2022.02.039
- 40. Pauly NJ, Delcher C, Slavova S, Lindahl E, Talbert J, Freeman PR. Trends in Gabapentin Prescribing in a Commercially Insured U.S. Adult Population, 2009-2016. J Manag Care Spec Pharm. Mar 2020;26(3):246-252. Doi:10.18553/jmcp.2020.26.3.246
- 41. Gabriel A. Gabapentin adjunctive to risperidone or olanzapine in partially responsive schizophrenia: an open-label pilot study. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. Oct 29 2010;6:711-7. Doi:10.2147/NDT.S13407
- 42. Milani SA, Raji MA, Chen L, Kuo YF. Trends in the Use of Benzodiazepines, Z-Hypnotics, and Serotonergic Drugs Among US Women and Men Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Netw Open. 10 01 2021;4(10):e2131012. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.31012
- 43. Chua I, Petrides AK, Schiff GD, et al. Provider Misinterpretation, Documentation, and Follow-Up of Definitive Urine Drug Testing Results. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jan 2020;35(1):283-290. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05514-5
- 44. Gupta A, Patton C, Diskina D, Cheatle M. Retrospective review of physician opioid prescribing practices in patients with aberrant behaviors. Pain Physician. 2011 Jul-Aug;14(4):383-9. PMID: 21785482.
- 45. Wyse JJ, Morasco BJ, Dobscha SK, et al. Provider reasons for discontinuing long-term opioid therapy following aberrant urine drug tests differ based on the type of substance identified. Journal of Opioid Management. 2018 Jul/Aug;14(4):295-303. DOI: 10.5055/jom.2018.0461. PMID: 30234926; PMCID: PMC8011997.
- 46. Bawa FL, Mercer SW, Atherton RJ, et al. Does mindfulness improve outcomes in patients with chronic pain? Systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Gen Pract. Jun 2015;65(635):e387-400. Doi:10.3399/bjgp15X685297

47. Morasco BJ, Krebs EE, Cavanagh R, Hyde S, Crain A, Dobscha SK. Treatment changes following aberrant urine drug test results for patients prescribed chronic opioid therapy. J Opioid Manag. 2015 Jan-Feb 2015;11(1):45-51. Doi:10.5055/jom.2015.0251

Selection Criteria	n
Opioid UDT total LOINC	3,581,014
UDT records with results	2,865,811
UDT consolidated ^a	223,489
Benzo UDT total LOINC	1,485,706
UDT records with results	1,156,376
UDT consolidated ^a	199,097
Concurrent UDT consolidated ^a	195,959
Total Positive Concurrent UDT	26,068
Select UDT ^b	17,711
One-year continuous enrollment prior to index UDT date	12,936
Total cohort with all covariate information	12,493

99

 Table 4.1. Selection of Adults with UDT Positive for Concurrent Use, 2018

^a Concurrent tests were consolidated by UDT date; whether a patient received a panel for multiple drugs or a single test, it was counted once per day.

^b If there were multiple, positive concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine UDT, the first UDT date was chosen.

	Total	Total cohort					
Characteristics	(n=1)	2,493)					
	n	%					
Age							
<50	1,894	15.16					
50-59	3,102	24.83					
60-69	4,103	32.84					
≥70	3,394	27.17					
Sex							
Female	7,990	63.96					
Male	4,503	36.04					
Region							
Northeast	766	6.13					
Midwest	3,035	24.29					
West	1,422	11.38					
South	7,270	58.19					
Elixhauser Score							
0	2,107	16.87					
1-2	3,758	30.08					
3-4	3,299	26.41					
5+	3,329	26.65					
Depression							
No	7,070	56.59					
Yes	5,423	43.41					
Substance Abuse							
No	8,788	70.34					
Yes	3,705	29.66					
Alcohol abuse							
No	11,960	95.73					
Yes	533	4.27					
Psychoses							
No	12,183	97.52					
Yes	310	2.48					
Opioid Dosage and Duration ^a							
No opioid	1,267	10.14					
Low dose, short-term	4,132	33.07					
Low dose, long-term	2,082	16.67					

 Table 4.2. Baseline Pre-UDT Patient Characteristics Among the Total Cohort

High dose, short-term	1,877	15.02
High dose, long-term	3,135	25.09
Benzodiazepine DME ^c		
No benzodiazepine	2,754	22.04
<10 DME/day	2,879	23.04
10-20 DME/day	3,763	30.12
≥20 DME/day	3,097	24.79
Number of UDT		
0	3,060	24.49
1	3,150	25.21
2-3	3,713	29.72
≥4	2,570	20.57
Prior concurrent use		
No	3,019	24.17
Yes	2,511	20.10
Not tested	6,963	55.74
Prior non-drug therapy		
No	12,392	99.19
Yes	101	0.81
Prior GABA use ^b		
No	8,585	68.72
Yes	3,908	31.28
Prior SSRI/SNRI use ^b		
No	7,273	58.22
Yes	5,220	41.78
Prior Benzodiazepine use ^b		
No	2,754	22.04
Yes	9,739	77.96
Prior Opioid use ^b		
No	1,611	12.90
Yes	10,882	87.10

^a Low dose: <50 daily MME, high dose: ≥50 daily MME, short-term: <90 days opioid use, long-term: ≥90 days of opioid use, in the year prior to index UDT

^b prescriptions within the 90 days prior to the index UDT

^c DME: diazepam milligram equivalents, measured in the last benzodiazepine prescription before the index UDT. Prescriptions ending earlier than 90 days before the index UDT were not counted.

Figure 4.1. Panel of graphs estimating the time to A) the first office visit, B) new non-drug treatment, C) Opioid Discontinuation, D) Benzodiazepine Discontinuation, E) new Gabapentin/Pregabalin, or F) new SSRI/SNRI.





Fig. 4.1 shows Kaplan Meier curves for treatment change outcomes. The Y-axes of panels C-F were adjusted for clarity.



Figure 4.2. Venn Diagram showing Overlap of Non-Drug Treatment, Opioid Changes and Benzodiazepine Changes

Fig. 4.2: Among the 11,987 patients with 90-day continuous enrollment after index UDT, 71.06% did not receive a treatment change (n=8,518). Of the 28.94% (n=3,469) that did have a treatment change, most were non-drug therapies only (34.12%), followed by prescription opioid changes (28.34%) or benzodiazepine changes (22.72%) only. 14.82% received multiple treatment changes.

	Non-drug		Opioid		Benzodiazepine			GABA			SSRI/SNRI				
Variables	T	reatme	nt	Disc	continua	ation	Disc	ontinua	ation	i	nitiatio	n	iı	nitiatio	n
	HR	95%	ό CI	HR	95%	6 CI	HR	95% CI		HR	95% CI		HR	IR 95% CI	
Age															
<50		REF			REF			REF			REF			REF	
50-59	0.89	0.80	0.98	0.71	0.52	0.95	0.80	0.59	1.09	1.25	0.97	1.61	0.91	0.73	1.14
60-69	0.80	0.73	0.89	0.75	0.57	0.99	0.87	0.64	1.16	0.93	0.72	1.20	0.79	0.63	0.98
≥70	0.72	0.65	0.81	0.69	0.51	0.93	0.86	0.63	1.19	0.94	0.72	1.23	0.69	0.54	0.88
Sex															
Female		REF			REF			REF			REF			REF	
Male	0.80	0.75	0.86	1.26	1.03	1.54	1.27	1.04	1.56	0.90	0.77	1.06	0.63	0.53	0.74
Region															
Northeast		REF			REF			REF			REF			REF	
Midwest	0.95	0.81	1.11	0.68	0.43	1.07	1.28	0.73	2.25	1.21	0.77	1.88	1.07	0.72	1.60
South	0.80	0.70	0.92	0.61	0.41	0.90	1.22	0.74	2.01	1.42	0.97	2.10	1.15	0.81	1.63
West	0.91	0.79	1.05	0.62	0.41	0.93	2.02	1.21	3.36	1.46	0.98	2.19	1.11	0.77	1.61
Elixhauser Score															
0		REF			REF			REF			REF			REF	
1-2	0.86	0.78	0.96	1.01	0.75	1.34	0.92	0.68	1.24	0.96	0.75	1.23	0.80	0.63	1.01
3-4	1.05	0.94	1.17	0.80	0.58	1.09	0.96	0.70	1.32	1.09	0.84	1.41	0.95	0.75	1.21
5+	1.16	1.03	1.29	0.72	0.51	1.00	1.22	0.89	1.69	1.44	1.11	1.87	1.02	0.79	1.31
Depression															
No		REF			REF			REF			REF			REF	

 Table 4.3. Multivariable Associations of Patient, Drug or Clinical Characteristics and Provider Response Outcomes

Yes	1.26	1.18	1.35	1.22	0.99	1.50	0.76	0.61	0.94	1.11	0.95	1.31	2.02	1.73	2.37
Substance Abuse															
No		REF													
Yes	0.98	0.91	1.06	1.28	1.03	1.60	0.74	0.58	0.93	1.14	0.96	1.35	1.15	0.97	1.35
Alcohol abuse															
No		REF													
Yes	1.22	1.06	1.42	1.61	1.08	2.39	0.89	0.54	1.45	1.36	0.98	1.88	0.81	0.55	1.19
Psychoses															
No		REF													
Yes	1.32	1.10	1.57	1.57	0.97	2.56	0.91	0.48	1.69	1.50	1.01	2.21	1.07	0.68	1.68
Opioid Dosage and															
Duration ^a															
No opioid		REF			N/A			REF			REF			REF	
Low dose, short-term	1.13	1.00	1.27		REF		0.43	0.29	0.64	2.82	1.97	4.04	2.63	1.93	3.58
Low dose, long-term	0.93	0.81	1.06	0.43	0.32	0.56	0.29	0.18	0.44	2.62	1.79	3.85	2.16	1.54	3.02
High dose, short-term	0.99	0.86	1.13	0.28	0.20	0.39	0.42	0.27	0.64	2.92	1.99	4.29	2.34	1.65	3.30
High dose, long-term	0.87	0.76	0.99	0.17	0.12	0.23	0.36	0.24	0.54	2.27	1.56	3.31	2.08	1.50	2.88
Number of UDT															
0		REF													
1	0.96	0.87	1.06	0.86	0.67	1.11	1.38	1.03	1.84	0.89	0.72	1.11	0.88	0.71	1.08
2-3	1.12	1.02	1.24	0.55	0.41	0.74	1.42	1.06	1.91	1.03	0.83	1.29	0.88	0.71	1.08
≥4	1.29	1.16	1.43	0.98	0.72	1.33	1.38	0.99	1.92	1.06	0.83	1.36	0.88	0.69	1.11
Prior concurrent use															
Not tested		REF													

Yes	0.87	0.80	0.95	0.81	0.61	1.08	0.53	0.39	0.72	0.85	0.69	1.05	0.76	0.61	0.93
No	0.95	0.87	1.03	1.03	0.80	1.32	1.25	0.99	1.58	1.07	0.88	1.29	0.85	0.71	1.03

Abbreviations: REF: reference group; N/A: not applicable

^a Low dose: <50 daily MME, high dose: ≥50 daily MME, short-term: <90 days opioid use, long-term: ≥90 days of opioid use

Chapter 5 Conclusions

By the end of 2019, nearly 16% of opioid-related overdose deaths in the US also involved the use of benzodiazepines.¹¹² Concurrent use of opioids and benzodiazepines is associated with an increased risk of overdose death, respiratory suppression, development of substance abuse disorder, falls, and other adverse events.^{12,29,32,33} Because neither drug is considered a first line of treatment, and alternative medication or therapy is available, combined use is especially advised against when possible.^{22,34,35}

The increased risk of substance use disorder that comes with concurrent use, often also leads to suicide ideation and development of mental illnesses.¹¹³ In 2018, approximately 19 million adolescents and adults needed substance abuse treatment, but only 1.4% received it. As rates of addiction, prescription misuse, and illicit drug abuse cases remain high in the US, while substance abuse treatment resources remain underused, prevention of new substance abuse cases becomes even more important, to limit the worsening direct and unintended effects of the opioid crisis.

The purpose of this dissertation was to 1) examine recent time trends in concurrent use and determine whether there was a shift to illicit drug use or non-prescribed use, 2) determine important patient characteristics of concurrent users, illicit drug users, and prescription opioid or benzodiazepine misusers, and 3) gauge provider response to concurrent use positivity in UDT, using large, national insurance claims data with laboratory records of recent years.

Aim 1: Trends in Concurrent Use, Illicit use and Prescription Misuse

The main findings of Aim 1 were that schedule I drug use continued to increase from 2013-2019, while concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use and prescription misuse generally decreased during this time period. A sudden decrease in schedule I drug use was observed at the end of 2013, coinciding with a previous study which found opioid-prescribing practices change at a similar timepoint.¹¹⁴ During last quarter of 2013, the FDA made recommendations in preparation for the upcoming reschedule of hydrocodone from a schedule III drug to schedule II (more restrictive) by the DEA;¹¹⁵ the sudden drop in illicit use in 2013, followed by the surge after 2014 may have been a result of patients finding alternate sources to hydrocodone, which became much less accessible.
Concurrent use decreased at a greater rate after 2016, during which the CDC's opioid prescribing guideline for chronic pain was officially published and the FDA announced a black box warning requirement on prescription opioids and benzodiazepines—both of which cautioned providers against co-prescribing of these drugs.⁴¹ A greater decline in concurrent use rates was also observed in 2019, the year in which CMS implemented greater safety measures against concurrent use, such as alerting pharmacists of co-prescribed opioids and benzodiazepines, prompting additional review before dispensing prescriptions.¹¹⁶ The decreasing trends in concurrent use coupled with increasing rates of illicit use seem to indicate a shift in drug use, which could be compensation for prescriptions that increasingly became difficult to obtain, as opioid-prescribing guidelines became widespread and more policies and regulations were put in place.

The observed decrease of misuse of prescription opioids and/or benzodiazepines generally aligned with recent literature on co-prescription trends, which have declined,^{28,35,47} likely due in part to the increased use of gabapentinoid drugs and SSRI/SNRIs, which are considered as alternatives for opioids and benzodiazepines, respectively.⁸ However, one unexpected finding was the turning point in the last quarter of 2018, where prescription misuse began to increase again. Though less understood, this increase in misuse parallelled the uptick in overdose deaths related to concurrent use.¹¹⁷

Illicit drug use, and prescription misuse and overdose continue to rise, despite efforts by the CDC, FDA, DEA, CMS and others, to focus on prevention at the provider level. Implications of this study include a need for public health reassessment that may require a shift of focus from provider restriction, to improving patients' access to and the availability of substance abuse recovery programs. Focused health interventions that benefit patient recovery, rather than placing blame or preventing necessary care may be more beneficial in preventing negative outcomes, though this would require further research.

Aim 2: Predictors of Concurrent Use, Illicit use and Prescription Misuse

Key findings of Aim 2 included the strong association of prior concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use with continued concurrent use, schedule I drug use and misuse of either or both an opioid and benzodiazepine, in the following year. Prior concurrent use patients were nearly 11 times more likely to continue concurrent drug use than those not tested, while prior

schedule I drug users were approximately 18 times more likely, strongly emphasizing the repeated warnings and guidance against co-prescriptions. Study findings also highlighted the importance of UDT monitoring, and the need for utilizing alternative treatments or drugs to avoid co-prescriptions when possible, two strategies recommended by the CDC, especially among vulnerable individuals such as long-term opioid users or concurrent users.¹²

An important predictor of concurrent use identified was opioid dose and duration, where a 2 to 4fold increased likelihood was observed in patients with various opioid dosage and durations, compared to those not using opioids, reinforcing the danger of extended use or high dose opioids. On the other hand, long term opioid use with any dosage decreased prescription misuse, possibly because patients may have felt adequately treated and did not need to resort to illegal sources to self-medicate. However, although this association appeared favorable among prescription misusers, long-term or high-dose opioid use is known to lose effectiveness with time, sometimes very quickly, and is not meant as an indefinite or sustainable solution for chronic pain.⁹

Overall this study identified characteristics that may be helpful for risk assessments to identify patients needing more frequent UDT, and who may need to be given alternative treatment, be tapered from an opioid, benzodiazepine or both, or seek rehabilitation services, to lessen their likelihood of future concurrent use or illicit drug use. Targeted health initiatives, such as patient education on disposal of unused prescriptions may also help reduce occurrences of substance abuse or polysubstance use, by decreasing drug diversion and subsequent misuse of unused prescriptions. To help reduce the rate of continued concurrent use or illicit drug use, increased access to substance abuse treatment facilities could alleviate some of the public health burden associated with drug overdose deaths in the US. However, even though earlier treatment of patients with substance abuse can be effective and has led to lower relapse rates and longer drug abstinence, few patients receive substance abuse treatment in both younger populations (11%) and older (<10%).^{20,118-120}

Aim 3: Provider Response to Concurrent Use Positivity in UDT

The findings of Aim 3 revealed that nearly all patients with UDT in 2018 showing concurrent opioid and benzodiazepine use received an office visit within one year of their UDT result observation. However, relatively few patients (28.9%) received opioid or benzodiazepine

110

changes (including dosage reduction, drug alternative, or discontinuation) or non-drug treatment, such as physical therapy or cognitive behavioral therapy. The 71% majority of patients did not receive any treatment change from providers within 90 days of their concurrent use-positive UDT, indicating low response rates from providers to a harmful combination of prescription drugs.

About 13% of patients initiated non-drug treatment within 90 days, which only increased to 31% by one year and was predominantly representing physical and occupational therapy. Studies have shown that non-pharmacological treatment is effective in significantly reducing chronic pain, including cancer pain.¹²¹⁻¹²³ Because prescribing guidelines advise that opioids are not to be used as first-line treatment of pain, and with the availability of other evidence-based treatment modalities, it is important providers consider using non-drug therapies at greater rates.

Though both opioid and benzodiazepine discontinuation rates were low (<10%), this indicates providers may be cautious of cutting patients off from highly addictive drugs that can have severe, sometimes fatal, withdrawal symptoms especially among concurrent users.^{12,124,125} Rather, when providers decide on discontinuing an opioid or benzodiazepine, patients must be tapered slowly each week, at a rate that is dependent on duration, dosage and clinical characteristics, but generally not more than 10-25%. MME and DME reductions over 20% were observed, which could have been among patients that were able to tolerate it, based on their clinical background. Some patients received an increase in dosage, which may indicate development of tolerance to current dosage due to misuse or long-term use, or a need for greater pain management in cases of disease progression, which are both common reasons for opioid dose escalation.¹²⁶

Finally, because rates of alternative drugs gabapentinoids and SSRI/SNRIs, have increased over time, it was expected greater use of alternatives would be observed.²⁸ However, although the time to initiation was relatively quick in this study, the rate of initiating these drugs was low. GABA drugs and SSRI/SNRIs are recommended to be used in place of opioids and benzodiazepines respectively, though there is increasing concern about the safety of gabapentinoids due to its potential for abuse.¹²⁷ However, GABA drugs generally are safe if used as recommended by providers, and with strict care and monitoring of patients with substance abuse disorder.¹²⁸ Similarly, some providers may be wary of using SSRI/SNRIs due to their

111

slow-acting mechanism, and adverse effects, even though these drugs have been shown to be as effective as benzodiazepines in treating disorders such as depression and anxiety.¹²⁹ Though patients may want to see immediate changes to debilitating conditions that benzodiazepines or opioids may offer, providers are still advised to try other treatment options first, and consider patients' risk of adverse events in the context of their entire clinical picture; in other words, though a patient may feel immediate relief day-to-day with concurrent use, over time their health may deteriorate as a result of its negative effects.

A significant predictor found in most of the multivariable models of this study was long term opioid use, which decreased the likelihood or rate of treatment changes by prescribers. This likely implies that long term users may not be amenable to change once they have become established in their opioid treatment. It is therefore important in such patients to put more effort towards preventive care at earlier stages of developing treatment plans, i.e. before long-term opioid use, or tolerance to dosage can be established, and after which could be difficult to change. Overall, this study shows that while there is some response by providers (in approximately 28% of patients), the rate is lower than is beneficial to high-risk patients, and is delayed, considering the effect of long term opioid use on receiving treatment and alternative non-drug therapies.

Clinical and policy implications

Indications for ordering UDT include pre-employment drug testing, initial risk assessments before prescribing a controlled substance such as an opioid, compliance monitoring with continued care, and abstinence monitoring in patients treated for substance abuse. Historically, providers have not only had difficulty with deciding who to order UDT for and how to interpret results, but also in deciding the next steps to take once a UDT result is determined.^{100,130,131} The complexity associated with UDT interpretation is due to potential false-positives from cross-reactivity, varying methods for drug or drug class identification, differing cutoff values for UDT positivity across laboratories, reimbursement limits, and lack of training provided to prescribers. Once a UDT result is determined however, an additional dilemma arises, of deciding next steps on how to move forward with each unique patient's care. Providers are tasked with striking a balance between over- and under-prescribing opioids or benzodiazepines, while also trying to avoid negative outcomes such as dependance, or development of substance abuse disorder.

112

Implications of these studies showed a general shift from prescribed use to illicit use, an overall high rate of prescription misuse (prescription use not as intended according to days of supply, quantity, and UDT detection windows), and relatively low prescriber response to ill-advised concurrent use. Although there has clearly been an increase in the awareness and response to CDC recommendations on opioid and benzodiazepine prescribing, the results of these studies indicate that effective strategies to reduce the need for long-term opioid use, or concurrent use are still lacking. As previously cited studies report, access to drug addiction recovery programs or rehabilitation centers is also alarmingly low. Even with the decreasing rates of concurrent use and opioid prescribing, failure to address and implement risk-reduction strategies for those who have already developed tolerance, dependence or substance abuse disorders, continues to contribute to the effects of the opioid crisis, as has been observed in recent overdose trends.^{117,132} Further, this may have been exacerbated in the last two years, after the devastating spread of Covid-19. Because Covid-19 infections can lead to severe respiratory distress, the demand for effective solutions is necessary, especially in avoiding concurrent use and its potential respiratory suppression dangers.

Regional differences observed in the trends study highlight some regions that are especially in need of attention by policy makers, to assist in increasing the availability of rehabilitation services, and at the provider level, to apply risk reduction strategies as early in the pain management process as possible, avoiding long-term opioid use, high daily MME dosage, and increasing the frequency of UDT (within reason), to better capture their patient's clinical picture and adapt treatment as needed. Recognizing regional variation in patient drug use and time trends is especially important in developing effective, preventive health initiatives, though more research with other data sources would be valuable to better understand the variation.

Significance

Previous studies on trends in concurrent use have relied on insurance claims or dispensing data, which assumes drug use based on prescriptions.^{28,35,48} Others rely on self-report from patients, which is likely to be biased towards compliant use as compared to lab test results; patients are less likely to disclose information that is not favorable or that may lead to prescription discontinuation.¹³³ Patients may self-medicate with one or multiple prescription or illicit drugs;³⁰ usually, this substance abuse cannot be captured using prescription data. An important literature

113

gap addressed by the studies of this dissertation is the direct patient use measured by laboratory results from UDT, the most commonly used test matrix for drug testing.⁶⁶ Also, though earlier studies of UDT aberrance rates and predictors do exist, most were single-centered or local, small-scale, or in earlier dates preceding CDC guidelines, and may not be as relevant to recent times;^{82,92,99,134} this dissertation used recent, pre-covid data on a national scale to be more representative of a large portion of the insured US population of adults.

There also has not been any study to date, that defined and analyzed LOINCs for illicit (schedule I) drugs, opioids, or benzodiazepines; Over 840 UDT LOINCs were collected and grouped into important drug use categories (available in Appendix Table 3), adding to the literature a resource for future drug use studies using UDT LOINCs.

This dissertation addressed several research gaps. Aim 1 identified time trends in patient drug use, to address whether changes in prescription misuse, illicit use or concurrent use existed after important federal agencies gave clear warnings and guidance on safer prescribing practices; this was the first study to use UDT results to examine how policy impacts drug use rates. This Aim pinpointed rates of drug use changes by annual quarters, and allowed for the observation of shifting drug use, while also studying how these rates varied by patient demographics. Aim 2 was completed at the patient level, to specifically address individual characteristics associated with the various types of aberrant drug use. This aim determined the association between aberrant drug use types, including concurrent opioid/benzodiazepine use, in a post-CDC guideline time period. Aim 3 addressed important literature gaps on how providers have responded to concurrent use-positivity in UDT, which has not previously been studied with UDT results or on the national scale used in this study. This aim investigated multiple recommended strategies for safer prescribing, including both dosage reduction or discontinuation of opioids and benzodiazepines, initiation of alternative drugs, and use of non-drug treatment, as well as forming a composite outcome of all strategies, to gauge overall provider response to concurrent use UDT results.

Limitations

There are limitations that must be taken into consideration when interpreting results of all three studies, including limitations to the data source, inclusion of potential UDT false-positives from

urine drug screening (which is commonly used for its low-cost, availability and rapid turnaround time) and exclusion of others.

Some UDT LOINC results were excluded from analysis due to uninterpretable values, which may have biased the study samples; however, as in Aim 1, the percent of annual UDT with interpretable results increased over time, indicating improvement of UDT results. Later years seemingly had better UDT results, which were used for Aim 2 and 3.

Next, although UDT may be a more reliable source of patient use, it is possible that some results that appeared compliant were due to methods patients use to "pass" a UDT when unmonitored during collection, such as the use of adulterated urine or urine not their own, use of urineclearing chemicals, or even adapting their drug use around scheduled UDT/provider visits. Due to limitations of UDT, drug-positivity rates and trends may have been underestimated; this is also supported by a study in 2018 suggesting a high frequency of monthly UDT is required to capture aberrant use, however this was assuming a low rate of aberrant UDT.⁹⁰

The use of CDM data provides detailed information on prescription claims, laboratory results, and has data points in all US states, however, a major limitation of using insurance claims data, is limited external validity of the studies. An important population affected by the opioid crisis, uninsured individuals living in poverty, are not represented may have higher rates of prescription or illicit misuse, further leading to underestimates in trends and associations observed in these studies. Because there was also a lack of uniformity across US labs in coding CPT and LOINCs, some codes were missing or had non-standard values, presenting a potential source of error if important results could not be represented.

To understand generalizability of these results, from our previously published study using the same data source for UDT trends and factors associated with receiving UDT,⁸¹ the distributions of patient characteristics were examined and compared to results from Aim 2 of this dissertation, which also focused on characteristics. Comparing the results of each study in 2018, patient demographic distributions of those receiving UDT (previous study) compared with those that had UDT results (Aim 2) by sex, were very similar. Comparing by age group, more younger patients (<50 years) had results and less patients aged 50-69 had results, than those that had received UDT, while those 70 and above had the similar distribution. By region, less UDT results were available in the South and West, slightly more in the Northeast, and nearly double the number of

UDT results were available in the Midwest, compared to those that received any UDT in the previous study. The similarities in the distributions of characteristics between studies indicates at least by gender, in older patients and in the Northeast, the results are generalizable. However, the more substantial differences in demographic distributions between patients that received UDT and those with results may be due to a number of reasons, though further research is warranted with other data sources. First, the previous study relied solely on CPT codes to count "any UDT", while the present studies included all applicable drug use LOINCs, whether or not they had the same associated CPTs previously published, which may explain some of the variation. Second, previously published CPT codes did not include non-standard CPT codes that may be more widely used in the independent labs included in Aim 2. Third, the cohorts were different, in which the present studies generally used those with any associated UDT results, not limited to long-term opioid users as in the previous study. Fourth, differences by region may represent a differing distribution of drug testing completed in independent labs vs hospital labs, the latter which was not studied in Aim 2, and may also explain some of the variation. For example, the lower proportion of patients in the South having results compared to the higher number that have UDT may reflect that Southern regions complete more UDT in hospital settings. Finally, the uncertainty caused by missing results from blank or missing LOINCs may also be a factor.

116

Race/ethnicity and smoking status is a patient characteristic that is important for drug monitoring UDT; ¹⁰⁸ previous studies have shown that drug use, especially illicit drug use, varies by race and predominantly affects White people, though greater risk reduction strategies are used for Black people.^{135,136} Racial disparities in opioid compliance monitoring have also been observed.³⁰ UDT variation by racial differences could not be determined in this study, as race is only available in CDM data via proxy, by zipcode, which is likely unreliable.

Selection bias is another important limitation that likely affected results; physicians may offer patients UDT at different rates, focusing on those who are more likely to abuse drugs, or those with greater comorbidities that are associated with concurrent use, such as depression and psychoses.⁸¹ Therefore, some of the observed results may simply be due to patients more likely to be selected into the sample, rather than an accurate estimate of associations.

The high rate of false-negatives in UDT for benzodiazepines is also a limitation that could have underestimated concurrent use positivity in all three studies.¹⁴⁰ A recent, small study showed that

there are methods that may be used to increase the sensitivity of benzodiazepine UDT,¹⁴¹ however it is unknown whether these methods were used for the benzodiazepine tests included in the studies.

Other limitations to the studies include unknown effects of provider characteristics on patient outcomes, such as provider intent, which was previously included in patient chart studies.^{100,130} Because insurance claims data were used, many assumptions must be made, including that provider response was based on their observation of concurrent use UDT; it is possible they had other motives for initiating or discontinuing drugs, or non-drug treatment, but this is uncertain without specific chart notes. Pre-employment drug testing is also very common and may have an impact on some studies of aberrant UDT results, depending on the data source. However, in these studies, it is not expected that positive UDT from workplace testing were included because 1) insurance does not cover pre-employment UDT and 2) the clinical LOINC used to define drug use did not include workplace UDT, therefore removing some of the ambiguity of whether included UDT were specific to patients receiving primary care.

Future research

Because the pandemic has introduced a new dimension to the opioid crisis, effects of Covid-19 on concurrent use, illicit use and prescription misuse will be important for continuing to develop risk reduction strategies, in post-covid times. Future research that may help increase the historically low use of UDT, include studies of provider attitudes and indications for UDT use. A small, recent study found that nearly one third of providers misinterpreted UDT results, when comparing their interpretation to that of the laboratory.¹³⁴ By understanding the greatest limiting factors to its use, identified issues can be addressed using focused courses, training programs or other methods.

Another recently published study showed that the use of UDT lab results is highly useful in informing mortality rates associated with drug use, at the county, state and national level.¹³⁷ This presents a data source to identify real-time patterns in drug use, abuse and prescription misuse, without having to wait for overdose or mortality to occur, and study retrospectively. Future studies can therefore use this type of data, which came from a substance abuse facility setting, for faster, and reliable public health surveillance, which would address some of the uncertainty that came with using LOINC data of this study. The setting in which UDT results are obtained

overdose mortality.

118

Patient outcome research may also be done using UDT, to study incident, adverse events such as fatal or non-fatal overdose, hospitalizations, development of substance use or opioid use disorders, and mortality. This may be done using more recent CDM data that may be linked with mortality data, while other outcomes could be studied using ICD or CPT codes for associated diagnoses, emergency room visits, or hospitalization respectively. The implications of such patient-outcome studies could be helpful for informing clinicians' healthcare decisions, including how frequently patients should be urine drug tested, and who is more likely to benefit from UDT.

Future studies may also examine the use of laboratory vs hospital drug testing and how these differ by patient demographics, using other data sources to compare with these CDM data studies, and better understand what may be affecting the variation in demographics among patients that receive UDT vs those that have UDT results.

In November 2022, the CDC published an updated version of their Opioid-Prescribing Guideline,¹⁴² which is not expected to make an impact on how the results of this dissertation may be interpreted, rather may stress the importance of results. In the updated guideline, it is reiterated that there is no available evidence that supports the use of UDT in preventing negative outcomes, however testing still provides useful information on drug use that is often not selfreported by patients. The guideline also reinforces the need for "frequent reassessments" of highrisk patients, including those on concurrent opioids and benzodiazepines to mitigate risks. It is explicitly stated for clinicians to use toxicology screening "as appropriate to assess for concurrent substance use that might place patients at higher risk", meaning not necessarily in a universal manner, but individualize UDT ordering based on patient risk. Though this does not explicitly state the use of urine testing specifically, it is implied because of earlier mention that UDT is most frequently used and indicated. Because the results of this dissertation found concurrent users are especially at risk of continued use and eventual illicit and non-prescribed use, the new CDC guideline supports the use of UDT as a risk reduction tool in this population and in opioid or benzodiazepine users in general.

could also be broadened, to make studies more generalizable, such as those in primary care. An extension of these aims could also include the examination of other illicit drugs, such as schedule II stimulants, barbiturates, and others, known to contribute to substance abuse disorders and

Conclusion

Overall, the use of urine drug test results offers an inside, objective look at patient drug use, that when interpreted cautiously, provides clinicians with a more detailed clinical picture and information on drug use that is important for risk assessments, and more reliable than subjective, patient self-reports. There is a need not only for greater use of UDT in opioid pain management and treatment of depression and mental disorders, but for a reorientation of public health focus to early prevention of opioid or benzodiazepine use, patient recovery programs, and development of strategies to help patients receive adequate care safely, avoiding self-medication and drug abuse.

References

- 1. Altarum. Economic Toll of Opioid Crisis in U.S. Exceeded \$1 Trillion Since 2001. 2020. https://altarum.org/news/economic-toll-opioid-crisis-us-exceeded-1-trillion-2001
- Brennan F. The US Congressional "Decade on Pain Control and Research" 2001-2011: A Review. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. Sep 2015;29(3):212-27. doi:10.3109/15360288.2015.1047553
- Kolodny A, Courtwright DT, Hwang CS, et al. The prescription opioid and heroin crisis: a public health approach to an epidemic of addiction. *Annu Rev Public Health*. Mar 18 2015;36:559-74. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122957
- 4. Muhuri P, Gfroerer J, Davies M. Associations of nonmedical pain reliever use and initiation of heroin use in the United States 2013. http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/ files/DR006/ DR006/nonmedical-pain-reliever-use-2013.htm
- Porter J, Jick H. Addiction rare in patients treated with narcotics. N Engl J Med. Jan 10 1980;302(2):123. doi:10.1056/nejm198001103020221
- Van Zee A. The promotion and marketing of oxycontin: commercial triumph, public health tragedy. *American journal of public health*. 2009;99(2):221-227. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2007.131714
- Kosten TR, George TP. The neurobiology of opioid dependence: implications for treatment. Science & practice perspectives. 2002;1(1):13-20. doi:10.1151/spp021113
- Volkow ND, Koob GF, McLellan AT. Neurobiologic Advances from the Brain Disease Model of Addiction. N Engl J Med. Jan 28 2016;374(4):363-71. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1511480
- Chou R, Turner JA, Devine EB, et al. The effectiveness and risks of long-term opioid therapy for chronic pain: a systematic review for a National Institutes of Health Pathways to Prevention Workshop. *Ann Intern Med.* Feb 17 2015;162(4):276-86. doi:10.7326/m14-2559
- 10. Shah A, Hayes CJ, Martin BC. Characteristics of Initial Prescription Episodes and Likelihood of Long-Term Opioid Use - United States, 2006-2015. MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2017;66(10):265-269. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6610a1

- 11. Durand Z, Nechuta S, Krishnaswami S, Hurwitz EL, McPheeters M. Prevalence and Risk Factors Associated With Long-term Opioid Use After Injury Among Previously Opioid-Free Workers. JAMA Network Open. 2019;2(7):e197222-e197222. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.7222
- Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain--United States, 2016. Jama. Apr 19 2016;315(15):1624-45. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Wide-ranging online data for epidemiologic research (WONDER) Atlanta, GA: CDC, National Center for Health Statistics; 2020.
- 14. Overdose Death Rates. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Accessed December 14, 2020. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates
- 15. Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; 2020.
- 16. Cicero TJ, Ellis MS, Surratt HL, Kurtz SP. The changing face of heroin use in the United States: a retrospective analysis of the past 50 years. *JAMA Psychiatry*. Jul 2014;71(7):821-6. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.20 14.366
- 17. Kane-Willis K, Schmitz SJ, Bazan M, Narloch, VF, Wallace CB. Understanding suburban heroin use. Roosevelt University. https://candorhealthed.org/files/Understanding _suburban_heroin_use.pdf. Accessed October 8, 2015.
- National Vital Statistics System (NVSS). Three Waves in the Rise of Opioid Overdose Deaths. [Image]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2021.
- Scholl L, Seth P, Kariisa M, Wilson N, Baldwin G. Drug and Opioid-Involved Overdose Deaths - United States, 2013-2017. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report*. 2018;67(5152):1419-1427. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm675152e1
- 20. Kuo YF, Baillargeon J, Raji MA. Overdose deaths from nonprescribed prescription opioids, heroin, and other synthetic opioids in Medicare beneficiaries. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 05 2021;124:108282. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108282
- 21. Davis C. State-by-State Summary of Opioid Prescribing Regulations and Guidelines. The Network for Public Health Law; 2020.

- 22. Olfson M, King M, Schoenbaum M. Benzodiazepine use in the United States. *JAMA Psychiatry*. Feb 2015;72(2):136-42. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.1763
- 23. Weich S, Pearce HL, Croft P, et al. Effect of anxiolytic and hypnotic drug prescriptions on mortality hazards: retrospective cohort study. *BMJ*. Mar 19 2014;348:g1996. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1996
- 24. Xu KY, Hartz SM, Borodovsky JT, Bierut LJ, Grucza RA. Association Between Benzodiazepine Use With or Without Opioid Use and All-Cause Mortality in the United States, 1999-2015. JAMA Network Open. 2020;3(12):e2028557-e2028557. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.28557
- 25. Gerlach LB, Maust DT, Leong SH, Mavandadi S, Oslin DW. Factors Associated With Long-term Benzodiazepine Use Among Older Adults. *JAMA Intern Med.* 11 01 2018;178(11):1560-1562. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.2413
- 26. Tan KR, Brown M, Labouèbe G, et al. Neural bases for addictive properties of benzodiazepines. *Nature*. Feb 11 2010;463(7282):769-74. doi:10.1038/nature08758
- 27. Moosmann B, King LA, Auwärter V. Designer benzodiazepines: A new challenge. World psychiatry : official journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA).
 2015;14(2):248-248. doi:10.1002/wps.20236
- 28. Esechie A, Kuo Y-F, Goodwin JS, Westra J, Raji MA. Trends in prescribing pattern of opioid and benzodiazepine substitutes among Medicare part D beneficiaries from 2013 to 2018: a retrospective study. *BMJ Open.* 2021;11(11):e053487. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-053487
- 29. Dasgupta N, Funk MJ, Proescholdbell S, Hirsch A, Ribisl KM, Marshall S. Cohort Study of the Impact of High-Dose Opioid Analgesics on Overdose Mortality. *Pain Med.* Jan 2016;17(1):85-98. doi:10.1111/pme.12907
- 30. Jones CM, McAninch JK. Emergency Department Visits and Overdose Deaths From Combined Use of Opioids and Benzodiazepines. Am J Prev Med. Oct 2015;49(4):493-501. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.03.040
- 31. Gomes T, Mamdani MM, Dhalla IA, Paterson JM, Juurlink DN. Opioid dose and drugrelated mortality in patients with nonmalignant pain. *Arch Intern Med.* Apr 11 2011;171(7):686-91. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2011.117

- 32. Park TW, Saitz R, Ganoczy D, Ilgen MA, Bohnert AS. Benzodiazepine prescribing patterns and deaths from drug overdose among US veterans receiving opioid analgesics: casecohort study. *BMJ*. Jun 10 2015;350:h2698. doi:10.1136/bmj.h2698
- 33. Gressler LE, Martin BC, Hudson TJ, Painter JT. Relationship between concomitant benzodiazepine-opioid use and adverse outcomes among US veterans. *Pain*. 03 2018;159(3):451-459. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001111
- 34. Musich S, Wang SS, Slindee LB, Saphire L, Wicker E. Characteristics of New-Onset and Chronic Sleep Medication Users Among Older Adults: A Retrospective Study of a US Medigap Plan Population using Propensity Score Matching. *Drugs Aging*. 05 2018;35(5):467-476. doi:10.1007/s40266-018-0543-5
- 35. IQVIA Institute. Prescription Opioid Trends in the United States: Measuring and understanding progress in the opioid crisis. https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqviainstitute/reports/prescription-opioid-trends-in-the-united-states
- 36. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Benzodiazepines and Opioids. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/opioids/benzodiazepines-opioids
- 37. Manchikanti L, Kaye AM, Knezevic NN, et al. Responsible, Safe, and Effective Prescription of Opioids for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain: American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) Guidelines. *Pain Physician*. Feb 2017;20(2s):S3-s92.
- 38. Califf RM, Woodcock J, Ostroff S. A Proactive Response to Prescription Opioid Abuse. New England Journal of Medicine. 2016;374(15):1480-1485. doi:10.1056/NEJMsr1601307
- 39. Dalal S, Bruera E. Pain Management for Patients With Advanced Cancer in the Opioid Epidemic Era. American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book. 2019;(39):24-35. doi:10.1200/edbk_100020
- 40. CMS. Reduce Risk of Opioid Overdose Deaths by Avoiding and Reducing Co-Prescribing Benzodiazepines. 2019. https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-MLN/MLNMattersArticles/Downloads/SE19011.pdf
- 41. FDA requires strong warnings for opioid analgesics, prescription opioid cough products, and benzodiazepine labeling related to serious risks and death from combined use. [press release]. US Food and Drug Administration; 2016.

- 42. United States Food and Drug Administration. FDA requiring Boxed Warning updated to improve safe use of benzodiazepine drug class. Published September 23, 2020. Accessed October 11, 2020. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-safety-andavailability/fda-requiring-boxed-warning-updated-improve-safe-use-benzodiazepinedrug-class
- 43. Rhee TG. Coprescribing of Benzodiazepines and Opioids in Older Adults: Rates, Correlates, and National Trends. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 11 13 2019;74(12):1910-1915. doi:10.1093/gerona/gly283
- 44. Sun EC, Dixit A, Humphreys K, Darnall BD, Baker LC, Mackey S. Association between concurrent use of prescription opioids and benzodiazepines and overdose: retrospective analysis. *BMJ*. Mar 14 2017;356:j760. doi:10.1136/bmj.j760
- 45. Hwang CS, Kang EM, Kornegay CJ, Staffa JA, Jones CM, McAninch JK. Trends in the Concomitant Prescribing of Opioids and Benzodiazepines, 2002-2014. *Am J Prev Med.* 08 2016;51(2):151-160. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2016.02.014
- 46. Vozoris NT. Benzodiazepine and opioid co-usage in the US population, 1999-2014: an exploratory analysis. *Sleep*. 04 01 2019;42(4)doi:10.1093/sleep/zsy264
- 47. Jeffery MM, Hooten WM, Jena AB, Ross JS, Shah ND, Karaca-Mandic P. Rates of Physician Coprescribing of Opioids and Benzodiazepines After the Release of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Guidelines in 2016. *JAMA Netw Open*. 08 02 2019;2(8):e198325. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8325
- 48. Koffel E, DeRonne B, Hawkins EJ. Co-prescribing of Opioids with Benzodiazepines and Other Hypnotics for Chronic Pain and Insomnia: Trends and Health Outcomes. *Pain Med.* 10 01 2020;21(10):2055-2059. doi:10.1093/pm/pnaa054
- 49. Ladapo JA, Larochelle MR, Chen A, et al. Physician Prescribing of Opioids to Patients at Increased Risk of Overdose From Benzodiazepine Use in the United States. JAMA Psychiatry. 06 01 2018;75(6):623-630. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.0544
- 50. Zhang VS, Olfson M, King M. Opioid and Benzodiazepine Coprescribing in the United States Before and After US Food and Drug Administration Boxed Warning. JAMA Psychiatry. 11 01 2019;76(11):1208-1210. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.2563
- 51. Nicol AL, Hurley RW, Benzon HT. Alternatives to Opioids in the Pharmacologic Management of Chronic Pain Syndromes: A Narrative Review of Randomized,

Controlled, and Blinded Clinical Trials. *Anesth Analg.* 11 2017;125(5):1682-1703. doi:10.1213/ANE.0000000002426

- 52. Pritchard KT, Baillargeon J, Raji MA, Chou LN, Downer B, Kuo YF. Association of Occupational and Physical Therapy With Duration of Prescription Opioid Use After Hip or Knee Arthroplasty: A Retrospective Cohort Study of Medicare Enrollees. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* Jul 2021;102(7):1257-1266. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2021.01.086
- 53. Garakani A, Murrough JW, Freire RC, et al. Pharmacotherapy of Anxiety Disorders: Current and Emerging Treatment Options. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)*. Jun 2021;19(2):222-242. doi:10.1176/appi.focus.19203
- 54. Gomez AF, Barthel AL, Hofmann SG. Comparing the efficacy of benzodiazepines and serotonergic anti-depressants for adults with generalized anxiety disorder: a metaanalytic review. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. Jun 2018;19(8):883-894. doi:10.1080/14656566.2018.1472767
- 55. Stahl SM, Grady MM, Moret C, Briley M. SNRIs: their pharmacology, clinical efficacy, and tolerability in comparison with other classes of antidepressants. *CNS Spectr*. Sep 2005;10(9):732-47. doi:10.1017/s1092852900019726
- 56. Anderson IM. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors versus tricyclic antidepressants: a meta-analysis of efficacy and tolerability. J Affect Disord. Apr 2000;58(1):19-36. doi:10.1016/s0165-0327(99)00092-0
- 57. Arroll B, Macgillivray S, Ogston S, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of tricyclic antidepressants and SSRIs compared with placebo for treatment of depression in primary care: a meta-analysis. Ann Fam Med. 2005 Sep-Oct 2005;3(5):449-56. doi:10.1370/afm.349
- 58. Wilson TK, Tripp J. Buspirone. 2022. StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing LLC.
- 59. Rudolph M, Liegl S. In adults with generalized anxiety disorder, is hydroxyzine superior to placebo in reducing anxiety symptoms? *Evidence-Based Practice*. 2020;23(8)
- 60. Morin CM, Vallières A, Guay B, et al. Cognitive behavioral therapy, singly and combined with medication, for persistent insomnia: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. May 20 2009;301(19):2005-15. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.682

- 61. Richardson K, Loke YK, Fox C, et al. Adverse effects of Z-drugs for sleep disturbance in people living with dementia: a population-based cohort study. *BMC Med.* 11 24 2020;18(1):351. doi:10.1186/s12916-020-01821-5
- 62. Kale N. Urine Drug Tests: Ordering and Interpreting Results. *Am Fam Physician*. 01 01 2019;99(1):33-39.
- 63. Heit HA, Gourlay DL. Urine drug testing in pain medicine. J Pain Symptom Manage. Mar 2004;27(3):260-7. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2003.07.008
- 64. Owen GT, Burton AW, Schade CM, Passik S. Urine drug testing: current recommendations and best practices. *Pain physician*. 2012/07// 2012;15(3 Suppl):ES119-33.
- 65. Hadland SE, Levy S. Objective Testing: Urine and Other Drug Tests. *Child and adolescent psychiatric clinics of North America*. 2016;25(3):549-565. doi:10.1016/j.chc.2016.02.005
- 66. Allen KR. Screening for drugs of abuse: which matrix, oral fluid or urine? *Annals of Clinical Biochemistry*. 2011/11/01 2011;48(6):531-541. doi:10.1258/acb.2011.011116
- 67. Watson ID, Bertholf R, Hammett-Stabler, et al. Drugs and Ethanol. In J.H. Nichols (Ed.).
 Laboratory medicine practice guidelines: Evidence-based practice for point-of-care testing Washington, DC: . Washington, DC: National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry.; 2006. p. 63-75.
- 68. DuPont R, Shea C, Barthwell G, Baxter L. Drug testing: a white paper of the American Society of Addiction Medicine. Journal of American Medical Association. Chevy Chase, MD, USA: ASAM; 2013. p. 2-55.
- Christo PJ, Manchikanti L, Ruan X, et al. Urine drug testing in chronic pain. *Pain Physician*. 2011 Mar-Apr 2011;14(2):123-43.
- 70. Manchikanti L, Abdi S, Atluri S, et al. American Society of Interventional Pain Physicians (ASIPP) guidelines for responsible opioid prescribing in chronic non-cancer pain: Part I--evidence assessment. Article. *Pain physician*. 2012;15(3 Suppl):S1-65.
- 71. Clinical Drug Testing in Primary Care. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.; 2012.
- 72. Raouf M, Bettinger JJ, Fudin J. A Practical Guide to Urine Drug Monitoring. *Fed Pract*. Apr 2018;35(4):38-44.

- 73. Mikel C, Pesce A, West C. A tale of two drug testing technologies: GC-MS and LC-MS/MS. *Pain Physician*. 2010 Jan-Feb 2010;13(1):91-2.
- 74. Yang HS, Wu AHB, Lynch KL. Development and Validation of a Novel LC-MS/MS Opioid Confirmation Assay: Evaluation of β-glucuronidase Enzymes and Sample Cleanup Methods. *Journal of Analytical Toxicology*. 2016;40(5):323-329. doi:10.1093/jat/bkw026
- 75. Paice JA, Portenoy R, Lacchetti C, et al. Management of Chronic Pain in Survivors of Adult Cancers: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology. 2016/09/20 2016;34(27):3325-3345. doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.68.5206
- 76. Examining Clinical Laboratory Services: A Review by the Healthcare Fraud Prevention Partnership. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. https://www.cms.gov/files/document/download-clinical-laboratory-services-whitepaper.pdf
- 77. Starrels JL, Becker WC, Weiner MG, Li X, Heo M, Turner BJ. Low use of opioid risk reduction strategies in primary care even for high risk patients with chronic pain. J Gen Intern Med. Sep 2011;26(9):958-64. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1648-2
- 78. Turner JA, Saunders K, Shortreed SM, et al. Chronic opioid therapy urine drug testing in primary care: prevalence and predictors of aberrant results. *J Gen Intern Med*. Dec 2014;29(12):1663-71. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3010-y
- 79. Zgierska AE, Vidaver RM, Smith P, et al. Enhancing system-wide implementation of opioid prescribing guidelines in primary care: protocol for a stepped-wedge quality improvement project. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 06 2018;18(1):415. doi:10.1186/s12913-018-3227-2
- 80. Bhamb B, Brown D, Hariharan J, Anderson J, Balousek S, Fleming MF. Survey of select practice behaviors by primary care physicians on the use of opioids for chronic pain. *Curr Med Res Opin.* Sep 2006;22(9):1859-65. doi:10.1185/030079906X132398
- 81. Taha SA, Westra JR, Raji MA, Kuo YF. Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-term Opioid Users, 2012-2018. Am J Prev Med. Dec 4 2020;doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.10.011

- 82. Arthur JA, Edwards T, Lu Z, et al. Frequency, predictors, and outcomes of urine drug testing among patients with advanced cancer on chronic opioid therapy at an outpatient supportive care clinic. *Cancer*. Dec 01 2016;122(23):3732-3739. doi:10.1002/cncr.30240
- 83. Manchikanti L, Manchukonda R, Pampati V, et al. Does random urine drug testing reduce illicit drug use in chronic pain patients receiving opioids? *Pain Physician*. Apr 2006;9(2):123-9.
- 84. Matteliano D, Chang YP. Describing prescription opioid adherence among individuals with chronic pain using urine drug testing. *Pain Manag Nurs*. Feb 2015;16(1):51-9. doi:10.1016/j.pmn.2014.04.001
- 85. Wiseman LK, Lynch ME. The utility of universal urinary drug screening in chronic pain management. *Canadian Journal of Pain*. 2018/01/01 2018;2(1):37-47. doi:10.1080/24740527.2018.1425980
- 86. Jannetto PJ, Bratanow NC, Clark WA, et al. Executive Summary: American Association of Clinical Chemistry Laboratory Medicine Practice Guideline-Using Clinical Laboratory Tests to Monitor Drug Therapy in Pain Management Patients. *J Appl Lab Med.* Jan 1 2018;2(4):489-526. doi:10.1373/jalm.2017.023341
- 87. Khalili P, Nadimi AE, Baradaran HR, et al. Validity of self-reported substance use: research setting versus primary health care setting. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy*. 2021/09/14 2021;16(1):66. doi:10.1186/s13011-021-00398-3
- 88. Pergolizzi J, Pappagallo M, Stauffer J, et al. The role of urine drug testing for patients on opioid therapy. *Pain Pract*. 2010 Nov-Dec 2010;10(6):497-507. doi:10.1111/j.1533-2500.2010.00375.x
- 89. Gudin J, Mehta N, McClure FL, Niles JK, Kaufman HW. Shorter drug testing intervals are associated with improved drug misuse rates. *J Opioid Manag.* 2020 Sep/Oct 2020 2020;16(5):357-373. doi:10.5055/jom.2020.0591
- 90. DiBenedetto DJ, Wawrzyniak KM, Schatman ME, Shapiro H, Kulich RJ. Increased frequency of urine drug testing in chronic opioid therapy: rationale for strategies for enhancing patient adherence and safety. *J Pain Res*. 2019;12:2239-2246. doi:10.2147/JPR.S213536

- 91. Morasco BJ, Peters D, Krebs EE, Kovas AE, Hart K, Dobscha SK. Predictors of urine drug testing for patients with chronic pain: Results from a national cohort of U.S. veterans. *Subst Abus*. 2016;37(1):82-7. doi:10.1080/08897077.2015.1110742
- 92. Hosain F, Lee J, Ata A, Bhullar RK, Chang AK. Physician Renewal of Chronically Prescribed Controlled Substances Based on Urine Drug Test Results. *J Prim Care Community Health.* 2019 Jan-Dec 2019;10:2150132719883632. doi:10.1177/2150132719883632
- 93. Jamison RN, Martel MO, Edwards RR, Qian J, Sheehan KA, Ross EL. Validation of a brief Opioid Compliance Checklist for patients with chronic pain. *J Pain*. Nov 2014;15(11):1092-1101. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2014.07.007
- 94. Couto JE, Romney MC, Leider HL, Sharma S, Goldfarb NI. High rates of inappropriate drug use in the chronic pain population. *Popul Health Manag.* Aug 2009;12(4):185-90. doi:10.1089/pop.2009.0015
- 95. Michna E, Jamison RN, Pham LD, et al. Urine toxicology screening among chronic pain patients on opioid therapy: frequency and predictability of abnormal findings. *Clin J Pain*. Feb 2007;23(2):173-9. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e31802b4f95
- 96. Paquin AM, Zimmerman K, Rudolph JL. Risk versus risk: a review of benzodiazepine reduction in older adults. *Expert Opin Drug Saf.* Jul 2014;13(7):919-34. doi:10.1517/14740338.2014.925444
- 97. Maier SL, Mannes S, Koppenhofer EL. The Implications of Marijuana Decriminalization and Legalization on Crime in the United States. *Contemporary Drug Problems*. 2017/06/01 2017;44(2):125-146. doi:10.1177/0091450917708790
- 98. Nugent SM, Dobscha SK, Morasco BJ, et al. Substance Use Disorder Treatment Following Clinician-Initiated Discontinuation of Long-Term Opioid Therapy Resulting from an Aberrant Urine Drug Test. J Gen Intern Med. Oct 2017;32(10):1076-1082. doi:10.1007/s11606-017-4084-0
- 99. Gupta A, Patton C, Diskina D, Cheatle M. Retrospective review of physician opioid prescribing practices in patients with aberrant behaviors. *Pain Physician*. 2011 Jul-Aug 2011;14(4):383-9.

- 100. Morasco BJ, Krebs EE, Adams MH, Hyde S, Zamudio J, Dobscha SK. Clinician Response to Aberrant Urine Drug Test Results of Patients Prescribed Opioid Therapy for Chronic Pain. *Clin J Pain*. 01 2019;35(1):1-6. doi:10.1097/AJP.000000000000652
- 101. Liu EY, Tamblyn R, Filion KB, Buckeridge DL. Concurrent prescriptions for opioids and benzodiazepines and risk of opioid overdose: protocol for a retrospective cohort study using linked administrative data. *BMJ Open*. 02 18 2021;11(2):e042299. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042299
- 102. Guy GP, Jr., Zhang K, Halpin J, Sargent W. An Examination of Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Prescribing in 9 States, 2015. Am J Prev Med. Nov 2019;57(5):629-636. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2019.06.007
- 103. Agarwal SD, Landon BE. Patterns in Outpatient Benzodiazepine Prescribing in the United States. JAMA Network Open. 2019;2(1):e187399-e187399. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.7399
- 104. Check DK, Winn AN, Fergestrom N, Reeder-Hayes KE, Neuner JM, Roberts AW. Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Prescriptions Among Older Women Diagnosed With Breast Cancer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2020;112(7):765-768. doi:10.1093/jnci/djz201
- 105. Yonkers KA, Howell HB, Gotman N, Rounsaville BJ. Self-report of illicit substance use versus urine toxicology results from at-risk pregnant women. J Subst Use. Oct 01 2011;16(5):372-389. doi:10.3109/14659891003721133
- 106. Libucha S. Data from: Optum Clinformatics Data Mart (CDM) data dictionary [dataset].2016.
- 107. Elixhauser A, Steiner C, Harris DR, Coffey RM. Comorbidity measures for use with administrative data. *Med Care*. Jan 1998;36(1):8-27. doi:10.1097/00005650-199801000-00004
- 108. Vadiei N, Bhattacharjee S. Concurrent Opioid and Benzodiazepine Utilization Patterns and Predictors Among Community-Dwelling Adults in the United States. *Psychiatr Serv.* 10 01 2020;71(10):1011-1019. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201900446
- 109. Calculating total daily dose of opioids for safer dosage. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/38481https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc /38481/cdc_38481_DS1.pdf

- 110. Lavin RA, Liu C, Yuspeh L, et al. Trends in the Utilization and Dose of Gabapentinoids in Combination With Opioids in an Injured Worker Population Between 2008 and 2018. *J Occup Environ Med*. Oct 01 2021;63(10):e694-e700. doi:10.1097/JOM.00000000002344
- 111. Milani SA, Raji MA, Chen L, Kuo YF. Trends in the Use of Benzodiazepines, Z-Hypnotics, and Serotonergic Drugs Among US Women and Men Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open*. 10 01 2021;4(10):e2131012. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.31012
- 112. Underlying Cause of Death 1999-2019 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released in 2020. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2019, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program.: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics 2020.
- 113. Drug Abuse Statistics. 2022 National Center for Drug Abuse Statistics [Webpage] https://drugabusestatistics.org/ Accessed October, 2021.
- 114. Raji MA, Kuo Y-F, Adhikari D, Baillargeon J, Goodwin JS. Decline in opioid prescribing after federal rescheduling of hydrocodone products. *Pharmacoepidemiology and drug safety*. 2018;27(5):513-519. doi:10.1002/pds.4376
- 115. 79 79 FR 11037 Schedules of Controlled Substances: Rescheduling of Hydrocodone Combination Products From Schedule III to Schedule II 11037-11045 (2014).
- 116. Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2019 Medicare Advantage Capitation Rates and Medicare Advantage and Part D Payment Policies and Final Call Letter. 2018. Accessed May 20, 2022. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Health-Plans/MedicareAdvtgSpecRateStats/ Downloads/Announcement2019.pdf
- 117. Overdose Death Rates. National Institute on Drug Abuse. 2021. https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates
- 118. Dennis ML, Scott CK, Funk R, Foss MA. The duration and correlates of addiction and treatment careers. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2005;28 Suppl 1:S51-62. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2004.10.013

- 119. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Summary of National Findings, NSDUH Series H-46, HHS Publication No. (SMA) 13-4795. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2013. .
- 120. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); Office of the Surgeon General (US). Facing Addiction in America: The Surgeon General's Report on Alcohol, Drugs, and Health [Internet]. 2016. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services;
- 121. Fritz JM, Lurie JD, Zhao W, et al. Associations between physical therapy and long-term outcomes for individuals with lumbar spinal stenosis in the SPORT study. *Spine J*. Aug 01 2014;14(8):1611-21. doi:10.1016/j.spinee.2013.09.044
- 122. Chiu HY, Hsieh YJ, Tsai PS. Systematic review and meta-analysis of acupuncture to reduce cancer-related pain. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)*. Mar 2017;26(2)doi:10.1111/ecc.12457
- 123. Tang SK, Tse MMY, Leung SF, Fotis T. The effectiveness, suitability, and sustainability of non-pharmacological methods of managing pain in community-dwelling older adults: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. Nov 08 2019;19(1):1488. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7831-9
- 124. Baldwin DS. Clinical management of withdrawal from benzodiazepine anxiolytic and hypnotic medications. *Addiction*. May 2022;117(5):1472-1482. doi:10.1111/add.15695
- 125. Ashton H. Benzodiazepine Dependency and Withdrawal. Accessed March 27, 2022, https://www.benzo.org.uk/FAQ1.1.htm#20
- 126. Bautista CA, Iosif AM, Wilsey BL, Melnikow JA, Crichlow A, Henry SG. Factors Associated with Opioid Dose Increases: A Chart Review of Patients' First Year on Long-Term Opioids. *Pain Med.* 05 01 2017;18(5):908-916. doi:10.1093/pm/pnw185
- 127. Kuehn BM. Growing Role of Gabapentin in Opioid-Related Overdoses Highlights Misuse Potential and Off-label Prescribing Practices. JAMA. Sep 07 2022;doi:10.1001/jama.2022.13659

- 128. Bonnet U, Richter EL, Isbruch K, Scherbaum N. On the addictive power of gabapentinoids: a mini-review. *Psychiatr Danub*. Jun 2018;30(2):142-149. doi:10.24869/psyd.2018.142
- 129. Edinoff AN, Akuly HA, Hanna TA, et al. Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors and Adverse Effects: A Narrative Review. *Neurol Int.* Aug 05 2021;13(3):387-401. doi:10.3390/neurolint13030038
- 130. Morasco BJ, Krebs EE, Cavanagh R, Hyde S, Crain A, Dobscha SK. Treatment changes following aberrant urine drug test results for patients prescribed chronic opioid therapy. *J Opioid Manag*. 2015 Jan-Feb 2015;11(1):45-51. doi:10.5055/jom.2015.0251
- 131. Savage SR, Romero-Sandoval A, Schatman M, et al. Cannabis in Pain Treatment: Clinical and Research Considerations. *J Pain*. 06 2016;17(6):654-68. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2016.02.007
- 132. Increase in Fatal Drug Overdoses Across the United States Driven by Synthetic Opioids Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. CDC Health Advisory. 2020. https://emergency.cdc.gov/han/2020/han00438.asp
- 133. Khalili P, Nadimi AE, Baradaran HR, et al. Validity of self-reported substance use: research setting versus primary health care setting. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy*. 09 14 2021;16(1):66. doi:10.1186/s13011-021-00398-3
- 134. Chua I, Petrides AK, Schiff GD, et al. Provider Misinterpretation, Documentation, and Follow-Up of Definitive Urine Drug Testing Results. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jan 2020;35(1):283-290. doi:10.1007/s11606-019-05514-5
- 135. Hausmann LRM, Gao S, Lee ES, Kwoh KC. Racial disparities in the monitoring of patients on chronic opioid therapy. *Pain*. Jan 2013;154(1):46-52. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2012.07.034
- 136. Becker WC, Starrels JL, Heo M, Li X, Weiner MG, Turner BJ. Racial differences in primary care opioid risk reduction strategies. *Ann Fam Med.* 2011 May-Jun 2011;9(3):219-25. doi:10.1370/afm.1242
- 137. Whitley P, LaRue L, Fernandez SA, Passik SD, Dawson E, Jackson RD. Analysis of Urine Drug Test Results From Substance Use Disorder Treatment Practices and

Overdose Mortality Rates, 2013-2020. *JAMA Netw Open*. 06 01 2022;5(6):e2215425. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.15425

- 138. Lee B, Yang KC, Kaminski P, et al. Substitution of Nonpharmacologic Therapy With Opioid Prescribing for Pain During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open*. 12 01 2021;4(12):e2138453. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.38453
- 139. Romman AN, Hsu CM, Chou LN, et al. Opioid Prescribing to Medicare Part D Enrollees, 2013-2017: Shifting Responsibility to Pain Management Providers. *Pain Med.* 11 07 2020;21(7):1400-1407. doi:10.1093/pm/pnz344
- 140. C. Mikel, A.J. Pesce, M. Rosenthal, C. West Therapeutic monitoring of benzodiazepines in the management of pain: current limitations of point of care immunoassays suggest testing by mass spectrometry to assure accuracy and improve patient safety. *Clin. Chem.* Acta, 413 (2012), pp. 1199-1202
- 141. Mullins GR, Reeves A, Yu M, Goldberger BA, Bazydlo LAL. Improved clinical sensitivity of a reflexive algorithm to minimize false-negative test results by a urine benzodiazepine immunoassay screen. J Appl Lab Med. 2018;2(4):555-563.
- 142. Dowell D, Ragan KR, Jones CM, Baldwin GT, Chou R. CDC Clinical Practice Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Pain — United States, 2022. MMWR Recomm Rep 2022;71(No. RR-3):1–95. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.rr7103a1

Appendix

Appendix Table 1. List o	of drugs included in opioid, benzodiazepine or schedule I drug UDT
Opioids	fentanyl ^a , hydrocodone, hydromorphone, codeine, methadone,
	suboxone, propoxyphene, levorphanol, buprenorphine, morphine,
	oxycodone, meperidine, opioid panel
Benzodiazepines	flurazepam, oxazepam, clorazepate, chlordiazepoxide, alprazolam,
	lorazepam, clobazam, midazolam, temazepam, triazolam, diazepam,
	estazolam, benzodiazepine panel
Schedule I drugs ^b	heroin, cocaine, LSD, bath salts (cathinone/cathine), mescaline,
	psilocybin, MDMA, gamma-hydroxybutyric acid (GHB), marijuana
	(THC/cannabinoids), ecstasy, methaqualone, khat

Appendix Table 1. List of drugs included in opioid, benzodiazepine or schedule I drug UDT

^a Because illicit fentanyl is indistinguishable from prescribed fentanyl by UDT, fentanyl was counted for the opioid drug category, and not in the schedule I category.

^b As defined by the Food and Drug Administration.

CPT/	Description	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Schedule I	Benzo	Opioid
HCPCS ^{a,b}											
G0659	definitive drug test	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
G0483	definitive drug test	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
G0482	definitive drug test	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
G0481	definitive drug test	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
G0480	definitive drug test	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
G0479	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
G0478	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
G0477	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
G6058	drug confirmation	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
G6056	opiates/metabolites	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
G6046	dihydromorphinone	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
G6045	dihydrocodeinone	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
G6044	cocaine	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
G6031	benzodiazepines	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
80373	tramadol	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
83925	opiates	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
82649	dihydromorphinone	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
82646	dihydrocodeinone	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1
82520	cocaine	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
G0434	presumptive drug test	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
G0431	presumptive drug test	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
83992	phencyclidine	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
83789	mass spectrometry	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	drug test										
80365	oxycodone	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
80364	opiates 5+	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
80363	opiates 3-4	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1

Appendix Table 2. CPT and HCPCS codes used for all drug tests related to Schedule I drugs, opioids and benzodiazepines.

14/	
1)/	

80362	opiates 1-2	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1
80361	opiates 1+	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1
80360	methylphenidate	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
80359	MDA/MDMA	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
80358	methadone	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1
80356	heroin metabolite	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1
80354	fentanyl	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1
80353	cocaine	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
80349	cannabinoids	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
80348	buprenorphine	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
80347	benzos 13+	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0
80346	benzos 1-12	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0
80307	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
80306	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
80305	presumptive drug test	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
80304	presumptive drug test	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
80303	presumptive drug test	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
80302	presumptive drug test	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
80301	presumptive drug test	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
80300	presumptive drug test	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
80154	benzodiazepines	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
80102	presumptive drug test	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
80101	presumptive drug test	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1
80100	presumptive drug test	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1

^a Some CPT/HCPCS codes were not specific to a drug class or metabolite, such as CPT code 80307 for "presumptive drug testing", which may include other drugs for testing.

^b Due to the regular deletion or addition of billing codes annually, CPT and HCPCS codes differed by year, particularly for 2015.

^c Indicators for schedule I drug, opioid or benzodiazepine were assigned to CPT/HCPCS codes and LOINCs. Distinct patient records that had both a valid CPT/HCPCS code and LOINC on the same drug test date in each respective category were considered a match.

CDI (adabie chen)		
Schedule I drugs	Benzodiazepines	Opioids
72795-8	59589-2	16334-5
67838-3	59590-0	18383-0
79237-4	94108-8	86604-6
72796-6	97159-8	49753-7
78858-8	94110-4	49751-1
79144-2	78758-0	58362-5
79236-6	28073-5	82371-6
87762-1	51776-3	77774-8
72797-4	61030-3	58361-7
73687-6	58365-8	89305-7
79238-2	94112-0	3508-9
72798-2	58364-1	16250-3
72793-3	19328-4	70206-8
73686-8	16348-5	3507-1
79242-4	61036-0	16197-6
72794-1	19326-8	13641-6
79232-5	19325-0	19411-8
79233-3	19330-0	19414-2
50594-1	19329-2	19413-4
3394-4	94115-3	51739-1
16226-3	58363-3	58391-4
70146-6	60677-2	89310-7
3393-6	49876-6	19449-8
14315-6	94105-4	19448-0
8192-7	86605-3	14066-5
8193-5	3313-4	16211-5
14314-9	59615-5	19446-4
43984-4	9351-8	19451-4
43985-1	16203-2	19450-6
19065-2	94116-1	51955-3
19358-1	78781-2	64131-6
19357-3	86224-3	51448-9
13479-1	42235-2	93465-3

Appendix Table 3. Excel Table of LOINC codes for Opioid, Benzodiazepine and Schedule I UDT (double-click)

Appendix Table 4. CPT/HCPCS and LOINC Urine Drug Test Match rates

		2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Total
(1)	(a) Total ^a	2,498,414	3,040,025	4,016,981	2,407,000	2,487,679	2,525,005	2,567,906	19,543,010
Denominator (UDT CPTs	(b) Independent Labs ^b	1,754,510	2,055,384	2,644,958	1,043,290	1,061,640	1,088,403	933,146	10,581,331
from medical claims)	(c) Total consolidated ^c	1,336,615	1,487,391	2,163,096	978,327	1,004,843	1,033,852	904,735	8,908,859
	(a) Total LOINC records	3,063,782	2,768,202	2,553,245	3,417,170	4,637,687	6,326,616	5,590,132	28,356,834
(2) Numerator (UDT	(b) Total consolidated ^d	406,419	417,475	512,677	721,650	909,715	1,099,469	1,107,920	5,175,325
lab claims)	(c) Matched ^e	261,043	223,509	216,599	135,087	172,396	198,332	148,502	1,355,468
	(d) Unmatched ^f	145,376	193,966	296,078	586,563	737,319	901,137	959,418	3,819,857
Match Rate	2c/1c	19.53%	15.03%	10.01%	13.81%	17.16%	19.18%	16.41%	15.21%

^a All records that included CPT/HCPC codes related to UDT for schedule I drugs, opioids or benzodiazepines.

^b CDM only includes lab results from independent laboratories, therefore tests (CPT/ HCPCS) codes were limited to those from independent labs.

^c Independent lab records were consolidated by person, date and CPT/HCPCS code.

^d Because a single CPT could be associated with many LOINCs (due to drug panels) the lab records were consolidated based on person, date, and test type (opioid, benzo, schedule 1) prior to matching.

^e Indicators for schedule I drug, opioid or benzodiazepine were assigned to CPT/HCPCS codes and LOINCs. Distinct patient records that had both a valid CPT/HCPCS code and LOINC on the same drug test date in each respective category were considered a match.

^f Although few LOINCs had a missing CPT (<1%) in each drug category, a large portion of LOINCs included in the cohorts (54.6% of schedule I UDT, 64.9% of benzodiazepine UDT, 67.5% of opioid UDT) were associated with unexpected CPT codes. These included invalid CPT codes such as '99999' or '1111', valid CPT codes that were broad (82540 "chemistry procedure"), or non-standard CPT values that may be laboratory-specific, such as "OPI_2" for opioids, or "BZD_2" for benzodiazepines, which led to a non-match.

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	Total
Total UDT LOINC records	3,063,782	2,768,202	2,553,245	3,417,170	4,637,687	6,326,616	5,590,132	28,356,834
Schedule 1 UDT Records	619,922	534,612	485,253	719,004	943,440	1,259,896	1,202,946	5,765,073
UDT records with results ^a	283,165	264,101	290,914	515,136	737,175	926,996	866,352	3,883,839
UDT consolidated ^b	83,622	83,631	90,488	137,661	160,656	194,529	195,262	945,849
Selected UDT ^c	62,754	60,459	66,431	106,340	135,171	162,596	162,507	756,258
Opioid UDT total LOINC	1,680,332	1,533,339	1,447,865	1,937,942	2,698,663	3,581,014	3,082,370	15,961,525
UDT records with results ^a	932,923	857,050	762,666	1,414,382	2,215,909	2,865,811	2,655,119	11,703,860
UDT consolidated ^b	87,286	88,414	104,940	150,897	183,403	223,489	220,270	1,058,699
Benzo UDT total LOINC	763,528	700,251	620,127	760,224	995,584	1,485,706	1,304,816	6,630,236
UDT records with results ^a	403,919	379,144	307,581	515,683	773,972	1,156,376	1,096,984	4,633,659
UDT consolidated ^b	81,560	81,242	89,981	134,919	162,305	199,097	202,266	951,370
Concurrent UDT (same day)								
UDT consolidated ^b	81,101	80,705	88,973	133,197	160,257	195,959	198,935	939,127
Select UDT ^c	60,992	58,778	65,712	103,056	133,984	161,866	162,284	746,672
Concurrent Use Positive	11,320	9,919	10,569	16,004	21,244	22,942	18,537	110,535
Concurrent UDT (3 days)								
UDT consolidated ^b	93,027	94,943	102,256	147,029	173,709	214,257	219,614	1,044,835
Select UDT ^c	60,992	58,781	65,717	103,068	134,079	161,997	162,441	747,075

Appendix Table 5. Cohort Flowchart for Selection of UDTs for Joinpoint Regression Analysis

Concurrent Use Positive	11,325	9,924	10,575	16,019	21,307	23,020	18,596	110,766
Non-prescribed Use								
Positive opioid UDT	45,468	42,619	52,656	80,616	109,377	133,090	123,376	587,202
180-day eligibility prior to opioid UDT	38,811	36,170	43,194	65,186	91,065	113,219	105,118	492,763
Positive benzo UDT	18,025	16,653	17,914	26,267	33,543	38,563	33,809	184,774
180-day eligibility prior to benzo UDT	15,353	14,034	14,422	21,015	27,704	32,760	28,676	153,964
Select UDT ^d	35,027	32,395	38,923	59,280	84,373	104,924	97,601	452,523
Any misuses	26,573	24,330	28,580	42,000	56,377	62,688	58,068	298,616
Benzodiazepine misuse only	5,425	5,358	5,813	8,818	10,681	11,979	9,262	57,336
Opioid misuse only	16,184	14,619	18,310	26,942	37,992	43,794	43,349	201,190
Both misused	4,964	4,353	4,457	6,240	7,704	6,915	5,457	40,090
No misuse	8,454	8,065	10,343	17,280	27,996	42,236	39,533	153,907
Select UDT ^e	35,015	32,380	38,910	59,273	84,351	104,902	97,589	452,420
All misuse	26,169	23,980	28,265	41,576	55,787	61,771	57,388	294,936
Benzodiazepine misuse only	5,484	5,394	5,877	8,863	10,751	11,949	9,248	57,566
Opioid misuse only	15,880	14,341	18,045	26,585	37,505	43,063	42,765	198,184
Both misused	4,805	4,245	4,343	6,128	7,531	6,759	5,375	33,811
No misuse	8,846	8,400	10,645	17,697	28,564	43,131	40,201	157,484

142

^a Of the 20,221,358 UDT records with interpretable results, 3,883,839 (19.2%) were schedule I UDT, 4,633,659 (22.9%) were benzodiazepine UDT, and 11,703,860 (57.9%) were opioid UDT.

^b Tests were consolidated by UDT date; whether a patient received a panel for multiple drugs within a drug use category (schedule I, benzo, opioid), or a single test for any of these, it was counted once. The median (interquartile range) for number of UDT per person, per date increased from 3(2,4) in 2013 to 4(2,6) in 2019 in the schedule I category, decreased from 11 (4,16) in 2013 to 8(3,24) in 2019 among opioid UDT, and decreased from 6(1,8) to 1(1,12) in benzodiazepine UDT. Decreases in median tests among opioids and benzodiazepines occurred in 2015-2019, where LOINCs for panels such as "benzodiazepine panel" (LOINC 3390-2), or "opiates panel" (LOINC 3879-4) were more frequently use, than individual LOINCs for multiple drugs.

^c Any positive UDT test in a quarter was selected. For those without positive results, the first UDT per person, per quarter was selected.

^d Any misuse for an opioid or benzodiazepine in a quarter was selected, which may overestimate misuse. For those without any misuse, the first positive UDT per person, per quarter was selected. In the case of multiple tests where some indicated misuse and others indicated compliance, any misuse in a quarter was chosen which overestimated the rate of misuse.

^e Misuse was counted if all opioid and/or benzodiazepine use in a quarter was misuse, which underestimated the rate of misuse.

	Non-j	prescribed D	rug Use, n %		
Concurrent Use, n %		No	Yes	Total	Р
	No	17,336	19,609	36,945	<.0001
		46.92%	53.08%		
	Yes	3,188	7,581	10,769	
		29.60%	70.40%		
	Total	20,524	27,190	47,714	
	Scł	nedule-I Drug	g Use, n %	I	
Concurrent Use, n %		No	Yes	Total	Р
	No	32,984	3,961	36,945	<.0001
		89.28%	10.72%		
	Yes	9,156	1,613	10,769	
		85.02%	14.98%		
	Total	42,140	5,574	47,714	
	Scł	nedule-I Drug	g Use, n %	1	
Non-prescribed Use, n %		No	Yes	Total	Р
	No	18,243	2,281	20,524	0.0008
		88.89%	11.11%		
	Yes	2,3897	3,293	27,190	
		87.89%	12.11%		
	Total	42,140	5,574	47,714	

Appendix Table 6. Associations between concurrent use, illicit use, and on-prescribed use

Abbreviations: P: p-value for chi square test

Outcome	CPT/ICD Codes	
Office visit	For established patients	99211, 99212, 99213, 99214, 99215
Non-drug treatment ^{52,138}	Acupuncture	97810, 97811, 97780, 97813, 97814, 20560, 20561
	Radiofrequency ablation	64633, 64634, 64635, 64636
	Physical/occupational therapy	97161, 97162, 97163, 97001, 97750, 97535, 97530, 97112, 97110, 97760, 97116, 97014, G0283, G0283, 97018, 97113, 97165, 97166, 97167, 97546, 97545, 97542, 97537, 97535, 97633, 97150, 97139, 97129, 97113, 97112, 97110, 97150, 97039, 97012, 97016, 97022, 97028, G0281, G0329
	Massage Therapy	97124, 97140, 97012, 97036
	Cognitive behavioral therapy	96152, 96150, 97532
	Other non-drug therapy ^a	97026,97024, 97032, 97035, E0762, 97010, 97033, 97034, E0935, E0936
	Referral to rehab program	90792, 90791, 99408, 99409, G0397, H0050, G0396

Appendix Table 7. CPT or ICD-10 codes used to define outcomes

^aOther therapies include low-level laser therapy, microwave diathermy, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, phonopheroesis/ ultrasound, cryotherapy/superficial heat, iontophoresis, contrast bath, continuous passive motion exercise.
Type of Provider/Specialty ^a	n	%
Advanced Practice Registered Nurses	710	5.68%
Dentist	6	0.05%
Emergency Medicine	83	0.66%
Family Medicine	3,091	24.74%
General Surgery	104	0.83%
Internal Medicine	2,956	23.66%
Neurology	646	5.17%
Orthopedic Surgery	376	3.01%
Pain Management	1,374	11.00%
Physical Medicine & Rehab	529	4.23%
Physician Assistant	249	1.99%
Surgical Subspecialties	88	0.70%
Other	1,810	14.49%
Unknown	471	3.77%
Total	12,493	100%

Appendix Table 8. Provider Specialties Associated with Office visits, post-UDT

^a Provider specialties were grouped as in Romman et al.¹³⁹

Opioid MME change	Ν	%	Benzodiazepine DME change	n	%
No Opioid ^a	1,611	12.90	No Benzodiazepine ^a	2,754	22.04
No change in MME	6,689	53.54	No change in DME	7,218	57.78
Increase MME	1,661	13.29	Increase DME	812	6.50
Decreased ≤20% MME	350	2.80	Decreased ≤20% DME	52	0.41
Decreased >20% MME	1,746	13.98	Decreased >20% DME	914	7.32
Discontinued Opioid	436	3.49	Discontinued Benzo	743	5.95

146

Appendix Table 9. MME and DME changes between pre- and post-UDT period

^a Refers to the 90-day period before the index UDT.

Curriculum Vitae

Shaden Taha

PRESENT POSITION:

Research Associate III Department of Nutrition and Metabolism School of Health Professions University of Texas Medical Branch

CONTACT INFORMATION:

301 University Boulevard Galveston, TX 77555-1144 P: 281-915-8532 E: <u>sataha@utmb.edu</u>

EDUCATION:

2019-Present	PhD Student, Clinical Science University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston Galveston, Texas
2016	MSc - Clinical Laboratory Science Birzeit University, West Bank
2008	BSc - Biology University of Houston Houston, Texas

CERTIFICATIONS:

2018	Medical Laboratory Scientist
	American Society for Clinical Pathology
	Certification #10394

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

Academic

01/2020-11/2020	Medical Laboratory Scientist Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences School of Health Professions University of Texas Medical Branch
05/2017-12/2019	Lab Technical Assistant I Department of Clinical Laboratory Sciences School of Health Professions University of Texas Medical Branch
11/2015-09/2016	Research Tech Clinical Laboratory Sciences School of Health Professions Birzeit University

147

Clinical

09/2013-09/2016 Medical Laboratory Scientist General Lab and Emergency Palestine Medical Complex Ramallah, West Bank

ARTICLES IN PEER-REVIEWED JOURNALS:

Low testosterone and high-cholesterol levels in relation to all-cause, cardiovascular disease-, and cancer-mortality in White, Black, and Hispanic men: NHANES 1988-2015

Lopez, D., Lee, WC., Orellana Garcia, C., Downer, P., **Taha, S.,** Villasante-Terranos, A., Khera, M., Tsilidis, K., Lazo, M., Peek, K., Canfield, S. Hormones – International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism March 2022

High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein is Not Independently Associated with Self-Reported Infertility in National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2015-2018 data

Al-Lami, R., **Taha, S.,** Jalloul, R., Taylor, H. Fertility and Sterility Reports December, 2021

Obesity in Infertile Women, a Cross-Sectional Study of the United States Using NSFG 2011-2019

Al-Lami, R., **Taha, S.,** Jalloul, R., Salih, S. Reproductive Sciences November, 2021

Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-Term Opioid Users, 2011-2018 Taha, S., Westra, J., Raji, M., Kuo, YF. American Journal of Preventive Medicine December, 2020

MANUSCRIPTS SUBMITTED FOR PUBLICATION

Characteristics of Women with Self-Reported Endometriosis in The United States: National Survey of Family Growth, 2011-2019. Al-Lami, R., **Taha, S.,** Jalloul, R., Taylor, H. June 2021

Cardiovascular diseases in relation to testosterone replacement therapy and statins in prostate cancer survivors

Lopez, D., Hyunkyoung, K., Polychronopoulou, E., Taha, S., Tsilidis, K., Villasante-

148

148

Tezanos, A., Peek, K., Gilani, S., Markides, K., Kuo, YF., Canfield, S. August 2021 **The Association between Mental Wellbeing and School Attendance among of Palestinian Adolescent Refugees in UNRWA schools** Nathani, K., Lee, WC., **Taha, S.,** Seita, A., Serag, H. Journal of Child and Adolescent Trauma August, 2021

ABSTRACTS:

Mental Well-Being and School Attendance of Palestinian UNWRA Students

Nathani, K., Lee, W.-C., **Taha, S.,** Serag, H., Turki, Y., Seita, A. Conference on Migration and Health, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX March 24, 2021

The Role of Race/Ethnicity and Body Fatness in the Association of Sex Steroid Hormones with Cardiovascular Disease: NHANES 1988-1991, 1999-2004, 2011-2016

Taha, S., Lopez, D., Gutierrez, S. Society for Epidemiologic Research, San Diego, CA Accepted April 15, 2021

Assessment of Diversity and Inclusion at the University of Texas Medical Branch's Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

Nunez, L., **Taha, S.,** Stalnaker, L., Peek, K. Public Health Symposium, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX (virtual) April 7, 2021

Trends in Urine Drug Testing Among Long-Term Opioid Users, 2011-2018

Taha, S., Westra, J., Raji, M., Kuo, YF. Public Health Symposium, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX (virtual) April 7, 2021

Predicting Outcome of the Specialist of Blood Banking Certification Examination By Academic Performance

Riddle, D., **Taha, S.,** Walker, L. Transfusion: Annual AABB Meeting September, 2020

OTHER:

Master Thesis

Screening for Y-Chromosome Microdeletions in Azoospermic Palestinian Males Birzeit University, Birzeit, West Bank 2016

INVITED PRESENTATIONS—OFF CAMPUS:

03/2021	Is it Worth it? Dangers of Drunk and Drugged Driving College of the Mainland Texas City, TX 1 hour presentation to undergraduate students
10/2019	A Career in Medical Laboratory Science University of Houston, Houston, TX 1 hour presentation to undergraduate biotechnology students

INVITED LECTURES—ON CAMPUS:

10/2020	Introduction to Literature Searches and Reference Managers
	University of Texas Medical Branch,
	1 hour presentation to undergraduate and graduate students

COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES:

09/2021-present	Graduate Student Organization GSBS Curriculum Committee Act as a representative for students from the PMPH department, to develop and implement a curriculum most effective for students.
10/2020-2/2020	UTMB Diversity & Inclusion Symposium Planning Committee Recruit guest speakers, analyze survey results, organize symposium, create flyers and collect relevant student abstracts.
07/2019-09/2020	UTMB Chemical Safety Committee Committee Member, ensure CLS lab meets chemical safety standards set by UTMB.

TEACHING ASSISTANT RESPONSIBILITIES AT UTMB:

FALL 2019	CLLS 3405/5405 Intermediate Pathogenic Microbiology Lab Contact Hours: 10
SPRING 2019	CLLS3307 Molecular Biology and 6307 4090 Molecular Diagnostics Lab Contact Hours: 34
FALL 2018	CLLS 3405/5405 Intermediate Pathogenic Microbiology Lab Contact Hours: 48

	CLLS 3200_5200 Introduction to Laboratory Operations Lab Contact Hours: 20
SPRING 2018	CLLS3307 Molecular Biology and 6307 4090 Molecular Diagnostics Lab Contact Hours: 34
FALL 2017	CLLS 3405/5405 Intermediate Pathogenic Microbiology Lab Contact Hours: 15
	CLLS 3200_5200 Introduction to Laboratory Operations Lab Contact Hours: 15

MEMBERSHIP IN SCIENTIFIC SOCIETIES/PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATIONS:

2017-2019	American Society	for Clinical Laborate	ry Sciences	(ASCLS)
-----------	------------------	-----------------------	-------------	---------

ACADEMIC SERVICES—PEER REVIEW OF MANUSCRIPTS

- 2022 Pain Medicine
- 2021 Texas Public Health Journal

HONORS AND AWARDS:

2021-2022	Charles F. Otis Clinical Research Award
2021-2022	Herzog Scholar Award, Herzog Foundation Fund UTMB
2020/2021	Eleanor Dupree Otis Biostatistics Award
2020-2021	Herzog Scholar Award, Herzog Foundation Fund UTMB
2019-2020	Herzog Scholar Award, Herzog Foundation Fund UTMB